"Application of Whole-Cell Biosensor for the impact of crude oil exploration on the Environment of the Niger Delta".



Ejenavi, Odafe Erhovwo MSc, Petroleum Geology, University of Benin, Nigeria

This dissertation is submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

April, 2017

Lancaster Environment Centre

Dedication

This work is dedicated to God the Father, God the Son and God the Holy Spirit

"When men think God comes late, He comes BIG"...... Odafe

Declaration

This thesis has not been submitted in support of an application for another degree at this or any other university. It is the result of my own work and includes nothing that is the outcome of work done in collaboration except where specifically indicated.

Ejenavi, Odafe Erhovwo

Excerpts of this thesis have been published in the following conference manuscripts and academic publications.

- Jia, J., Li, H., Zong, S., Jiang, B., Li, G., Ejenavi, O., Zhu, J. and Zhang, D.*, (2016) Magnet bioreporter device for ecological toxicity assessment on heavy metal contamination of coal cinder sites, Sensor and Actuators B: Chemical, 222, 290-299.
- II. Wang, X., Zhao, X., Li, H., Jia, J., Liu, Y., Ejenavi, O.E., Ding, A., Sun, Y. and Zhang, D.*, (2016) Separating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude-oil-contaminated sites via magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation, Research in Microbiology, 167 (9), 731-744.
- III. Ejenavi, O. and Zhang, D.*, (2017) Evaluating oil spill contamination in the Niger Delta by magnetic whole-cell bioreporter assay, Journal of Environment Health Science and Engineering, accepted.
- IV. Ejenavi, O. and Zhang, D.*, Crude oil contamination and management in the Niger Delta, Environmental Science & Technology, under review.
- V. Ejenavi, O. E., Li, H, and Zhang, D. *, Simultaneous and online detection of crude oil contamination via biological-phase microextraction and biosensing (BPME-BS) device, Biosensors and Bioelectronics, in preparation

Statement of Authorship

Statement of my contributions made to chapters 3, 4, 5 and 6 are highlighted below:

Chapter 3

All authors authorised the publication of chapter 3 and have reviewed the final version. My role was to develop and validate the magnetic bioreporter device and measurement of sample toxicity by the device for optimal performance, to achieve the best response. I was also involved in the conceptualization, experimental design, execution, data analysis, and writing, with exception of site visits and risk analysis (section 3.2.6 and 3.3.2), which were the work of co-authors (Prof. Jia from China University of Mining & Technology, Beijing) as he helped in ICP-MS analysis of heavy metal components in the soil samples. My percentage contribution is 20 % of the entire work.

Chapter 4

I Ejenavi, Odafe Erhovwo in my capacity as the first author of the accepted paper submitted in the journal of Environmental Science and Engineering carried out the site visits for soil and water samples collection, experimental process, execution, data analysis, writing and intellectual contribution. This constitutes 85% of the work involved with the accepted publication.

Chapter 5

I Ejenavi, Odafe Erhovwo in my capacity as the first author of the paper in chapter 5 for preparation in the journal Biosensors and Bioelectronics, undertook the experimental design, execution, data analysis, writing and intellectual contribution. This constitutes 90% of the work involvement with the view to publish it in the near future. It is important since it is one of my key novelties of my project work.

Chapter 6

I Ejenavi, Odafe Erhovwo contributed to the paper in chapter 6 published in Research in Microbiology, 167 (9), 731-744. I carried out the site visits for soil and water samples collection in Nigeria, involved in the conception, design, execution, analysis and writing. My involvement constitutes 30% of the total work published.

Abstract

The discovery of crude oil in exportable quantities in Nigeria was greeted with overwhelming ovation and high expectations in terms of the wealth generation possibilities and economic growth for the region. However, 5 decades onwards, the Niger-delta terrain and its people have become disenchanted with the ills and aggravated impacts of crude-oil discovery as a result of unsustainable patterns of its exploitation in Nigeria. The inundation of oil spills, accompanying ecological disasters and human health risks served to undermine the benefits of huge petroleum resource revenues. Nigeria has recorded over 3,324,269.28 million barrels of crude oil spills from 12,854 spills incidents as captured since 1976-2011 and the polluting process persists as a result of exploration, drilling and production activities as well as flagrant disregard for best health, safety, security and Environmental practices (HSSE). Even though these spills have been blamed on various factors, the fact remains that the people and environment of the Niger-delta desperately need state, public and private intervention to stem the menace of environmental pollution engulfing the region. This research therefore proposes urgent rehabilitative measures expedited by the Bio-reporter approach, to enhance rapid detection, toxicity and management of spills impacted sites. The Bio-reporter method and its success is hinged on its advantages over the conventional method entailing rapid detection of genotoxicity, easy operations, inexpensiveness and more importantly it provides information about bioavailability. It is thus a complementary tool to the chemical analysis methods. The novel magnetic bioreporter device developed with the magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) functionalization and also the device on Simultaneous and online detection of crude oil contamination via biological- phase micro-extraction and bios-sensing (BPME-BS) in the Niger Delta environment have been applied with significantly positive results. Consequently, the novel magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) technology was tested on Nigerian soils for the separation and characterization of functional alkane degraders from crude-oilcontaminated sites. Essentially, the new technique's qualities of cost-effectiveness and zero risk of species invasion on the environment has become more apparent from extensive experimentation.

Acknowledgements

I am most grateful to my sponsor, The Petroleum Trust Development Fund (PTDF) for the sponsorship which has made this research a reality.

Moreover, I am immensely grateful to my lovely wife, Onome Lisa (Sweety-pie) for all of the wonderful support and contributions in making this project a success. I also thank my son David for his many insightful ideas, you make me proud. Thank you my lovely daughter and princess, Sonia. You both are such delightful gifts from God. Thanks for being on your best behavior throughout the course of my research and even while at Moorside Primary School Lancaster.

Furthermore, I wish to express my unreserved gratitude and appreciation to my supervisors, the notable Dr. Dayi Zhang for his painstaking efforts at ensuring that my research work is up to the required standards. I also acknowledge the very eminent Prof. Kirk T. Semple for his useful contributions towards the research success. I also express my warmest thanks to Andy Harrod and indeed all relevant LEC staff for the overwhelming support and patient assistance.

Similarly, I acknowledge my late dad, Rev. Ejovi Onoberhie Ejenavi who always believed in me, encouraged me to be better, to dream bigger, visualize larger horizons and grow beyond my local origins. Moreover, I am deeply thankful to my spiritual fathers: Pastor Ayo Oritsejafor- Past President Christian Association of Nigeria for his fatherly blessings and Bishop David Abioye and his amazing wife Pst. Mrs. Mary Abioye of the Living Faith Church Worldwide for their outpouring of grace and blessings. I do extend my appreciation to the first Vice Chancellor of the Covenant University, Ota-Lagos- Professor Jonathan Aremu for his earnest encouragement and goodwill.

Indeed, I am unreservedly grateful to Dr. Oluwole Oluleye (Past Executive Secretary of the PPPRA and PTDF). He has been a much admired mentor and pillar in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. I am also profoundly thankful for his amazing gesture of kindness that triggered the attainment of my dream. Words are also inadequate to express my appreciation towards Chief (Mrs) Patty Oluleye – a mother indeed. My very warm regards and love to Mrs Sotonye Eunice Iyoyo- The Immediate Past Executive Secretary of PPPRA for the godly role you play towards achieving my dream.

Moreover, I wish to thank my beloved and greatly appreciated brother–in-law, Dr. Odigie Charles and Barr. (Mrs) Andrea Elohor Akhuemokhan for their incredible support and love during my Research. I also say thank you to our dearest mum, Mrs. Helen Otu for being such a formidable pillar of prayer and moral support, for always being there to help with the kids and for being such a fantastic grandma. Thanks also to Arc. Ruky Otu for the numerous assistance and driving trips to and from the airport all through the duration of my PhD. I also definitely appreciate all my siblings and the entire family of Rev. E.O. Ejovi of Eku- Igun, Delta State.

Furthermore, I extend my heartfelt gratitude and sincerest thanks to the families of the highly esteemed Evang. Dr. Dom Aniemeke (PPPRA), Alhj. Ahmed Galadima Aminu (PTDF), the entire OSS team of the PTDF, Dr. & Mrs. Joshua Atah, (NUC) Dr. & Mrs. Steve Lazi, (PPPRA), Mr. & Mrs. Allison Tekena, (GM PEF), Mr. & Mrs. Peter Otu, Pst. & Dcns. Chuks Josiah. I am also sincerely and incredibly grateful to Mr. & Mrs. O. Akpomudjere of the DPR Nigeria for the provision of valuable resource material and reliable data. I also thank Dr. Ekeu-Wei, Iguniwari, Dr. Yakubu Tsado and indeed Dr.& Dr. (Mrs) Uche Okere, for their unrelenting love and support.

Finally, all the glory be ascribed to my closest friend, Counselor and greatest teacher who gave me vision in the right direction. He began this dream and He faithfully perfected and completed it. Lord your grace, mercy, Divine guidance has brought me thus far. I am most grateful Jesus (I Cor. 15:10).

| Dedicatio | 0 n | i |
|------------|--|------|
| Declarati | ion | iii |
| Statemer | nt of Authorship | iv |
| Abstract | | v |
| Acknowl | edgements | vi |
| Table of | Contents | viii |
| List of Fi | igures | xiv |
| List of Ta | able | xvii |
| 1. Intr | roduction | 1 |
| 1.1. | Background | 2 |
| 1.2 | Statement of problem | 2 |
| 1.3. | Data challenges | |
| 1.4. | Study aims and objectives | 4 |
| 1.5. | Structure of thesis | 7 |
| Referenc | e | 12 |
| 2. Cru | de oil contamination and management in the Niger Delta | 13 |
| Abbrevia | ations | 15 |
| 2.1 Intr | roduction | 16 |
| 2.1.1 | Crude oil and oil spill | 16 |
| 2.1.2 | Impacts of oil spill | 16 |
| 2.1.3 | Research on oil spill in Nigeria | 20 |
| 2.2 Cru | de oil exploration history in Nigeria | |

Table of Contents

| 2.2.1 | Nigerian crude oil resources | 21 |
|---------|--|----|
| 2.2.2 | Oil exploration activities | 22 |
| 2.3 Cru | de oil spill during exploration and contamination in Niger Delta | 25 |
| 23.1 | Oil spill during exploration activities | 30 |
| 2.3.2 | Oil spill during distribution and refinery process | 31 |
| 2.4 The | e ecological and health and impacts of crude oil production in Nigeria | 33 |
| 2.4.1 | Environmental threats | 33 |
| 2.4.2 | Human health | 35 |
| 2.4.3 | Food Security | 36 |
| 2.5 Pol | icies and management regimes in the Nigerian oil industry | 37 |
| 2.5.1 | DPR | 45 |
| 2.5.2 | FME | 46 |
| 2.5.3 | NOSDRA | 47 |
| 2.5.4 | NESREA (formerly FEPA) | 48 |
| 2.5.5 | FRIN, NPS and EHORECON | 51 |
| 2.6 Cha | allenges and perspectives | 51 |
| 2.6.1 | Policies and regulations | 51 |
| 2.6.2 | Oil spill control and monitoring | 54 |
| 2.6.3 | Petroleum contaminated land clean up | 57 |
| 2.6.4 | Sustainable development | 62 |
| 2.7 Rev | iew on bioreporters (Biosensors) | 64 |
| 2.7.1 | Introduction | 64 |
| 2.7.2 | Biosensors Construction and Development | 67 |
| 2.7.3 | Various Types of Biosensors | 68 |
| 2.7. | 3.1 Enzymes –based biosensors | 68 |
| 2.7. | 3.2 Antibody – based biosensors (immunosensors) | 69 |

| | 2.7.3 | 3.3 DNA- based Biosensors | 59 |
|-----------|----------------|---|----------------|
| 2.8 | Con | clusion | 70 |
| Ack | nowl | edgment | 71 |
| Ref | erenc | es | 72 |
| 3 cind | Mag ler sit | gnet bioreporter device for ecological toxicity assessment on heavy metal contamination of co es | al 37 |
| 3.1 | Intr | oduction 8 | 39 |
| 3.2 | Mat | erial and methods |) 0 |
| 3 | .2.1 | Bioreporter strain and incubation | 90 |
| 3 | .2.2 | Direct toxicity measurement on soil samples | 91 |
| 3 | .2.3 | Magnetic nanoparticles synthesis and functionalization | 91 |
| 3 | .2.4 | Magnet bioreporter device and operation | 92 |
| 3 | .2.5 | Toxicity model for heavy metal contaminated soils | 94 |
| 3 | .2.6 | Sites description | 95 |
| 3 | .2.7 | Chemical analysis | 95 |
| 3 | .2.8 | Data analysis | 98 |
| 3.3 | Rest | ults and discussions | 98 |
| 3 | .3.1 | Higher sensitivity and reproducibility of magnet bioreporter device | 98 |
| 3 | .3.2 | Heavy metal contamination profiles in soils |)7 |
| 3 | .3.3 | Ecological risk profiles of heavy metal contaminated soils10 | <u>)</u> 9 |
| 3 | .3.4 | Correlation between soil heavy metal profiles and ecological risk1 | 14 |
| 3.4 | Con | clusion11 | 16 |
| Ack | nowl | edgement11 | 17 |
| Ref | erenc | e11 | 18 |

| 4 | Eva | luating oil spill contamination in the niger delta by magnetic whole-cell bioreporter assay124 |
|----------|--------------|---|
| Abs | stract | |
| Abl | brevia | tions126 |
| 4.1. | Intro | duction127 |
| 4.2 | Mate | rials and Methods128 |
| 4 | .2.1 | Crude oil contaminated sites |
| 4 | .2.2 | Chemical analysis |
| 4 | 1.2.3 | Bioreporter strain and cultivation |
| 4 | .2.4 | Magnetic bioreporter device measurement129 |
| 4 | .2.5 | Data analysis |
| 4.3 | Res | ults and Discussion130 |
| 4 | .3.1 | Crude oil spill monitoring and assessment |
| 4 | .3.2 | Ecological and health impacts of oil spills135 |
| 4.4 | Con | clusion136 |
| Сог | npeti | ng interests136 |
| Ack | knowl | edgment136 |
| Ref | erenc | es137 |
| 5 and | Sim biose | ultaneous and online detection of crude oil contamination via biological-phase microextraction ensing (BPME-BS) device |
| 5.1 | Intr | oduction142 |
| 5.2 | Met | hods144 |
| 5 | 5.2.1 | Bioreporter strains and cultivation |
| 5 | .2.2 | BPMS-BS device assembly144 |
| 5 | 5.2.3 | BPMS-BS device deployment and detection145 |

| | 5.2.4 | Impacts of environmental variants on BPME-BS performance | |
|-----------------------|---|--|--|
| | 5.2.5 | Chemical analysis | |
| | 5.2.6 | Data analysis | |
| 5.3 | 8 Res | ults and Discussions | 148 |
| | 5.3.1 | Performance of alkane bioreporter immobilization | |
| | 5.3.2 | Limit of detection and quantitative response of BPME-BS device | |
| | 5.3.3 | Alkane enrichment factor and limit of detection | |
| | 5.3.4 | High tolerance to environmental variants | |
| | 5.3.5 | Simultaneous detection of alkanes | |
| 5.4 | Con | clusion | |
| D. | e | | 450 |
| ке | ierenc | е | 159 |
| | | | |
| 6 | Sep | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor | ntaminated-sites via |
| 6 ma | Sepagnetic | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) | ntaminated-sites via 163 |
| 6 ma 6.1 | Sepa ngnetic Intr | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction | ntaminated-sites via 163 165 |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sepangnetic Intr 2 Mat | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction | ntaminated-sites via 163 165 168 |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sep agnetic Intr 2 Mat 6.2.1 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction erials and methods Site and sample collection | 163 htaminated-sites via 163 http://www.ico.org/165 168 http://www.ico.org/168 |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sep ngnetic Intr Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction erials and methods Site and sample collection MNPs synthesis and targeting soil functionalization | ntaminated-sites via 163 165 |
| 6 ma 6.1 | Sep. ngnetic Intr 2 Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction erials and methods Site and sample collection MNPs synthesis and targeting soil functionalization Alkane biodegradation treatments | ntaminated-sites via |
| 6 ma 6.1 | Sep ngnetic Intr 2 Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction erials and methods Site and sample collection MNPs synthesis and targeting soil functionalization Alkane biodegradation treatments DNA extraction, amplification and sequencing | ntaminated-sites via |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sep. ngnetic I Intr 2 Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction erials and methods Site and sample collection MNPs synthesis and targeting soil functionalization Alkane biodegradation treatments. DNA extraction, amplification and sequencing Community substrate utilization analyses. | ntaminated-sites via |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sep. agnetic Intr 2 Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction | ntaminated-sites via |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sep. agnetic Intr 2 Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6 6.2.6 6.2.7 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) | ntaminated-sites via |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sep. agnetic Intr Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6 6.2.7 8 Res | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction | ntaminated-sites via |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sep. agnetic Intr 2 Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6 6.2.7 8 Res 6.3.1 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) oduction erials and methods Site and sample collection MNPs synthesis and targeting soil functionalization MNPs synthesis and targeting soil functionalization Alkane biodegradation treatments. DNA extraction, amplification and sequencing community substrate utilization analyses n-alkane chemical analyses Statistical analysis. | ntaminated-sites via |
| 6 ma 6.1 6.2 | Sep. agnetic I Intr 2 Mat 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 6.2.4 6.2.5 6.2.6 6.2.7 6.2.7 8 Res 6.3.1 6.3.2 | arating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil cor nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) | ntaminated-sites via |

| 6. | .3.3 | Microbial community responsible for n-alkane degradation | |
|------|--------|---|-----|
| 6. | .3.4 | Dynamics of 16S rRNA and n-alkane monooxygenase genes | |
| 6. | .3.5 | Phenotype analysis of isolated n-alkane degradation microbes | |
| Con | flict | of interest | 194 |
| Ack | nowl | edgment | 194 |
| Ref | erenc | e | 195 |
| 7 | Sug | gestions and recommendations on crude oil spill and management in Niger Delta | 206 |
| 7.1 | Soci | ial Development Challenges and Improvement Options for the Niger Delta | 207 |
| 7.2 | Tec | hnical improvement | 208 |
| 7. | .2.1 | Crude oil contamination monitoring | 208 |
| 7. | .2.2 | In situ remediating crude oil contamination | 209 |
| 7.3 | Reg | ime Implementation and Solutions to Social Concerns | 210 |
| 7. | .3.1 | New PIB framework for effective management | 210 |
| 7. | .3.2 | Investment in Efficient Technological Innovation and Social Concern | 212 |
| 7. | .3.3 | Provision of Quality Education, Health Care and Public Awareness | 214 |
| R | lefere | nce | 218 |
| 8 | Con | clusion | 223 |
| Refe | erenc | e | 227 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1. 1-A Research Structure |
|---|
| Figure 1. 1-B Map of the Niger Delta region, showing its states of where oil are produced.8 |
| Figure 2. 1Number of exploration wells drilled in the Niger Delta (1951-2014)23 |
| Figure 2. 2 Oil and gas reserves in the Niger Delta (1956-2012). Data are from DPR24 |
| Figure 2. 3 The quantity of spilled oil and number of spill incidents (1976-2011). Data are |
| from the Nigerian Petroleum Development Corporation (NNPC) & DPR29 |
| Figure 2. 4.Niger Delta oil pipelines and oil spill coverage area (NOSDRA, 2016)29 |
| Figure 2. 5.Number and quantity of spilled oil from pipelines breaks (2003-2012). Data are |
| from NNPC/DPR |
| Figure 2. 6 Nigerian governmental structure for petroleum industry and oil spill |
| management |
| Figure 3. 1 Schematic instruction for magnet bioreporter device |
| Figure 3. 2 Location of research area in Yulin and the sampling sites |
| Figure 3. 3. The cell recovery rate (a) and bioluminescent response (b) of whole-cell |
| bioreporter against the incubation time with soils |
| Figure 3. 4 The impacts of pH (a), temperature (b), salt (c) and storage time (d) on magnetic |
| bioreporter's response to artificial chromium contaminated soils. The chromium |
| concentration was 100 mg/kg soil dry weight |
| Figure 3.5 The calibration curve for toxicity assessment on artificial chromium |
| contaminated soils |
| Figure 3. 6 Whole-cell bioreporter growth curve (OD ₆₀₀) against time105 |
| Figure 3. 7. Ecological toxicity assessment of heavy metal contaminated soils in SW-M |
| treatment |
| Figure 3. 8. Ecological toxicity assessment of heavy metal contaminated soils in SW-S |
| treatment |
| Figure 3. 9 Ecological toxicity assessment of heavy metal contaminated soils via magnetic |
| bioreporter device |
| Figure 3. 10. Whole-cell bioreporter growth curve (OD600) against time during soil sample |
| detection113 |
| Figure 3. 11. The correlation between soil heavy metal profiles and ecological risks 114 |

| Figure 3. 12 The correlation between heavy metal pollution load index (PLI) and ecological |
|--|
| risk was not significant (p-value>0.05)116 |
| Figure 4. 1Whole cell bio-reporter application for rapid detection and evaluation of crude oil |
| spill |
| Figure 4. 2 Bioreporters' response to soil and water samples in Nigeria |
| Figure 4. 3. Evaluation of crude oil contamination and toxicity in soil and water samples. |
| |
| Figure 5. 1 Schematic assembly of BPMS-BS device, following four steps as gelatification, |
| immobilization, molding and solidification |
| Figure 5. 2 Static (A) and simultaneous (B) system for detecting alkane concentrations in |
| water samples via BPME-BS device |
| Figure 5. 3. Bioreporter viability under different immobilization temperature |
| Figure 5. 4. Bioluminescent signal dynamic and distribution on BPME-BS device 151 |
| Figure 5. 5 (A) Bioluminescent response dynamics of BPME-BS device exposure to |
| different alkane concentrations. Alkane concentrations ranged from 0 mg/L to 100 mg/L. |
| (B) Quantitative response of BPME-BS device to alkanes |
| Figure 5. 6 The enrichment factor of BPME-BS device towards alkanes of different carbon |
| chain length |
| Figure 5. 7. The response and performance of BPME-BS device under different pH (A), |
| temperature (B) and salinity (C). The response ratio of BPME-BS device after different |
| storage time (D) showed its feasibility as commercial device |
| Figure 5. 8. Simultaneous response of BPMS-BS device to water samples with pulse alkane |
| contamination |
| Figure 6. 1 Soil magnetic-functionalization efficiency against the ratio of soil to MNPs |
| suspension (from 0.066 - 19,500, w/w) |
| Figure 6. 2A. The n-alkane degradation curve in soils functionalized with/without MNPs. |
| CKN (\Box) and CKP (\blacksquare) represent the original soil treatments with/without n-alkane |
| amendment. MNPN (\circ) and MNPP (\bullet) refer to the treatments of MNPs-functionalized |
| soils without/with n-alkane amendment. Change of individual n-alkanes with specific |
| carbon chain length. B. The abundance of each n-alkane (C10 - C24) is normalized as |
| 100% for original mineral oil |

List of Table

| Table 2. 1 Internationally recognized oil spills. 17 |
|--|
| Table 2. 2 Key oil spill disasters in the Niger Delta. 27 |
| Table 2. 3 Spill incidence relating to Production Activities 30 |
| Table 2. 4 Nigerian government structures for petroleum industry and oil spill management. |
| |
| Table 2. 5 Acts and regulations superintended by DPR. 42 |
| Table 2. 6 Categories of oil spill and agencies responsible for operations. 50 |
| Table 2. 7 Acts and regulations superintended by FME |
| Table 3. 1 Microwave program for soil sample digestion. 97 |
| Table 3. 2 Optimal instrumental parameters for ICP-CCT-MS |
| Table 3. 3 Calibration curves and method detection limit (MDL) of As and Se97 |
| Table 3. 4 Analytical characteristics of magnetic ADPWH_recA whole-cell bioreporter. 100 |
| Table 3. 5. Heavy metal contamination in coal/cinder (mg/kg coal or cinder dry weight) and |
| coal cinder contaminated sites (mg/kg soil dry weight)108 |
| Table 4. 1 Crude oil contamination by chemical analysis. 130 |
| Table 4.2 Result from one-way ANOVA analysis of bioluminescence response to soil and |
| water samples Alkane and Toxicity levels |
| Table 6. 1 Primers and amplification programs. 171 |

1. Introduction

The aim of chapter 1 is to present an overview of the overall thesis, and present the background literature, as well as the overall aims and objectives of the thesis.

The specific objectives are:

- The data gap after 2000 on oil exploration and contamination via spill in the Niger Delta
- The government structure and regime on crude oil contamination monitoring management and remediation.
- Technical improvement in crude oil spill monitoring
- Implementation on the government policy and management

1.1.<u>Background</u>

Oil and gas exploratory and production activities have severe consequences on the three media of the ecosystem viz-soil, water and air. Over the past 50 years, the Niger Delta has suffered from debilitating impacts and adverse consequences in terms of the human health, food security and the environmental degradation of the ecosystem. It also directly affected the economy in Nigeria. The report of United Nation emphasized the Ogoni land as one of many spill scenarios. However, the possibility of actual environmental restoration is a conceivable accomplishment in contemporary times. It is now a realistic option for pollution management to consider biotechnical tools during the monitoring and cleaning-up process of deteriorated environment as a result of oil spills, via the analysis of the bioavailability and toxicity of hydrocarbon concentration on sediment and groundwater (Ejenavi and Zhang, 2016). Oil spills is hard to be entirely avoided, but able to be managed to the acceptable extent with sustainable standards. Whole-cell bioreporter has some significant advantages, such as rapid detection of bioavailability and genotoxicity directly over the chemical conventional method. It also proffers a more valid risk assessment practices and analysis in relation to the environment (Zhang et al., 2013). It is therefore currently in use as a complementary tool to the chemical analysis method in crude oil contamination.

1.2 <u>Statement of problem</u>

The rationale for this proposed research is borne out of the paucity of research materials and relevant intellectual literature portraying the current state of environmental degradation and neglect which has indicated an unprecedented increase from year 2000-2013 in the Niger Delta region. A lot of oil pollution incidents have occurred in the Niger Delta, one of the more recent ones include the Bonga field oil spill which occurred in 2011 and accounted for 5500 tonnes of crude oil in the Niger Delta region. There was also the Exxon-Mobil oil spill in 2010 which resulted in the release of about 90,000 – 95,000 tonnes of crude. The gravity of this situation is more appreciable when we consider that the equivalent volume of a tonne of crude oil is approximately 7.5 barrels of crude or 1,165 litres. This research work is thus targeted at capturing the economic importance, exploration, exploitation, deprivation, degradation and excruciating poverty of the people of the region.

The research work seeks to appraise the complex environmental degradation and spillage impact on the people of the Niger Delta as a result of the exploration and exploitation of the crude oil. This research work seeks to offer reasonable suggestions and probable intellectual solutions to the problems generated as a result of the impact of crude oil exploration and exploitation on the environment of the Niger Delta.

The research questions therefore will focus on the following:

- 1. The data gap after 2000 on oil exploration and contamination via spill in the Niger Delta
- 2. The government structure and regime on crude oil contamination monitoring management and remediation.
- 3. Technical improvement in crude oil spill monitoring
- 4. Implementation on the government policy and management

This work would also attempt to trace the start of crude oil exploration in Nigeria. The project further undertakes a critical review of the Oloibiri experience and the years after it. It also gave reasons for the under-development in Nigeria by examining the perennial problems of pollution, migration of aquatic-life, water-related diseases and death. The development of explorative technology in the 19th century, arguably, represents one of the greatest achievements of our century, since it has placed at the disposal of nations an unprecedented range of plastic and dynamic facilities and potentialities that are virtually unlimited. Finding a middle ground between the wealth of nations and the effect on human life is indeed the crux of this research.

1.3. Data challenges

The Niger Delta from the current literature reviews has been regarded as one of the worst areas in the world with discouraging environmental records. Field work visits occurred with the help of the community liaison officers and officials of the DPR eliminated the security fears. In furtherance to keeping pace with the project work, a second field trip was embarked upon to achieve the planned review. Although initial concerns relating to the fragile security situation in the Niger-delta were raised by the collaborating parties in the delta and colleagues in the University of Port-Harcourt, these were overcome by the assistance provided by the Department of Petroleum Resources. Field trips work commenced from, March 2014, 3rd to 16th of May, 2015, June 14, 2015. The sites visited were Rivers, Bayelsa, Delta, Edo and Lagos States respectively. Presentations were also made at various institutions with respect to the heavy oil contamination and degradation in the region and the possibilities available through biotechnology improvement. The Universities visited were Federal University of Petroleum Resources, Effurun (FUPRE), Western Delta University, Oghara, Delta State, University of Benin, Benin City, and Department of Petroleum Resources (DPR), Lagos. The presentation at DPR is in furtherance of approvals for bioremediation pilot studies for possible monitoring and regulation of the oil and gas companies operating in Nigeria.

Official written permission was sort from the Department of Petroleum Resources (DPR) being the government official agency that regulates the activities of the oil companies operating in Nigeria, including NNPC and also for the fact that an environmental awareness being the first to use bioreporter method in the Niger Delta. The area for the purpose was selected based on the major oil companies' strength operating in Nigeria with their major operations in the communities chosen. The impacts of explorations, drilling and production in the Niger Delta region feel the impacts of OICs activities.

1.4. Study aims and objectives

The actual thrust of this research work is to eliminate the huge gap beginning from 2000-2013 of the content based or contemporary texts on the environmentally dilapidated state of the Niger Delta and the exigency of its rehabilitation.



Figure 1. 1-A Research Structure

Following this approach, the research has four key objectives, as follows:

- Evaluation of petroleum exploratory activity, exploitation and contamination in Niger Delta for the last 50 years.
 - a) Reviewing existing literature on crude oil exploration activities and the negative impacts of crude oil contamination
 - b) Identifying the sources and distribution of oil contamination in Niger Delta
 - c) Revealing the structure of Nigerian government and regimes for crude oil contamination control and identifying their roles for crude oil spill control and remediation in Niger Delta
 - d) Evaluating different analytical methods assessing the extent of oil contamination in Niger Delta and identifying the need for biosensor application
- 2. Critical review on the biosensor application for crude oil contamination and ecological assessment
 - a) Reviewing of existing literature on biosensors application in crude oil contaminated soil and water.
 - b) Identifying the advantages and challenges of the biosensor in crude oil contamination monitoring
- 3. Biosensor device development for on-field and in-situ measurement of crude oil contamination.
 - a) Magnetic biosensor device development to improve biosensor response sensitivity and reproducibility in soil monitoring
 - b) Integration of bioreporter and electric sensor for portable biosensor device
 - c) Collaboration with Nigerian companies for biosensor commercialization for crude oil monitoring in the field
- 4. Suggestions on government for future crude oil spill/contamination management
 - a) Fast response actions to crude oil spill
 - b) Monitoring and remediation strategies at the crude oil contaminated site
 - c) Policies and regulations

1.5. Structure of thesis

This research work comprises of eight chapters which are inextricably linked to address the research objectives from different aspects. Their hypothesis and final deductions expedite the thesis coherence with logical conclusions.

Chapter 1 commences with an overview of research background, aims and objectives. It crucially highlights the thesis statement and research questions in a bid to convey the depth of issues forming the crux of the Niger-delta dilemma. As the world's second largest delta, the Niger Delta has huge crude oil reservoir and the oil exploration does not only bring profits but also negative consequences to local communities. The total spillage of petroleum into the oceans, seas and rivers through human activities is estimated to be at an average of 0.7 - 7 million tons per year. Due to the technical challenge, the monitoring and evaluation of crude oil contaminated site management still needs improvement. Our research therefore addressed such technical and social challenges, and attempts to apply biological monitoring as a future solution in the Niger Delta.





Figure 1. 1-B Map of the Niger Delta region, showing its states of where oil are produced

Chapter 2 is a critical overview of oil exploration history and contamination related management in the Niger Delta. In this section, the composition of crude oil and consequence of crude oil contamination is discussed with case studies, addressing how crude oil spill affects the land, water and air. Meanwhile, the highlights also include the most notable causes of oil spills and the accompanying contamination, by reviewing the oil exploration history in the Niger Delta. Thus to avert this menace and obvious threat to the existence and viability of the Niger-delta, there is as a matter of urgency a need for administrative, regulatory reforms and policy re-evaluation in the Nigerian oil and gas industry. I thus propose governmental and regulatory adjustments to ensure more proactive and coordinated approaches between governmental agencies to protect the environment, promote stringent quality controls and checks for the benefit of the Niger-delta environment. Additionally, the precautionary approaches are also proposed to spills prevention and mitigation via efficient or speedy detection and response measures. Two main approaches for crude oil monitoring in environmental media are categorized from literatures, including the conventional chemical or physical methods for non-specific and specific monitoring. Addressing their challenges, the bioreporter method is raised here as a supplementary approach to conventional analysis, which is hinged on its prime and superior advantage of rapid detection of genotoxicity and the ease of adaptability as an evaluation tool for policy and regulatory purposes.

Chapter 3 entails a preliminary study undertaken to verify and affirm the feasibility of bioreporter application in real soil samples. For most of the crude oil contaminated soils, the soil particles absorb bioluminescent signals, reducing bioreporter sensitivity and restricting its real-world application. Therefore, a novel magnetic bioreporter device was developed with the magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) functionalization, which achieved high reproducibility with a pH value from 5.0 to 9.0, salinity from 0% to 3% and temperature from 20 °C to 37 °C. The data also showed the relationship between total amount and bioavailable fraction of contaminants. Our results proved that the magnetic bioreporter device real-bioreporter device can offer a high throughput biological measurement of soil contamination and is a realistic tool for crude oil contaminated soils.

Chapter 4 applied the magnetic whole-cell bioreporter device for the measurement of crude oil contaminated soils sampled from Nigeria. By reducing the interference of soil particles, the new magnetic device achieved high sensitivity, and achieved the rapid petroleum monitoring and assessment plagued by prohibitive costs and complex chemical analysis. From the in situ bioreporter assessment of the four soils and two water samples, the measurement was less than 4 hours, and the operation was easy for direct evaluating the toxicity of crude oil in soils. The soil contamination ranged from 6250.9 to 55967.6 mg/kg in soil, and the highest water contamination was 248.5 mg/L. This method thus holds the unique advantage of rapid evaluation of toxicity and bioavailability to provide environmental risk assessments at crude oil contamination sites over physical and chemical methods.

Chapter 5 further addressed the challenge of online measurement of crude oil contamination in water, and developed the biological-phase micro-extraction and biosensing (BPME-BS) for simultaneous and online detection of crude oil contamination in the Niger Delta. The developed passive sampler introduced alkane-chemotaxis bioreporter ADPWH_alk to seek and accumulate alkanes from water samples. The BPME-BS device achieved high enrichment factor (>4.6) and satisfactory limit of detection (0.05 mg/L)when ADPWH_alk cell was immobilized via agarose gel. The quantitative response of BPME-BS device was comparable to that of gas chromatography flame ionisation detector. The device also maintained the limit of detection under a wide range of environmental conditions, like pH between 4.0 and 9.0, temperature from 20 °C to 40 °C, and salinity is 0% to 3.0% sensitivity. Within 30 days storage at 4 °C, the response of BPME-BS device was reliable, showing its feasibility in commercialization. More importantly, the BPME-BS device could detect the dynamic concentration of alkanes in water samples and 7-day simultaneous measurement proved its future application as an online alkane device. This work substantiates the theory that whole-cell bioreporter can be immobilized as a passive sampler for online diagnostic environmental contaminants.

Chapter 6 utilized the alkane bioreporter to evaluate the alkane degradation performance of soil microorganisms during bioremediation process. By introducing the novel magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) technology to isolate the uncultivable-but-

functional alkane degraders from Nigerian soils, the alkane bioreporter successfully evaluated their ecological functions and influencing factors, providing valuable information about the approaches improving bioremediation performance. Our results indicated that whole-cell bioreporter is a good tool to assess the change of alkane availability during bioremediation process, and can be used as one supplementary tool to enhance bioremediation by adding appropriate carbon or nitrogen sources to encourage real indigenous oil degraders. It further showed the great potential of whole-cell bioreporter not only in contamination monitoring, but also a good approach in crude oil contaminated sites management.

Chapter 7 entailed the detailed suggestions and recommendations on crude oil spill and management in Niger Delta. From the technical aspects, the combination of conventional chemical analysis and cutting-edge biological monitoring was suggested. From the social aspect, the recommendations focused on the future management framework to improve contamination monitoring and management in the Niger Delta of Nigeria.

Chapter 8 was a comprehensive conclusion and summary of all the work of this project, with a logic structure to address the solutions on crude oil contamination management in the Niger Delta. It also proposes viable steps for governmental action or intervention. The chapter further promotes pre-emptive measures to target environmental degradation in the Niger-delta ecosystem by the implementation of policy and regulatory adjustments to inculcate best standard practices in environmental protection and management.

Reference

- EJENAVI, O. & D, Z. 2016. Evaluating oil spill contamination in the Niger Delta by magnetic whole -cell bioreporter assay. *Journal of Environment management Health Science and Engineering*, accepted.
- ZHANG, D., DING, A., CUI, S., HU, C., THORNTON, S. F., DOU, J., SUN, Y. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter application for rapid detection and evaluation of crude oil spill in seawater caused by Dalian oil tank explosion. *Water research*, 47, 1191-1200.

2. Crude oil contamination and management in the Niger Delta

The objectives of this chapter are:

- Evaluation of petroleum exploratory activity, exploitation and contamination in Niger Delta for the last 50 years:
 - Reviewing existing literature on crude oil exploration activities and the negative impacts of crude oil contamination
 - Identifying the sources and distribution of oil contamination in Niger Delta
 - Revealing the structure of Nigerian government and regimes for crude oil contamination control and identifying their roles for crude oil spill control and remediation in Niger Delta
 - Evaluating different analytical methods assessing the extent of oil contamination in Niger Delta and identifying the need for biosensor application
- 2. Critical review on the biosensor application for crude oil contamination and ecological assessment
- Reviewing of existing literature on biosensors application in crude oil contaminated soil and water.
- Identifying the advantages and challenges of the biosensor in crude oil contamination monitoring

Abstract

Crude oil brings Nigeria not only the wealth, but also the ecological disasters and human health risks. Increasing more attentions have addressed the reasons and consequences of oil spill and contamination, as well as potential practical and management strategies reducing the risks. This work critically reviews the 50-year crude oil exploration history in Niger Delta, comprehensively reveals the facts and causes of oil spill incidents, and discusses the ecological and health consequence from oil spills. We also analyse the governmental structure responsible for oil contamination control and remediation, regarding the responsibilities and actions of each government agencies, and provide suggestions on further management and strategies to tackle the effects resulting from crude oil contamination, eliminating threats to food security, environmental deterioration and the human health in the Niger Delta.

Key words: Nigeria, crude oil, contamination, regulation, Department of Petroleum Resources

Abbreviations

- CNA: Clean Nigeria Association
- DPR: Department of Petroleum Resources
- EGASPIN: Environmental Guidelines and Standards for the Petroleum Industry in Nigeria

EHORECON: Environmental Health Officers' Registration Council of Nigeria

FEPA: Federal Environmental Protection Agency

FME: Federal Ministry of Environment

FRIN: Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria

HSSE: Health, Safety, Security and Environment

MPR: Ministry of Petroleum Resources

NDR: National Data Repository

NESREA: National Environment Standards and Regulation Enforcement Agency

NNOC: Nigerian National Oil Corporation

NNPC: Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation

NOSDRA: National Oil Spill Detection and Response Agency

NPS: National Parks Service

OPRC: Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and Cooperation

PAHs: Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

PEF: Petroleum Equalization Fund

PPPRA: Petroleum Products Pricing Regulatory Agency

PTDF: Petroleum Training Development Fund

HYPREP: Hydrocarbon Pollution Remediation Project

PIB: Petroleum Industry Bill

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Crude oil and oil spill

Crude oil is the main energy resources for modern industry (Sorrell et al., 2010). It is a natural mixture of petroleum hydrocarbons, and the main compositions are categorized as paraffinic (saturated), naphthenic (unsaturated) or aromatics (ring structured) (Yasin et al., 2013, Odebunmi et al., 2002, Odeyemi and Ogunseitan, 1985). During the exploration, transportation, storage and manufacturing activities, a huge amount of crude oil is released into the natural environment as oil spill, consequently causing the contemporary global challenge (Ite et al., 2013a). Some main oil spill accidents are listed in Table 2.1, and the two major impacts of oil spills are often evident in the areas of ecological structure and human health (Sam et al., 2016).

2.1.2 Impacts of oil spill

Oil is a form of pollution and it can either be marine or coastal. In situations where the spills occur within the coastal waters, territorial seas or oceans or both is denoted as marine oil spill. The physical and chemical property of the oil is what influences the fate and toxicity once it is released into the environment, and consequently, the effect on the environment is what affects human beings. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are basic constituents of crude oil. The soil gets impacted by these contaminants and makes the environment toxic. PAHs are defined on the basis of ring structure from commonly three fused aromatic rings to ten rings. In describing the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in term of large or small PAHs, classified PAHs up to six rings as small while aromatics rings structures above six rings as large PAHs (Fernandez-Luqueno et al., 2011). Contamination arising from 2-rings to 6-rings of PAHs has been researched out in the Niger Delta by (Sojinu et al., 2010a) with the effluents arising from the rivers and streams caused by spillages from oil installations

 Table 2. 1 Internationally recognized oil spills.

| Date | Name of platform | Location | Oil spilled | Reference |
|-----------------|----------------------------|------------------------|-------------|------------------------------|
| | | | (barrels) | |
| January 19, | Gulf War/Persian Gulf | Arabian/Kuwait | 11,000.000 | (Husain, 1998, King, 2010) |
| 1991 | | | | |
| April 20, 2010 | Macondo Well | Gulf of Mexico, USA | 4,500,000 | (Rico-Martínez et al., 2013, |
| | | | | McNutt et al., 2012) |
| June 1979-April | Lxtoc-1 | Bay of Campeche, | 3,500,000 | (Jernelöv and Lindén, 1981) |
| 1980 | | Mexico | | |
| July 19, 1979 | Gulf Coast of Trinidad and | Trinidad and Tobago | 2,123,800 | (Husain, 1998) |
| | Tobago | | | |
| May 28, 1991 | ABT Summer Offshore | Angola | 1,924,000 | (Etkin, 1999) |
| | Coast of Angola | | | |
| March 16, 1978 | Amoco cadiz | Coast of Britany, | 1,619,048 | (Seymour and Geyer, 1992) |
| | | France | | |
| March 24, 1989 | Runned aground in Prince | Mediterranean Sea, off | 250,000 to | (Seymour and Geyer, 1992) |
| | William Sound | Alaska | 750,000 | |
| October 1986 | Abkatun 91 | Bay of Campeche, | 247,000 | (Etkin, 1999) |
| | | Mexico | | |
| April 1977 | Ekofisk Bravo | North Sea, Norway | 202,381 | (Dahl et al., 1983) |
| January 1980 | Funiwa 5 | Forcados, Nigeria | 200,000 | (Odeyemi and Ogunseitan, |

| | | | 1985) |
|----------------------|--|---|---|
| Hasbah 6 | Persian Gulf, Saudi | 105,000 | (Lehr and Belen, 1983) |
| | Arabia | | |
| Iran Marine Int. | Persian Gulf, Iran | 100,000 | (King, 2010) |
| Alpha Well 21 | Pacific, California, | 100,000 | (King, 2010) |
| | USA | | |
| Main Pass Block 41 | Gulf of Mexico | 65,000 | (McAuliffe et al., 1975) |
| Yum II/Zapoteca | Bay of Campeche, | 58,643 | (Fingas, 2012) |
| | Mexico | | |
| South Timbalier B-26 | Gulf of Mexico, USA | 53,095 | (King, 2010). |
| | Hasbah 6 Iran Marine Int. Alpha Well 21 Main Pass Block 41 Yum II/Zapoteca South Timbalier B-26 | Hasbah 6 Persian Gulf, Saudi Arabia Iran Marine Int. Persian Gulf, Iran Alpha Well 21 Pacific, California, USA Main Pass Block 41 Gulf of Mexico Yum II/Zapoteca Bay of Campeche, Mexico South Timbalier B-26 Gulf of Mexico, USA | Hasbah 6Persian Gulf, Saudi 105,000 ArabiaIran Marine Int.Persian Gulf, Iran100,000Alpha Well 21Pacific, California, 100,000 USA100,000 USAMain Pass Block 41Gulf of Mexico65,000Yum II/ZapotecaBay of Campeche, 58,643 Mexico58,643 MexicoSouth Timbalier B-26Gulf of Mexico, USA53,095 |
Oil has severe impacts on the three media of the ecosystem viz- land, water and air. These debilitating impacts have been clearly evident on the ecosystem in recent years. Once rehabilitative actions are not carried out in time, the resulting damage of oil spill on the environment would be unimaginable and unquantifiable (FME, 2006). It would entail the entire system's total loss of biodiversity and degradable horizon. This has requested for a re-evaluation of the past 50 years following the appreciable impact and the adverse consequences on human health, in addition to the environmental degradation of the ecosystem.

Basically, three main environmental organic contaminants namely hydrocarbons, chlorinated and nitroaromatic compounds are released into the environment as a result of pipelines leakages, sabotage and crude and its products transportation which threaten ground and surface water quality (Holliger et al., 1997). The composition or constituents of crude oil released into the environment is detrimental to both ecosystem and human health (Ordinioha and Sawyer, 2010). These compositional constituents of petroleum consists primarily of hydrocarbon and other hundreds of substances that include benzene, toluene and xylene (Ayotamuno et al., 2011, EPA, 2011).

Crude oil leakages have deleterious impacts, and often along with damaging to natural ecosystems, inhibition of native plants growth, reduction of soil fertility, and pollution of groundwater which poses risks to human beings when consumed. The consuming poisonous substances can increase the risks of cancer and related issues (Ordinioha and Sawyer, 2010) and relevant diseases are dermatitis, fetal abortions, fungal infections, headaches and nausea (Adesodun et al., 2008, Azibabua et al., 2013, Orimoogunje and Ajibola-James, 2013a). With long history of the refineries effluents due to the various chemical processes (fractional distillation, desalination and demineralization) involved in the separation of different chemical products from the region, chemical pollutants are being released into the environment which posed challenges with best global practices. These chemical pollutants cause severe damage to our bio system and negative impacts on flora and fauna, as well as wetlands and aquatic or land habitats. Furthermore, it deteriorates human health and causes environmental hazards like oil spillage, water pollutions, ocean acidification, acid rain, ozone layer depletion, thus disturbing the stability of living environment. Thus, this discharge of untreated toxic substances into the environment has

effectively created a conundrum for the whole society and the inhabitants living within the region.

From the research on aquifers, streams and rivers in 18 oil fields in the Niger Delta (Agbalagba et al., 2013), we can find serious concerns of extreme oil pollution. The acidic level of oil drill wastes and highly pressurized crude oil pipelines discharges reaches a pH 4.2 ± 5.6 , which altered the soil content undoubtedly (Odeyemi and Ogunseitan, 1985, Osuji and Adesiyan, 2005a, Wegwu et al., 2011). The concentration of toxins contained either in drinking, bathing and fishing water is much higher than the safety limits set by the US Environment Protection Agency and the negative impacts on a socio-economic scale as evidenced in the life and the environment of oil bearing local communities include; forest destruction and biodiversity loss, health hazards and untreated waste disposal from refineries contain toxic chemicals constitute a high level of land, water and air pollutants (Kadafa, 2012a) and consequently necessitated a court ruling in the Netherlands against Shell for the pollution in the Niger Delta on January 30th 2013 at the International Court of Justice, in Den Haag (Ridderhof, 2013).

2.1.3 Research on oil spill in Nigeria

Since 1978, 407 papers were published with 2357 citations on crude oil spill and contamination in the Niger Delta, from the data on Web of Science. The 60% of them were published since 2005. About 182 world largest spills statistics in world with an average rate spillage in the last 10 years was presented (Fingas, 2012) showing the negative impacts globally. These topical issues and general public opinion of authors regarded the Niger Delta as a serious environmental degradable system (Onduku, 2001). The main focuses are the monitoring, remediation and management of crude oil spill. The adoption of specific corrective actions through bioremediation and management as a tool for Nigeria's government to improve the ecosystem and curtail further ecological deterioration as well as restore the environment, and monitoring will be the essential or viable approaches for the environmental improvement in Nigeria (Onu, 2003). Consequently, the main research area in relation to oil spills is to consider the extent to which exploratory activity has negatively impacted on the sources of livelihood of the indigenes of the Niger Delta. Assessing the strategies to monitoring and the management of oil spills contamination by the adoption of

biosensor techniques as well as recommending specific corrective actions through bioremediation management forms a fundamental aspect of this work. This research also proposes feasible recommendations for the Nigerian government relating to eco-friendly options for the Niger-delta environment in order to curtail further ecological deterioration; it also serves to eliminate the huge sources and data gap evident between 2000-2013 as evident from previous literatures and contemporary texts relating to oil spillage data and environmental dilapidation in the region, whilst advocating urgent steps for the rehabilitation.

2.2 Crude oil exploration history in Nigeria

2.2.1 Nigerian crude oil resources

Crude oil resources are huge in the Niger Delta and predominant in Nigerian economy. The government's bulk revenue is from crude oil exports which accounts for about 90% total export and 95% of foreign exchange earnings. Nigerian crude oil is being regarded as "sweet crude" because of his small amount of sulphur it contain and as such has a high price value internationally (Dickson and Udoessien, 2012). From data in 2011, Nigerian oil reserves were 37 billion barrels. This translates to about 2.9% of global oil reserves.

Bitumen another crude oil resource in Nigeria entails very large volumes of conventional oil formed by natural process acted upon by bacterial activities (Amigun et al., 2012) and demand necessitated aggressive exploitation for local consumption and enhanced the economy (Adeniran, 1999). Its composition is related to the type of original crude and its degree of inspissation. It can be waxy solid hydrocarbon or asphaltic solid hydrocarbon. Chemically, there is a degradation process from the paraffinic oils to waxy residues with a carbon range of C₂₂ and C₂₉ and hydrogen of 14 to 16 respectively. Its origin is paraffinic oil with increasing degradation of naphthenic oil (Hunt and Jamieson, 1956). In the research of Selley (1985), the probable reserves of bitumen in Ondo State of Nigeria is estimated to be about 16 billion barrels, while tar-sands resources are estimated to be 42 billion barrels (KPMG, 2012). These quantum reserves boast the Nigeria economic and make the sustainable supply of energy important to the continuous economic growth of the nation which drives socio-economic activities. Similarly, the oil and gas reserves places Nigeria as the sixth world largest exporter of crude (Kadafa, 2012d). The oil reserve as at

1st January, 2015 is 37,448 MMbbls of oil and 187.99 of gas respectively. Nigeria, as a key player in the global oil and gas supply chain, like other countries, should respond to growing global energy demands by increasing its hydrocarbon reserves to meet up with local and foreign energy demand and supply obligations (Gbadebo and Okonkwo, 2009, Onuke, 2014, Oyedepo, 2009).

2.2.2 Oil exploration activities

The majority of oil reserve was located in the sedimentary basins in the Niger Delta. Nigerian oil exploration activities started in east Lagos in 1908 by Nigerian Bitumen Corporation from the oil seeps in Okitipupa. Interrupted by the World War I, sporadic oil exploration activities were operated by Shell until the discovery of a commercial quantity of oil reserve in 1956 at Oloibiri. The cumulative country production from 1958-2010 is 29,803,198,120 barrels, with highest annual production of 920,017,277 barrels in 2006. However, the current production as at September 2011, average daily production stands at 2,439,000 barrels with deep offshore production accounting for a third of the Nigeria's current production. From the summarized country production (Akpomudjere, 2011), the whole history of oil exploration in the Niger Delta can be categorized into 4 stages, and the oil reserves and number of exploration wells drilled are shown in Figure 2.1. Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.2 show Nigerian huge potential for exploration and production activities, the oil reserves has been experiencing low level thresholds for decade. This is attributable to the onshore and shallow water fields attaining their peak production as well as the reduction in exploration efforts by operators in Nigeria and consequently, a steady rise of oil and, condensate and gas from 1976-2009, and decline slightly until 2010-2011.

Initial oil exploration (1908-1956): The initial exploration activities started with a modest production of 5,001 barrels per day (Nwaobi and TERRITORY, 2005). Prior before 1956 where commercial quantity was discovered at Oloibiri, the search for oil exploration prospecting was interrupted abruptly by the World War I in 1914 and later World War II in 1939-1945 which terminated initial exploration by the Shell D'Arcy (Now Shell-British Petroleum-BP), however, BP started drilling a number of oil exploratory wells in 1937 to 1951, enjoying an initial monopoly of the oil exploration activities between 1938-1955.

Aggressive oil exploration (1957-1983): When oil was discovered in 1956, aggressive drilling occurred in 1957 to 1969 and was slightly interrupted by the Nigeria civil war in 1967-1970. In 1961, offshore concessions were granted to Shell/BP, Gulf (now Chevron), Mobil and Amoco overseas (now Texaco). Since then, several new comers have explored oil in those areas. In 1964, Okan field was discovered and explored by Chevron, thus it became the first offshore field in Nigeria. Idaho oil field was discovered and explored by Mobil in 1965. Since then, aggressive exploration and exploitation has plagued the Niger Delta. Currently, over seventeen oil companies are still active in oil explorative operations (Odularu, 2008). Since the discovery of Oloibiri field in 1956, the nation has steadily grown its oil reserves base at an annual average rate of 11.3 percent, thereby enjoying positive annual average net addition of 676 million barrels (Akpomudjere, 2011). The oil boom that kicked off in the 70s lead to the creations of 3 refineries. These refineries were built in 1978, 1980 and 1989 creating economy wealth.



Figure 2. 1Number of exploration wells drilled in the Niger Delta (1951-2014).



Figure 2. 2 Oil and gas reserves in the Niger Delta (1956-2012). Data are from DPR.

Further development (1984-1998): After 1970 oil crisis, production began to drop significantly in 80s as a result of economic downturn and host communities unrest -Niger Delta militancy. The pressure group heightened up when an environmental activist Ken Saro-Wiwa was killed. Between 1992 and 1998, approximately 382,866.34 million barrels of oil was spilled into the environment resulting from about 2,911 incidents (Figure 2.3), the spill increased from 225 times to the highest value of 846 times incidents in the period. The multinationals decided to move from the continental shelf to the deep offshore as a result of the pressure and unrest from the pressure group which has resulted to all manners of kidnapping and social vices in the region. Thus, oil reserves of the nation are currently at an all-time low declining at an annual average rate of 11 percent without adequate replacement in the last decade. This is attributable to a general reduction in exploration efforts by all operators, while at the same time about 70% of onshore and shallow water fields are at decline phase with an average depletion rate of 2.7%. It is the reason that the nation has not be able to meet up with the daily oil production of 4 million barrels and the oil reserve of 40 billion barrels aspiration of 2010 (Akuru and Okoro, 2011).

Current stage (1999-now): Democracy was returned to Nigeria by the long protracted military rule that has placated the country of development for a long time. During this period, a total of about 718,317.49 million barrels resulting from 7, 107 times was spilled

into the environment with an all times highest peak of vandalization in 2006 of 3,674 incidents and the quantity of oil spilled was 535,624 barrels. Nigeria being a key player in the oil and gas industry has to join its international peers in this quest by developing hydrocarbon reserves growth policy framework in order to meet up with both its local and international energy supply obligations (Khusanjanova, 2011, KPMG, 2013). Data from the Department of Petroleum Resources (DPR) revealed a total of 673 wells drilled by Class and well drilled by Contract and Class from 2010-2014 and these exploratory activities are evident in spillage occurrences.

2.3 Crude oil spill during exploration and contamination in Niger Delta

Crude oil spill represents the accidental discharge during exploration, transportation, storage and manufacturing process that directly or indirectly impact on the environment (Adelana et al., 2011b). The spill may either be minor, medium, major or attain disaster status (Ite et al., 2013a). The oil spillage can either be due to negligent actions or accidents occurring during operational activities or a deliberate act of theft called sabotage. These effluent discharges into the environment effectively introduce contaminants to the environment. The estimated Nigerian crude oil spillage into the ocean is 0.7-7 million tons per year (Kadafa, 2012d). Although, the number of oil spill incidents significantly increased, the historical data in Figure 2.3 illustrated that the quantity of oil spill has decreased from 0.15 million barrels per year (2.1 million barrels in 2,796 incidents from 1976 to 1990) to 0.06 million barrels per year (1.2 million barrels in 12,854 incidents from 1991 to 2011) (FME, 2006).

The spills constitute pollution to the environment. Pollution is the introduction of elements or compounds of higher concentrations that affects humans, the environment alike and or the biological components (Scullion, 2006). Table 2.2 lists some key oil spill disasters in the Niger Delta region where the disaster affected a large expanse of land, destroyed about 836 acres of mangrove forest, polluted fresh and swamp forest, aquatic animals, crops and vegetation on land and polluted even the Atlantic Ocean polluting the marine environment. The Niger Delta Resource Damage Assessment and Restoration project in 2006 estimated a damage of approximately 355 hectares of impacted area of oil spillage incidence which destroy freshwater swamp forest, barrier forest island, and freshwater swamp. Many of

these spilled occurred before the establishment of National Oil Spills Detection and Regulatory Agency (NOSDRA) in 2006. Oil spills are regulated by NOSDRA and DPR. The legislation governing Acts oil spills make it mandatory to report all oil spills; whether small, minor, medium or disaster spills resulting from oil companies.

Over 10,000 crude oil spill incidents were reported in Nigeria, with a total oil spillage of around 9 to 13 million barrels, 50 times more than Exxon Valdez oil spill that occurred on 24th March, 1989.In September, 1979, Oshika village in Rivers State witnessed a spill of 500 barrels of crude oil which destroyed lakes and sediment, killed crabs, fishes and shrimps with high mortality in embryonic shrimp and reduced reproduction after 8 months (Kadafa, 2012d). Similarly, another major oil spillage incident occurred in one of the oil wells in Mobil oil company covering a distance of 200 kilometers that affected fish town in Bayelsa State on 12th January, 1998 and estimated 40,000 barrels oil spilling into marine environment (Aghalino and Eyinla, 2009). The Funiwa-5 oil well Blow-out spilled into the environment on the 17th January, 1980, is being classified as one of the largest international oil well blowouts by volume (King, 2010).

From 1976 to 2011, a total number of 12,854 incidents occurred in the Niger Delta and resulted in approximately 3,324,269.28 million barrels of crude oil spilled into the environment (Figure 2.3). Major oil spills occurred in the eastern zone of the Niger Delta at the SPDC Forcados terminal, of about 580,000 barrels were accountable for the Texaco Funiwa-5 oil blowout of 1980 (Nwilo and Badejo, 2001). Figure 2.1 clearly illustrates the lowest number of oil spill in 1989, and the highest ones were found in 1978, 1979 and 1980 accounting for 552 incidents with a total quantity of approximately 1,783,975 barrels. An obvious increasing number of oil spill incidents from 1990 to 2011 can be observed which might be attributed to many factors, e.g. aging pipelines, failure from oil company facilities, sabotage, wastage accruing from operational activities and negligence arising from transportation of crude. Figure 2.4 shows oil spill distribution along pipelines in the Niger Delta.

 Table 2. 2 Key oil spill disasters in the Niger Delta.

| Time | Location | Spill amount | Terrain | Reference |
|------|---|---|---|---|
| | | (barrels) | | |
| 1908 | | Not available | Land | (Tolulope, 2004) |
| 1979 | Forcados, Delta State | 570,000 | Polluted swamp forest and aquatic animals and environment | (Tolulope, 2004, Ukoli, 2005) |
| 1980 | No.5 well, Funiwa Field, Rivers State | 421,000 barrels destroyed 836 acres of mangrove forest within six miles. | Ocean, sea and swampy areas. | (Tolulope, 2004, Aghalino and Eyinla, 2009, Gabriel, 2004) |
| 1980 | Oyakama, Rivers State | 30,000 | Land and freshwater | (Ukoli, 2005) |
| 1980 | Rivers State | 200,000 | 340 hectares of mangrove forest | (Nwilo and Badejo, 2005a) |
| 1983 | Oshika, Rivers State | 5,000 | Forest and lake | (Gabriel, 2004, Kadafa, 2012a) |
| 1995 | Etiama Nembe of Ogada- Brass pipeline, | 24,000 | Freshwater, swamp forest and brackish water mangrove | (Gabriel, 2004) |

| | Bayelsa State | | swamp | |
|------|--|-----------------------|--|-----------------------------|
| 1997 | Ogbodo-Isiokpo pipeline, Rivers State | Large expanse of land | Destroyed crops and vegetation on land | (Osuji and Adesiyan, 2005a) |
| 1998 | Eket, Awka Ibom | 40,000 | Atlantic Ocean | (Nwilo and Badejo, 2005b) |



Figure 2. 3 The quantity of spilled oil and number of spill incidents (1976-2011). Data are from the Nigerian Petroleum Development Corporation (NNPC) & DPR.



Figure 2. 4. Niger Delta oil pipelines and oil spill coverage area (NOSDRA, 2016).

2..3.1 Oil spill during exploration activities

Oil spillage arising from crude oil operation activities in Nigeria is usually from oil exploration, drilling and production activities. Data from Table 2.3 shows minimal spills from exploration and production while the bulk of spillage is transportation through pipelines, trucks and sabotage. The quantity of crude spilled during crude oil operational activities is negligible as result of high level of Health, Safety, Security and Environment (HSSE) compliance.

| | Number of Incidence | Quantity spilled (Barrels) |
|------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| 2008 | 58 | 674.43 |
| 2009 | 69 | 86,341 |
| 2010 | 81 | 7,669.52 |
| 2011 | 18 | 210.21 |
| 2012 | 0 | 0 |
| 2013 | 2 | 0.06 |
| 2014 | 128 | 82.62 |
| 2015 | 84 | 387.77 |
| 2016 | 97 | 375.19 |

| Table 2.3 | Spill | incidence | relating | to F | Production | Activities |
|------------------|-------|-----------|----------|------|------------|------------|
|------------------|-------|-----------|----------|------|------------|------------|

Data from DPR.

This spillage due to the unwarranted non- adherence to best HSSE practices occurred frequently and quite often through crude oil theft, vandalism, sabotage by communities claiming for compensation, aging and corrosion of pipelines, transportation and loading of products mode, operational errors, dumping and natural occurrences. These factors have led to the degradation and ecosystem destruction and thus placed Nigeria as a country that is negligent in its ecosystem or environment protection (Audu et al., 2016). Sabotage resulting from oil spills is often deliberate or malicious acts targeted at undermining oil industry facility or infrastructure. The essential purpose is to circumvent the effective administration and distribution of petroleum to storage facilities for personal or group gains. These acts affect exploration activities and are basically subversive acts to prevent the effective

operations of the oil and gas industry in such areas. This is quite distinct from human error resulting in accidents, which may be attributed to personnel lack of concentration and distractions in the process of executing legitimate tasks, as (Aprioku, 2003) attributed three reasons for sabotage Firstly, the relevant individuals demanding for compensation for the damage either of farmland or the environment was not paid. Secondly, the individuals who cut the pipelines ultimately extort exorbitant sums for the imagined or actual loss or damage. Thirdly, the certain individuals or groups of persons who cause production disruption compel oil companies to deliver social conveniences to the localities where oil companies operate.

2.3.2 Oil spill during distribution and refinery process

From tankers, trucks, rails and large ships like oil bunkers, or discharge as a result of drilling activities or neglectful actions of oil industry operators, pipelines break and ruptures trends from 2003-2012 clearly depicts the seriousness of the environment degradation as recorded by the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC). It is studied that the origin of the pollution from oil explorations is mainly petrogenic and pyrogenic from continuous oil pipelines spillage leakage over time in the region with gas flaring activities on the surface soils. The Jesse (Delta State) pipelines fire disaster that engulfed a town resulted in a loss of thousands of lives was attributed to oil spills. The explosion was described as the most deadly in the history of Nigeria as it was discovered that the ruptured pipelines that was responsible for the spills belonged to NNPC. The oil spill from engineering drills and machines failures holds only 1% of total spill amount (Egberongbe et al., 2006). Operations through transportation and marketing generate oil spills and emissions of hydrocarbons; this is also a major culprit in the oil spills dilemma in Niger-delta environment. Oil spillage through transportation often has far reaching effects despite that the majority of them comprise of accidental occurrences.

The pipeline distribution network and pipeline breaks indicate a steady rise in the number of oil spill incidents from 1976 to 2011 due to pipelines failures, sabotage and pipeline ruptures. In the year from 2003 to 2012, a fluctuation in the number of vandalization and rupture vis-à-vis the quantity of oil spilled is found (Figure 2.5). The year 2005 recorded the highest quantity of oil spilled which was necessitated by increased in vandalization

activities as compared to the previous year 2004. Vandalization got to its peak in 2006, when amnesty programme was introduced in the Niger Delta till 2010. Vandalization went high again in the 2011 when the programme was temporary suspended resulting in further agitation of ownership of the resources. The numbers of vandalization increased from 2003 to 2006 with increased in the quantity of crude oil spillage while from the year 2006 to 2010, the vandalization activities reduce due to effort of government and public enlightenment strategy of the negative impacts of oil spillage. However, the number of rupture units along the pipeline does not correspond to number of vandalization which further shows support to one percent (1%) mechanical failures (Egberongbe et al., 2006). This suggests that aging of the pipeline does not correspond to volume of crude spilled but to the number of activities of vandals. Furthermore, the vandalization is an external force on the pipeline that affects the operation and thus affects the quantity of crude spillage. On the other hand, the rupture activities are related to the state of the pipeline and more operational in nature. The vandalization reduces with increase and participation of government in social services and provision of amenities to the people of the Niger Delta. Also, the inclusion of the Niger Delta in governance has a significant impact in the reduction of vandalization activities between the years 2006 to 2010. However with the enlightenment and social corporate responsibilities by some multinational, the vandalization activities reduce in 2011 and 2012.



Figure 2. 5.Number and quantity of spilled oil from pipelines breaks (2003-2012). Data are from NNPC/DPR.

2.4 The ecological and health and impacts of crude oil production in Nigeria

2.4.1 Environmental threats

The effects of contamination spillages over time are hard to be quantified, but its effect has caused environment threat issues in the Niger Delta. The critical study of danger posed by spills on mangrove ecosystem of the Niger Delta revealed that it will take about 14 years to recover an affected tree in a non–remediated land and about 7 years to restore that same tree in a remediated land (Orimoogunje and Ajibola-James, 2013a). Furthermore, the study also evaluated the changes in the land cover of the mangrove ecosystem in Niger Delta from 1986 to 2008. This is the underlying reason that advocated the need for strong regulatory provisions to be put in place to protect mangrove trees (Imoobe and Iroro, 2009, McGenity, 2014). Consequently, a review of the chemicals in mangrove ecosystems decline was attributed to environmental pollution and the concentrations of some organic

chemicals including petroleum chemicals have been reported comprising trace metals, the effect of pipeline explosion and its antecedent threat to the loss of farmland, pollution of ground water sources, abdominal pain and ecological effects was well investigated (Omodanisi et al., 2014). This highly degraded land and the accompanying pollution is a visible proof of hazards to human health.

The extensive degradation of the region has suffered a setback ecologically with an average yearly spill of 115,000 barrels which make the ecosystem the most oil-impacted in the world (Ndifon, 1998). Further research work using the GIS and remote sensing technologies to assess the spills and physical impact shows that oil spreading is continued unless proper clean-up or remediation process is undertaken, as there has been an increase of contamination from 5.14% in 1987 –2002 and 17.64% from 2002- 2004 indicating a total spread of 22.78% from 1987-2004 (Ajide and Isaac, 2013).

Drilling fluids materials contained organochloride pesticides (OCPs) and corrosion inhibitor has adverse effect on plants species (Sojinu et al., 2012). They were banned/ restricted in 1980 by the developed countries while developing countries, like Nigeria, still encourage its use because of its low cost for insects and pest control (Sojinu et al., 2012). The extent of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons contamination (Olajire et al., 2005) in the sediments of Niger Delta agreed with the work of (Sojinu et al., 2010a). Consequently, based on combined chemical analysis and bioassay toxicity, the assessment of sediments of the Niger Delta revealed that the soil contained PAHs from petrogenic and pyrolytic origin (Olajire et al., 2005).

Spill incidents include intermittent discharges of crude oil affecting the ecosystem from both land-based wastewaters and ballast water (Benson and Essien, 2009). The nonbiodegradable pollutants contrary to most pollutants have protracted impacts on the soil and adsorption properties from a large number of metallic compounds (Iwegbue et al., 2009). The spills effectively damage both flora and fauna within the environment of the contaminated soils citing an example of the Ogbodo-Isiokpo spill in the Niger Delta of 1997, the discharges from the highly pressurized crude-oil pipelines were evaluated with respect to the overall or total organic matter and total organic carbon conclude the acidic level of pH 4.2±5.6 as compared to the soil that was not polluted. This hydrocarbon contamination indication was within the range of 2.71 ± 3.48 mg/kg (Osuji and Adesiyan, 2005a), and the severely pollution of the oil drill wastes pumped from the crude oil well on the terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems and the contamination extent from the sources of PAHs (Odeyemi and Ogunseitan, 1985). Consequently, (Olajire et al., 2005) made an assessment of the sediment of petrogenic and pyrolytic sources using the bioassay and chemical analysis combined to indicate non polar aliphatic compounds of the major cause of toxicity in the sediment. The chronic and acute effects of wastes linked to the moderate and humid aquatic environmental processes which were associated with petroleum mining in the offshore regions was reviewed (Holdway, 2002) and credible solutions and applicable contingence plans were proposed by (Okogu, 1994) for the petroleum industry. He opined that the management approach to the problem should be systematic in taking advantage of Clean Nigeria Association (CNA) which is a consortium of eleven oil companies inclusive of NNPC as the main objective is to combat spills of liquid hydrocarbons and general pollutants (Nwilo and Badejo, 2006). By this measure, the ecosystem will be preserved and waste lands will be geared towards productive use (Anyakora et al., 2011).

2.4.2 Human health

There has been a dearth of figures and statistics rates in Nigeria but research carried out by (Chukwuma, 2006b) link PAHs to cancer risk among Nigerians as a result of pollution., and decreases in sperm count and fertility to humans and animals, many miscarriages could be attributed to the effects of oil crude oil exploration in the region (Azibabua et al., 2013) and the conducted research on the Histopathological effects of the Nigerian Bonny Light Crude Oil on the Ovaries and Fallopian Tubes of Pregnant Rats. Previous studies also show a causal link to cancer related issues and infertility and shows prevalence in childhood malnutrition on children at a rate of 24% increase (Azibabua et al., 2013). The petrochemical plants at Alesa Eleme in Portharcourt constitute a channel for environmental pollution which include products obtained from the various chemical processes. This threat necessitated a studies of 54 samples collected and analysed from streams and rivers of communities with public taps show contamination of aquifers (Agbalagba et al., 2013).

shows danger of mitochondrial dysfunctions and apoptosis in mammalian cells (Zheng et al., 2014), possibly contributing to cell death. Exploratory activity in parts of the Niger Delta with sediments or soils containing polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons posed real threats to the ecosystem in some areas of the two rings PAHs dominant Imo rivers and Oginni canal (Sojinu et al., 2010a), a similar work carried out in the area also revealed the carcinogen substances (Ordinioha and Brisibe, 2013a).

The contaminant is a grave source of concern as a result of the PAHs determination that was cancer related and other effects of oil spill lead to lipid oxidation as a result of ammonium metavanadate or crude oil or co-exposure to both, which has been tested with male albino rats (Mahmoud et al., 2012), and confirmed similar studies by (Sunmonu and Oloyede, 2012) on exposure to contaminated water consumption by rats with monocrotohos. This in turn leads to functional damage of the hepatocytes in activities of the transaminases and liver to the body weight ratio. There is no doubt whatsoever, that oil spillage has effect in the concentration of some inorganic cations and anions which impairs the sources of water for domestic and industrial purposes if not treated (Onyeike et al., 2002). In conclusion, the findings and present studies have shown that the Nigerian bonny light crude oil is toxic to the reproductive system of rats and this toxicity is expressed by progressive and significant ($p \le 0.05$) decreases in weight and loss of pregnancy and also confirmed by (Orisakwe et al., 2004) on research carried with the Bonny light crude oil and its adverse effects on the kidney of an animal using adult albino rats, after 7 days, the result revealed highly damaged kidney cells as fluid intake was measured daily.

2.4.3 Food Security

Oil exploration and production has created food challenges in the Niger Delta and the destruction of farmland which in turn brings poverty and hunger. The traditional means of livelihood which comprises of farming and fishing has been comprised due to lose of soil fertility, pollution of rivers and loss of forest wildlife (Abejide, 2014). The situation has gradually undermined the source of livelihood of the people and placed the region in a precarious state. Summary of loss of farmland area may be hard to quantified, however the environmental impact assessment of Ogoniland from the United Nation report (UNEP, 2011) on 76 sites (land and ground water) and the Niger Delta restoration report (FME,

2006) shows a clear example of a heavily polluted region due to oil spills (Omadjohwoefe, 2013). Soil organic content is a major requirement for healthy farm crops produces hence any reduction in pH, organic content, Nitrogen and Phosphorous affect soil fertility (Mmon and Deekor, 2010). The crude oil contaminant affects the soil fertility when spills occur; apart from the attendant effects of destruction of farmland, change in biodiversity, there is a general loss of ecosystem. Food is important for the survival of humanity, however most people in the Niger Delta live on less than \$1 per day (Bationo et al., 2007). The rapid depletion of soil organic carbon is the resultant effect of continuous cultivation of the arable land for the rapid growing population of Niger Deltas which was as a result of declining food production in the last 20 years. Long–term and acute effects on human health as a result of oil spills has been well articulated (Ordinioha and Brisibe, 2013a) that oil spills reduces household food security, as it affects both vegetables and cassava production by 40%.

In alleviating rural poverty, deficiencies in households and environmental exploitation, the need for transformation of agriculture in West Africa agro-systems with expansion of production capacity is imperative coupled with soil productivity restoration and maintenance as there is a linkage between soil fertility and soil organic matter. The environmental protection for the agro-system based should be encouraged and maintained through sustainable land management for improved soil fertility. Sustainable land management is an index of soil organic which is being used to determine the response to nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization (Bationo et al., 2007, Nandwa, 2001, Woomer et al., 1994).

2.5 Policies and management regimes in the Nigerian oil industry

Ministry of Petroleum Resources (MPR) deals with the political activities of upstream, midstream and downstream sector of the petroleum industry regarding oil spill management, comprising of DPR, NNPC, Petroleum Products Pricing Regulatory Agency (PPPRA), Petroleum Training Development Fund (PTDF) and Petroleum Equalization Fund (PEF) in Nigeria (Ambituuni et al., 2015). Of them, DPR and PPPRA are government regulators, while NNPC, PEF and PTDF are commercial, marketing and training arms respectively. Figure 2.6 shows the governmental structure for petroleum and non-

petroleum agencies, which have specific functions and responsibilities, as summarized in Table 2.4. Likewise, Federal Ministry of Environment (FME) is the governmental agencies dealing with oil spill management from environmental aspect, comprising of National Oil Spill Detection and Response Agency (NOSDRA), National Environment Standards and Regulation Enforcement Agency (NESREA), Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria (FRIN), the National Parks Service (NPS) and Environmental Health Officers' Registration Council of Nigeria (EHORECON). However, both NOSDRA and DPR have the oversight functions of oil spill management and remediation as contained in the Environmental Guidelines and Standards for the Petroleum Industry in Nigeria (EGASPIN) of 1992 and 2002. This duplication of functions has made it difficult to tackle oil spill promptly hence it hampers oil spill management. A detailed description of the agencies and functions will be attempted.



Figure 2. 6 Nigerian governmental structure for petroleum industry and oil spill management.

 Table 2. 4 Nigerian government structures for petroleum industry and oil spill management.

| | Agencies | Functions | Challenges |
|-----|----------|---|---|
| | DPR | Technical regulator for the oil and gas industry, supervising all the upstream, midstream and downstream activities of petroleum industry. | Duplicated functions with NOSDRA. |
| | NNPC | Government state owned corporation with 13 subsidiaries, covering all the upstream, midstream and downstream activities of petroleum industry. | Duplicated functions with DPR and PPPRA. |
| MPR | PPPRA | Downstream commercial petroleum regulator to determine the pricing policy of the petroleum products and regulate the supply and distribution of petroleum products for improved transparency. | Duplicated functions with DPR and NNPC. |
| | PTDF | Training and education of Nigerians in the petroleum industry: 1) Human capacity development; 2) Institutional capacity building; 3) Research and development for technology enhancement | - |
| | PEF | To ensure the mechanism of uniform pricing for oil industry. Charged with the primary responsibility of reimbursing petroleum marketing companies for any losses suffered by them, solely and exclusive, as a result of sale of petroleum products at uniform prices | - |
| | FEPA | Defunct Agency. Repealed by the NESREA Act, 2007 | - |
| FME | NESREA | Leading environmental protection agency for environmental standards and enforcement. | Duplicated functions with DPR and NOSDRA. |

| NPS | To preserve, enhance, and protection of plant life and wild faunae management in the National Reserves as a result of petroleum activities. | - | | |
|----------|--|----------------------|-----------|------|
| FRIN | To conduct research relating to wild life management, agroforestry or utilization of forest yields. | - | | |
| EHORECON | For environmental health officers to ensure that the environment is devoid of hazard and threat to human lives | - | | |
| NOSDRA | To coordinate and implement the national oil spill contingency plan. | Duplicated 1 DPR. | functions | with |

 Table 2. 5 Acts and regulations superintended by DPR.

| Acts and regulations | Functions |
|---|--|
| Oil pipelines Act (1956) | Provide for licenses granted for the maintenance of oil pipelines, including |
| | supplementary provisions in relation to oil fields, oil mining and pipelines. |
| Oil in Navigable Waters Act (1968) | Implementation of the International convention for the prevention of the |
| | pollution of the sea by oil and also makes provisions for such prevention in the |
| | navigable waters of Nigeria |
| Petroleum Regulations Act (1967) | Prohibition of discharges waste water into water sources |
| Petroleum Act (1969) | Grants the rights for exploration from the territorial waters and Nigeria's |
| | continental shelf |
| Petroleum (Drilling and Production) | Regulation setting out requirements for oil prospecting license and oil mining |
| Regulation (1969) | lease. The regulation also helps to control and prevent production pollution |
| Petroleum Refining Regulations Act (1974) | Regulation of the petroleum refining observation within the refining industry. |
| Petroleum Production and Distribution | Offence and penalty of sabotage in respect to production and distribution of |
| (Anti-Sabotage), Act (1975) | petroleum products in Nigeria. |
| Petroleum Equalization Fund (Management | Reimbursements in relation to losses suffered by petroleum marketing |
| Board), Act (1975) | companies within Nigeria as a result of sales of petroleum products at uniform |
| | prices across the country |
| Associated Gas Re-Injection Act (1979) | Phase out gas flaring in Nigeria. |
| Associated Act Reinjection Regulation | Prohibition of gas flaring and promote the re-injection of associated gas |

| (1980) | accruable from petroleum production |
|--|---|
| Crude oil (Transportation and Shipment) | Prohibition of topping and prescribe checks for vessels, ships, tankers, in |
| Regulations (1984) | transportation of crude oil engagement |
| Petroleum Products (Uniform retail prices) | Prohibits non-uniform retail price across the country and therefore negates |
| Order (1986) | products prices driven by the market forces |
| Petroleum (Drilling and | Set the right and granting licences with respect to drilling and production |
| Production/(Amendment) Regulations | matter, practices and working ethics, conservation on the field development |
| (1988) | |
| Petroleum (Amendment) Regulation (1989) | Sharing formula between NNPC and oil operating companies. |
| Petroleum (Amendment) Decree (1996) | Amended to add marginal fields |
| Petroleum Products (Prices of automotives | The bill seeks to address the pricing policy of automotive and lubricating oils |
| and lubricating oils) Order, (1996) | |
| Mineral oils (Safety) Regulations (1997) | The regulation deals with the handling of mineral oil safely. Prescribes safely |
| | standard and imposition of penalty with respect to (OMLs)Oil mining lease) |
| | and (OPLs) Oil prospecting license |
| Deep offshore and Inland Basin Production | It is about certain fiscal incentives granted to the oil and gas companies |
| Sharing Contracts Decree (1999) | operating in the deep offshore and inland basin areas underproduction sharing |
| | contract with NNPC |
| Deep offshore and Inland basin production | Basically among other things, the Act gives effect to certain fiscal incentive of |
| Sharing Contracts (Amendment) Decree | oil and gas companies in the deep offshore and Inland Basin area under the |
| (1999) | production sharing between the oil companies and NNPC on behalf of the |

| | government |
|---|--|
| Petroleum (Drilling and Production | Amendment discourages abandonment of existing wells |
| (Amendment) regulations (2001) | |
| Deepwater Block Allocation to Companies | The regulation applies to oil mining leases and oil prospecting for deep water |
| (Block-in-Rights) Regulation 2003 | blocks except those issued to NNPC |
| Oil Prospecting licenses (conversion to oil | The Act deals with the regulation effect on an oil prospecting license issued |
| mining leases, etc) Regulation (2003) | under the petroleum Act and therefore converted to oil mining lease after |
| | satisfying all conditions specified by the regulator (DPR) |
| Marginal Fields operations (Fiscal Regime) | Applicable to fiscal regimes for marginal fields operations. |
| Regulations (2005) | |
| Petroleum (Drilling and Production | The provisions for the prohibition of waste disposal of products from refining |
| (Amendment) regulations (2006) | activities are the provisions set out by the Act of 2006 |

2.5.1 DPR

DPR was established from the Nigerian National Oil Corporation (NNOC), as an affiliated department to handle the commercial operational activities in the oil industry on behalf of the Federal government of Nigeria (DPR, 2014). DPR became fully autonomous in 1975, subsequently to ministry and later renamed as MPR in 1985. As the Inspectorate it was removed from NNPC and transferred to MPR as the technical arm and finally renamed as DPR. Sequel to the Decree 33 of 1977 merged MPR and NNOC to form NNPC, DPR was under NNPC as a regulatory body. The subsumed functions of DPR include:

- To supervise all the operations in petroleum industry carried out in Nigeria, related to license, lease and permit;
- To apply field monitoring of petroleum industry operations and ensure national aspirations with respect to gas supply obligations and limiting gas flaring;
- To ensure that all the operations in petroleum industry meets with the international regulations of health, safety and environment;
- To record oil reserves, production, exports, licenses and leases during petroleum industry operations;
- To advise Nigerian government and other national agencies on techniques and public policies related to petroleum exploration activities and administration;
- To charge rents, royalties and other revenues timely and accurately on behalf of Nigerian government;
- 7) To administrate and maintain National Data Repository (NDR).

DPR released series of regulations and actions to control and mitigate the consequences from crude oil spill and contamination which necessitated the government to put in place different number of legal and policy instruments to address the issues of pollution in the oil industry since 1956. Table 2.5 summarized Acts and Regulations of the government for which the DPR exercises oversight responsibilities. The Petroleum Act of 1969 (as Amended), provides regulations for the safe working of operations in the petroleum industry coupled with the prevention of pollution of water sources and conservation of petroleum resources. It however lacks transparency in the process for the grant or award of petroleum leases, licenses and permits, as the sole responsibility is vested on the Petroleum Minister. Conversely, the drilling and Production Act of 1969, as amended in 1988, 2001 and 2006 provides for land protection, environmental protection, decommissioning of wells and procedures for abandonment wells. It also makes provisions for the licensees and lessees to mandatorily keep accurate records of the crude extracted. However, the confidentiality clauses in the lease agreement restricts transparency and accountability. In 1999, the Deep Offshore and Inland Basin Producing Sharing Contracts Decree, 1999, 2003, and marginal field operations (Fiscal Regime) Regulation 2005 was enacted as a result of the Nigerian governments interest in promoting investments in the deep off shore, the Act therefore served as an incentive scheme to expand oil and gas investments off shore. The Associated Gas re-injection Act became effective in Nigeria as part of the commitment to the Climate Change Convention (UNCCC, 1992); (Oppenheimer and Petsonk, 2005) to delimit carbon emissions and climate change. The political will to stop gas flaring is however grossly lacking. The Act mandates the submission of proposals from oil producing companies in Nigeria to submit schemes for the re-injection of all associated gas. Gas flaring has been a burning issues in the Niger Delta, in 2012 the Nigerian government signed an agreement to stop gas flaring by 2020 with the UN but the enforcement to delivered. However the dates for implementation of cessation of flaring failed and re-injection Act of the associated gas serves to weaken the Act and undermine the gas flaring cessation process and thus encourage incessant environmental pollution due to failure of enforcement.

2.5.2 FME

The Nigerian Federal Republican Constitution of 1999 by virtue of Section 20 has environmental policy as a core provision and it entails that the powers to protect, safeguard the three media; land, wet lands or water bodies, atmosphere, forest and wild life in order to improve the environment reside in the Federal Government. This is articulated in the provisions of the empowerment act of the FME (FME, 2013) this immediately came into force during the civilian administration of Chief Olusegun Obasanjo. This was in the aftermath of a protracted period of military rule in Nigeria. The objective was to reconcile Nigerian legislation and environmental law implementation with the obtainable standards in the global society. The structure of FME has some parastatals or agencies under its supervision as Federal Environmental Protection Agency (FEPA), NOSDRA, NESREA, NPS, FRIN and EHORECON. This is in addition to DPR. The ultimate challenge generated is that despite these regulatory bodies, the intransigent issues relating to the environment is still very much a concern. The problems of spill need to be taken seriously if Nigeria wants to meet up with the developed world and be part of a committee of environment protection. Table 2.7 shows Acts and regulations superintended by FME.

2.5.3 NOSDRA

NOSDRA is a non-petroleum governmental institution, which was legally approved by parliament in 2005 and started implementation since 18th October in 2006. NOSDRA has a clear vision of sustaining a zero tolerance for any incident of oil spill in the Nigerian environment, to also create and nurture ecocentric practices during exploration and exploitation. NOSDRA has thirteen clear objectives of protecting the environment:

- A national operational organization to adequately monitor major oil pollution in a timely, effective and appropriate manner.
- 2) To identify and clean-up high-risk areas.
- Monitoring of resources to save lives, with a view to protect the environment in line with best practices.
- To collaborate with other bodies like CNA to ensure maximization of facilities for implementation and assist when spills occur.
- 5) The use of combating materials and equipment and functional network system for effective response in cases of major oil pollution incidents.
- 6) To manage with a good training and drill exercise for oil pollution readiness.
- Liaison with the African sub region by requesting for cooperation, technical services and consequently for cooperation in responding to major oil incidences.
- 8) Cooperation with International Marine Organization (IMO) in view to combat oil pollution via a modern technology response to oil spill monitoring and evacuation.

- Training in the area of Research and Development (R&D) to help even local incidence pollution.
- 10) An agreement establishment with other African countries sharing common border delineation for rapid movement of equipment and other materials for activities arising from emergency oil spills.
- 11) New strategies for fighting oil spills and responses
- 12) To develop an entire audit plan for implementation.
- 13) Carry out other duties as specified in the functions or mandate.

The NOSDRA functions are summarized into surveillance, compliance, reports, coordinates, formulation, implementation, removal of substances that are hazardous to the environment by carrying out the set time objectives (NOSDRA, 2014). The establishment is subdivided into upstream and downstream operations with three levels or tier response system that are determined by the quantity of barrels spilled which can be summarized in the Table 2.6. The table shows the size of the oil spills with the agents accountable for the spill. The table also shows the coordinating body (NOSDRA) providing strategies and oversight for oil spills incidents via the establishment of a National Response and Control Centre. By the section 5 of the Act of NOSDRA, the Agency mandate among others things is to ensure timely, safely and effective and appropriate response to oil pollution and the identification of high risk and cleanup areas which is at the top priority.

2.5.4 NESREA (formerly FEPA)

The FEPA Act was replaced by the administration of FME, NESREA Act 2007 (NESREA, 2013). Its regulation is on National Effluent Limitation Regulation, Federal Solid and Hazardous Waste Management Regulations (1991), National Environment Protection (Pollution Abatement in Industries and Facilities producing Waste) Regulations (1991) which requires industry facilities to have anti-pollution equipment for the treatment of effluents, the agency has custodian of submission of industry's treated effluents, prohibition of substances that are hazardous into the air, land or water released in Nigeria beyond the approved limit as set by the Agency. The report of industries discharges and submission of comprehensive list of chemical used for production are submitted to the Agency. It

regulates the solid hazardous wastes of industries which are dangerous to public health and the environment and the possibility of recycling by research. Finally, any discharge of hazardous waste must be notified by industries to the Agency. The Agency also has the power to imposed penalty.

A similar related organization is the NESREA which is an organization under the FME and its does not have any link with oil spill management but its mandate was to enforce the relevant environmental laws or guidelines as well as policies, standards and regulations in Nigeria and also enforce compliance with the International treaty obligations, and conventions reached since Nigeria became signatory.
 Table 2. 6 Categories of oil spill and agencies responsible for operations.

| Level of Tier | Spillvolume(barrels) | Body Responsible |
|---------------|----------------------|--|
| Tier 1 | <50 | Individual body or Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and Cooperation (OPRC) |
| Tier 2 | 50-5,000 | A mutual cooperation of local bodies like CNA. |
| Tier 3 | >5,000 | Both national and international cooperation which may be either close or in a remote area from the company facilities. |

 Table 2. 7 Acts and regulations superintended by FME.

| Acts and regulations | Functions | |
|---------------------------|---|--|
| Cap 165 LFN in 1990 | Harmful waste disposal prohibition. | |
| Cap Act (1968) | The conservation of nature and natural resources reached in Africa. | |
| Cap 108 LFN 1990 | Endangered species protection. | |
| Cap 131 LFN 1990 | General guideline for federal environmental protection. | |
| Cap 1972 | Prevention of marine pollution damage. | |
| Cap 1971 | Compensation for oil pollution damage. | |
| Oil Pollution Act 1990 | Oil pollution prohibition by preventing, mitigating, cleanup and liability. | |

2.5.5 FRIN, NPS and EHORECON

FRIN, NPS and EHORECON are not directly linked to oil spill monitoring, but have the responsibilities to preserve, enhance and protect the plant and wild fauna in the National Reserves as a result of petroleum activities, and also conduct research relating to wild life management, including all facets of forestry, agroforestry or utilization of forest yields.

2.6 Challenges and perspectives

2.6.1 Policies and regulations

This resultant effect of spills eventually lead to the destruction of farmlands, groundwater and soil contamination which generally poses a threat to human health and destruction of biodiversity (Nwilo and Badejo, 2006). One major challenge in Nigeria earlier discussed is the lack of effective regulatory and management policies to address the serious issue of oil spillage. However, the government and the people acknowledge the danger that poses to the environment and the ecosystem. The pertinent question is what steps has the government taken to tackle it. The main challenges in tackling the crude oil contamination are the cost, facilities and technician's handicap to tackle the oil spill and crude oil monitoring compared to the developed society. The governments need to provide adequate fund for these agencies to operate efficiently, effectively, independently and can exercise effective technical oversight. Both DPR and NOSDRA of government bodies responsible for the monitoring of the oil spill and remediation lack resources as they suffer from shortage of senior staff and experienced staffs that lack understanding of the oil industry especially in spill management (UNEP, 2011). The monitoring and assessment activities, which are necessary aspects of the downstream over-sight functions, require expert and environmental scientists. This is crucial for an enhanced or more professional and specialized inspection of all oil spills and the duration of the clean-up. This will go a long way in curbing subsequent spills in the Niger Delta. Crude oil-contaminated sites can be monitored through self-potential processes i.e. geophysical method (Giampaolo et al., 2012). The groundwater and soils contamination by hydrocarbons is not just an environmental problem but a source of concerns, and the need for regulation and monitoring is imperative since Nigeria has been regarded as one of the worst nations in the world with discouraging environmental records (Ezeonu et al., 2012). The seriousness of oil spill in the Niger Delta could be

associated with the non-identification of the source. How spill happens and its occurrence is a serious challenge.

Initially, the region of the Niger Delta comprised of the three states (Rivers, Delta and Akwa-Ibom) with similar geographical location (Abejide, 2014). The people livelihood is basically farming, trading, lumbering, fishing, palm wine tapping, manufacturing etc. until oil exploration and production activities which destroy the livelihood, altered biodiversity and environmental degradation. For more than 48 years since oil was discovered in commercial quantity in 1956 and commercial production in 1958, there has been no wholesale reform of the Nigerian oil and gas sector legal and regulatory framework to cater for the petroleum sector apart from segmented laws and Acts. Apart from the creation of NNPC in 1977, the Minister of State Petroleum Resources held a consultation meeting called '7 Big Wins' on 14th, January 2017 in Aberdeen, Scotland to set a new charter for the industry to meet up with global standards and best practices. Oil-led development countries have been characterized by negative consequences on their social, political, and economic structures (Karl, 2007). The effect of the social and environmental at the regional and local levels were properly presented and articulated. The purport of the article was that a country dependent on oil as the primary revenue source was characterized by high levels of poverty, inequality, with slow growth rate, lack of employment, hindrances to diversification of economy, high corruption, negative health and environmental consequences at various levels, high incidences of conflict and war. This true fact presentation of (Karl, 2007) was strengthen by (Kadafa, 2012a) as many host communities has been relocated as a result of the oil spillage.

The challenges of the current policies and regulations despite the laws that were promulgated could be attributed to the following:

Poor Standards of enforcement by the regulatory bodies due to conflict of roles. A sound regulatory body with standard practices, equipped technical facilities, knowledgeable human and financial capacity will help to reduce the crude oil contamination in the region (Ladan, 2014). Conflicts of roles of regulatory bodies are one major handicap of quick and prompt response to oil spill management.

Exorbitant cost of procuring and maintaining equipment: The equipment facilities for oil spillage containment is expensive to procure, and also the cost and culture of maintenance of already procured facilities has not been encourage by government in oil spillage management

Visionless and narrow-minded attitude: The passions of the agencies employees negate the visions of the laws and Acts establishing same, as assignment are not given due diligence. The government should trained and equipped agencies through exchange of technology by ensuring adequate budgetary allocations every year.

Ignorance of the impacts of contamination due to oil spillage caused by individual, corporate or government on the short and long term effects. There should be an educational campaign of the negative impacts nationwide at the federal and state level.

Corruption and lack of transparency is a serious impediment to the enforcement of laws and regulations in Nigeria. The inability of international bodies to combat the oil spillage in conjunction with local regulatory agencies is because of hostile attitude of the host community and contribution.

A recent study by the United Nations revealed that an effective clean-up technique for spills in the Niger Delta will take about 30 years. This assessment or evaluation, however, is not taken into cognizance subsequent or future spills. The most challenging issue with the companies was that the monumental costs of clean up and land remediation after spills have occurred have resulted in outright neglect of the environment. This has resulted in unabated ecosystem degradation. More worrisome, however, is the unsavoury practice of the holding indigenous corporations and government agencies to ransom in lieu of compensation. The peculiarity of the terrains was what made the British Government in 1958 to propose special Federal Territory for the Niger Delta. After 50 years of exploration activities, the environmental degradation of the region has become worrisome and the livelihoods of the Niger Delta people threatened turning the region into wasteland and soil infertility because of oil spillage and crude oil contamination (Gbadegesin, 1997).

2.6.2 Oil spill control and monitoring

The environmental problems plaguing the Niger Delta is a re-current issue which needs urgent government attention. Presently, there are no viable environmental policies for effective ecosystem protection. In the same vein, oil spill monitoring has not been effective despite the roles of DPR and NOSDRA who have oversight regulations and EGASPIN (1992) operational guidelines, rather these agencies are concerned with data collections and also lack the technology of measuring the volumes of oil spilled. For example the unattended frequency of occurrence of the spills in the Niger Delta is as a result of lack of enforcement of the regulations relating to spill management and in most cases lack technology-know -how to combat spill. A substantial number of legislative enactments have been passed by the Nigerian Government to regulate the environment, as well as crude oil pollution arising out of industrial activity. The nagging issues that capture our attention is, despite the grand sounding names of these Acts and governmental agencies, when spills do eventually occur, how quick is the response of these Agencies? What are the instruments used to monitor these spills, how contemporary is the assessment process of these environmental risks or hazards? What are the standards or yardsticks for the measurement of the levels of pollution or degradation, what are the preventive measures that have been put in place?

Crude oil production activities have resulted in the release of petroleum effluents from the four refineries in the region. The complex constituents of crude oil and its associated products are detrimental to the ecosystem. This informed the provisions of the Oil Drilling, Production and Petroleum Exploration Act of 1969 with respect to exploration and production activities and vis-à-vis the preservation of natural resources as contained in the Act. The roles of government bodies monitoring the crude oil industrial activities have minimal impacts to the environment as result of issues affecting the duplication of regulatory bodies and more importantly, the overlapping roles (Nwilo and Badejo, 2006). NESREA, NOSDRA and DPR have oversight functions of effluents discharges from the refineries and petrochemical.

The two main approaches for crude oil monitoring are specific and non-specific methods (Wang et al., 1999). Specific determination of oil contamination, including Gas
Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS), Gas Chromatography Flame Ionization Detector (GC-FID), High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC), Two-Dimensional Gas Chromatography (GC×GC), Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometry (IRMS), Supercritical Fluid Chromatography (SFC) and thin-Layer Chromatography (TLC). All these methods can characterize the fingerprints of oils, extremely sensitive and highly automated (Wang and Fingas, 2003), but suffer from the exorbitant price and laser-heated source, low speed up analysis, and cost of analysis per time. On the other hand, the nonspecific monitoring methods include infrared spectroscopy (IR), flourescence spectroscopy, ultraviolet (UV) and gravimetric analytics. They have the advantage that preparation and analytical time is short and cheap, and used in screening of sediments for aromatic and saturated compounds. It is also applicable for the measurement of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs), contamination site assessment, petroleum products type and determination of its presence and existence in water or degradation. The disadvantage or drawdown is the lack of detailed individual component of data generated and the information of the non-specified source. This method has great limitations due to its inherent tendency of inaccuracy. Crude oil contamination will further undergo more complexity on the ecosystem due to weathering processes, microbial degradation, evaporation, photo chemical oxidation, dispersion, water oil emulsification, dissolution as the spills released into the environment. All aromatic hydrocarbons in different crude or oil have different numbers of aromatics (Wang and Fingas, 1997). Because of the inaccuracies of the non-specific monitoring method, this work will not recommend it for quick and rapid approach in crude oil monitoring in the Niger Delta.

Whole cell bioreporter is proposed as a wholly indispensable technique for application in all cases of crude oil contamination and ecological assessment. As a simple, sensitive and inexpensive method (Hansen, 2008), whole-cell bioreporter aids in compilation of information and data handling for environmental management and environmental studies in environmental sciences. Consequently, the complexity of contaminants of environmental samples thus makes it impossible for just physical or chemical interactions of chemical analysis which are unpredictable. Moreover, since risk assessment is related to bioavailability, the ability to respond rapidly, sensitively, ease of usage and cost-effectiveness are the constituents that makes it unique (Rodriguez-Mozaz et al., 2005).

Whole-cell bioreporters has very unique advantages as a result of the ease of toxicity determination and bio-availability (Zhang et al., 2013). The development of the bacterial whole cell biosensors uses live cells for sensing performance, notwithstanding its limitation of robustness and inability to reproduce (Song et al., 2012). The principle is composed of nuclei acid or proteins that are made up of biological elements consisting of regulatory genes(s), constitutive or regulated promoter(s) and the gene(s) reporter (Perumal and Hashim, 2014). The construction of the bacterial whole cell biosensors are based on behavioral protein changes or spectral properties in signal response which is known as "post-translational" biosensors. Whole –cell or tissue based biosensors are very stable and can stay for 8 weeks (Li et al., 2013, Song et al., 2009a). As such this work will recommend the use of bioreporter due to the advantage of rapid detection of genotoxicity directly over conventional chemical method and oil content in the determination of environmental pollution (Zhang et al., 2013). This is being used as a complementary tool to the chemical analysis method. Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1 are alkane degrader which can be used in the Niger Delta to sense alkanes because of his wide range with the well characterization of gene regulation (Zhang et al., 2012c). Some good examples can be found in fresh water, seawater and soil samples similar to the Niger Delta environment (Zhang et al., 2013). Owing to its significant advantages in crude oil spill management as fast and cost-effective approach, whole-cell bioreporter can also be used to curtail environmental degradation and thus act as the tool for environmental sustainability. Biosensor is defined as biotechnological tool that detects, transmit and record physiological or biochemical change (D'souza, 2001). The advantages of this tool over the conventional methods is in terms of its ability to monitor relevant toxicity, its associated swiftness and cost effectiveness (Ron, 2007). On the other hand, analytical techniques measures only concentration, while biosensors can measure toxicity because they are biologically based. The recent application and principles of biosensor (Michelini et al., 2013) and its deployment has attracted much attention through the use of smarts support, bio-inspired materials (confinement of living cells), the cost-effectiveness and portability. It requires smaller samples and can be analyzed in complex mixtures.

2.6.3 Petroleum contaminated land clean up

There have not been cases of contaminated land remediation in the Niger Delta as the legislative law of EGASPIN 1999 (and 2002 revised) has no clear-cut of responsibility. The duplicity of responsibility of both DPR and NOSDRA has created loop hole for multinationals to take advantage of non-compliance in carrying out operational activities.

Remediation entails the process of treatment of contaminated land and restoring it to its original functionality. This process could involve physical, biological or chemical treatment. Different techniques have been applied in the Niger Delta but with little result, hence it is important to adopt the bioremediation approach which is socially, economically viable and eco-friendly. Details of these approach are discussed in the next section with recommendations, however the bioremediation approach is the viable option for the Niger Delta region based on many similar studies to the Niger Delta terrains and its permanent ability to remove contaminants successfully (Zabbey et al., 2017, Mandal et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2016b, Xu et al., 2016, Sarkar et al., 2005, Sánchez-Arias et al., 2013).

Nigeria have no appropriate current legislation for remediation and clean-up although it was mentioned in EGASPIN documents, Nigeria by virtue of the Section 19 of the NOSDRA Act CAP 157 Laws of the Federation of Nigeria empowers the oil spills detection Agency to advise the government on the impacts of oil spills on the health of the people and undertake appropriate remedial and restorative actions on the environment (Ezeibe, 2011) but not until June 2016 when FME in consonance with the Federal Government of Nigeria's Environmental Renewal and Development Initiative (ERDI) proposed to undertake the Hydrocarbon Pollution Remediation Project (HYPREP) to remedy the effects of environmental pollution and degradation due to oil production activities in Ogonilands and its environs (Sam et al., 2016, Zabbey et al., 2017). This may serve as a bench-mark for all remediation activities of all contaminated land oil clean-up in the future. Remediation is the process of restoring land to its original functionality via clean-up (Antizar-Ladislao, 2008), and the approach could be physical, chemical or biological (Zabbey et al., 2017). The Physical/chemical method is aimed to stabilize (stabilization), evaporate (soil vapour extraction and thermal desorption), elute (soil washing and solvent extraction), or transform (advanced oxidation) of the residual crude oil in the soil. It has the advantage of complete crude oil removal and a short operation time but the major setback is the high cost of operation (Ferguson et al., 2004). Further remediation is needed in the enriched crude oil area through evaporation and elution treatment (Nkeng et al., 2012, JC and Mbogu, 2013, Zamani et al., 2014) which makes the option not viable in the Niger Delta region because of its complex terrains (covered by clays), carbon dioxide and greenhouse gases emissions into the surrounding environment from the chemical treatment method. None of the conventional methods are reliable than the biological methods since they are environmentally unfriendly, hence the need for drastically review of the biological method and hydrocarbon waste remediation. For example, during the Nigeria civil war in 1969, about 255ha of farm land in Ejama-Ebubu, Eleme of Rivers State was contaminated with hydrocarbon and is yet to be clean-up since there were no specific methods proved to be effective for the region (Zabbey et al., 2017, Giadom and Tse, 2015). The biological methods have attracted many attentions and there are many practical examples in the Niger Delta which includes bio-stimulation, bioaugmentation, phytoremediation and many more. Bioremediation is defined as the natural removal, reduction or transformation of organic and inorganic pollutants by living microorganisms (Wilson and Jones, 1993, Cohen, 2002, Das and Chandran, 2010). How successful is the bioremediation is dependent on the inherent biodegradability of the pollutants. The advantage of bioremediation is the comparative cost effectiveness with no deteriorating impact on the environment (Pasumarthi et al., 2013). Different methods of bioremediations application in the Niger Delta and their advantages are discussed.

Biostimulation is the approach of adding nutrients and oxygen to boost the activities and functions indigenous oil degraders. The nutrients and oxygen are the major constituents the microbes needed to create the necessary enzymes to break down contaminants. Research depict that "organic matter content and soil-nutrient status with a 400kg/ha rate of poultry manure application" was effectively applied in the studies of crude-oil pollution soils to ameliorate its content which was successful, however, this research was done in small scale (Ogboghodo et al., 2005). Similarly, a related work was carried out (Adesodun and Mbagwu, 2008, Orji et al., 2012) and was only successful in small scale. The fertilizer applications applied to the farmland has the disadvantage of toxic nature to waterways, humans and marine ecosystem because it contained tributyltin compounds. The

antifoulingpaint was banned in 2008 because of its negative impact (Du et al., 2014). Minimal results were achieved by the use of fertilizer at 2 ton/ha rate for about 5 weeks in the oil contaminated soil, which indicates a possible application of bioremediation (Chorom et al., 2010), however, the application of fertilizers increased the concentrations of nutrients and enhanced the biodegradation in the petroleum-polluted agricultural soils. This processes was remediated (Ayotamuno et al., 2006) in the areas that was contaminated by major spills as the physicochemical parameters are altered leading to the environmental degradation. In remediating the land, the bio-stimulation method with fertilizers and moisture content for an agricultural research (Ayotamuno et al., 2006). The result revealed a decrease in total petroleum hydrocarbons after six weeks remediation, except for the control cell which was due to anaerobic conditions as the rate of fertilizer affect the rate of degradation. This research revealed that effective bioremediation for agricultural soils should be done preferably in a dry season of the Nigerian climate with Nitrogenous-based fertilizers in an applicable range of 4.7 and 12.5 ton/ha.

Alternatively, bioaugmentation increases the oil degradation performance by adding indigenous or exogenous petroleum degrading microorganisms into the contaminated sites. This process is to assist the stress microorganisms that is not capable of biodegrading the contaminants. Case studies were presented of different countries where bio-augmentation has been applied and its recommendations with strict regulation. The process recommends a combination of bio-stimulation and bio-augmentation and hope will be a viable option in remediating contaminated sites in the Niger Delta (Adams et al., 2015).

Plant can be also introduced as an approach to promote oil degradation as phytoremediation. Naturally, in the ecosystem, plants acts as filters and metabolized substances generated by nature. Phytoremediation is an emerging technology but have a disadvantage of high cost and long period of operation. This method has been applied in the Niger Delta using the water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*)" treatment which show positive result of remediating crude oil contaminated soil at 1 and 3% but has disadvantage of prevailing factor in the whole process of remediation and cannot be used for large scale contamination (Udeh et al., 2013).

Enhanced natural attenuation process (ENAP) is another method applied in Niger Delta (Akpan et al., 2013), and the subcritical process for remediation was tested in lab-scale studies. The experimental results show that a high efficiency remediation of hydrocarbons like "lubricating oils, diesel fuels and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAHs)" removal in a range of 77% and 91-99% was observed respectively under temperature influence, and pressure. The RENA method operated by industry operators and regulators in Nigeria is the popular method adopted for the Niger Delta terrains. The lithology challenge of sites in the Niger Delta makes it difficult for effective means of remediation especially where the spilled oil has percolated the soil beyond 5m and the aquifers of the groundwater has been altered (Zabbey et al., 2017, Ebuehi et al., 2005, Orji et al., 2012). However, only small farm settlement remediation was successful (Ebuehi et al., 2005) but it is quite time consuming and it requires strict monitoring during the process. Adherence strictly to standard practices and the mitigation measures for all the cases against RENA is documented in some reviews especially in (Orji, 2012).

Bioreactor is a process that treats contaminated soils and sludges in a bioreactor by extraction and biodegradation (Riser-Roberts, 1998). Bioreactor method is an ex-situ treatment and more friendly environmental approach but has a limitation of capital because it requires soil evacuation. Studied described the technique of bioreactor based treatment as having advantage over all other treatments through phytoremediation, bioventing, composting, bio-filtration, land-farming, bio-sparing and bio-piling of the land with a success and also the advantage of putting the environment in an optimum controlled condition for the hydrocarbon biodegradation. The enhancer (namely NPK fertilizer, poultry litter and urea fertilizer) for the biodegradation of the pollutants in the seven stirred tank bioreactors was used for a similar research to test the scale of remediated hydrocarbons in a degraded mangrove swamp using nutrients of cow dung on one of the site (Chikere et al., 2012, Orji et al., 2012). The method has a similar disadvantage of inadequate transfer of technology on an industrial scale. The restoration of mangrove swamps through bioremediation technology will give hope to the people of the region when a large scale pilot is researched in the future. The degrading harmful organic component is being achieved by the spontaneous movement of the activity impacted by bacteria, algae, fungi which produce the enzymes. The improvement of the soil pH, original soil status, soil

fertility and soil quality was introduced by (Adekunle et al., 2012) using a locally resourced material which was designed to fit the heterogenous complexities and multiphasic of the Niger Delta contaminated environment. This use of the bioremediation agent (Ecorem) applied in solving and assessing the effect of remediating in an oil polluted soil assessed the importance and benefits of (1) Looking at petroleum product spill on the soil pH with his attended effect, (2) The ability to predict the purposes of the products-soil ratio simulation on the soil pH, (3) the product-soil ratio on soil pH influences and (4) the ability and impact to remediate the soil using localized product on the soil pH while comparing it to original status of the soil and remediated matrix. In carrying bioremediation studies, an enrichment culture is a choice of separation of microorganisms present in the contaminated soil. In the treatment of oil-contaminated samples, the enrichment culture shows a great potential as culture that can be used. However, it has been recently acknowledged that in the subsurface oil biodegradation, the primary agent is an aerobic bacterium which occurs in oil/water contacts. (Taylor et al., 2001) draw his conclusion that an increase biodegradation and concentration of phenol reduction C_0+C_1 are predominantly typical of Nigeria oils. The research shows that crude oil samples of alkanes range from C_{12} to C_{42} with occurrence of lighter alkanes indicate that the spillage is recent. The pattern of degradation of the alkanes is such that the rate of degradation decreases with increase of the carbon number. The higher the alkanes number of carbon, the longer it takes to degrade the alkane because the solubility of hydrocarbons decreases with the increase in molecular weight as the resultant effect of P. aeruginosa and E. fergusonii that was present in crude oil showed great potential in degrading hydrocarbon. The biological treatment of soil (bioremediation), in-optimum environmental conditions, is essential in the removal of hydrocarbon as a result of spills resulted from blowouts, vandalization or equipment failures. A computer-based system was used for investigation and selection of remediation technologies in petroleum-contaminated soils in Romania. The ability for the computerbased system to assess the pollutants, the estimated migration and the preliminary soil investigations provided that the recommendation has a high advantage (Dunea et al., 2014), although this methodologies are not quite popular in the Niger Delta despite the common usage of the software in the region. However, the ability of specialists to classify it into six major areas of decision support makes it a viable option. The six major classifications are nature and contamination extent, data from site characterization, remedial action, data worth, risk from human health and economic cost/benefit, since no single technique/technology may be considered as a solution or panacea for all contaminated sites problems (Riser-Roberts, 1998).

The disadvantages of the physical/chemical methods make the application of nanoparticles in environmental bio-sensing and bioremediation solution to remediate the Niger Delta environment with a view to commencing pilot studies, as research intensifies. Bio-sensing and bioremediation have been regarded as the most cost effective and reliable techniques to solve such problems. With the recent development of nanotechnology, the combination of nanoparticles and biological process is successful in enhancing measurement accuracy, improving bioremediation efficiency and broadening biochemical application in environmental research (Zhang et al., 2012c). This serves to propose risk assessment and bioremediation as crucial strategies for the Nigerian government to curtail further environmental devastation and promote ecosystem rehabilitation.

2.6.4 Sustainable development

The World Commission on environment and development and subsumed in the Brundtland Commission report (1987) is hinged on sustainable development. This report defines sustainable development as '*The development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs*'. This idea comprises of two remarkable concepts. First, the concept of **needs**, in particular the essential needs of the world's poor, to which overriding priority should be given. Secondly, the idea of **limitations** imposed by the state of technology and social organization on the environment's ability to meet present and future needs.'

All definitions of sustainable development require that we see the world as a system connecting both space and time. Based on the above concept of sustainable development, the Niger Delta region belongs to the world's poor and therefore requires special attention on all three pillars of sustainability so as to achieve environmental protection and enhancement in the region. Lack of enforcement of environment policy which is aimed at achieving sustainable development creates an insecure environment and at such secured the inequality environment for the well beings and health status of the Niger Delta.

Going by the enormous environmental impacts caused by oil spills, the government should include or modify the proposed Petroleum Industry Bill (PIB) to contain stiff penalties with a view to serve as major deterrents in the oil spill prevention policies. For example, the cost implication of Deep Water Horizon oil spill at the Gulf of Mexico is above \$28 billion, as the penalty and claim for compensations (50%) and clean-up operations (50%) (Ramseur and Hagerty, 2013). It would also be necessary to include clauses in the bill requiring petroleum industries to remediate the environment of future spill occurrence caused by the oil exploration and Production companies. As derived from the PIB (PIB, 2012) the responsibilities of the downstream sector should contain parts of the bill that deals with the remediation areas as part of the core downstream operations which would include the full implementation of environmental policies and objectives circumscribed in HSSE initiatives. This is crucial for an enhanced or more professional and specialized inspection of all oil spills and the duration of the clean-up thus curbing subsequent spills in the Niger Delta.

The 2015 bill envisages that Downstream Petroleum Regulatory Agency (DPRA) would maximally acquire the responsibilities of the downstream subsector. One of the core areas of the downstream operations would include the full implementation of Environment policies and objectives as circumscribed in HSSE initiatives. One of the strong objectives of DPRA in Post PIB is effective and ecocentric downstream operations in order to promote environmental interests and concerns as necessary agents in achieving sustainable development and viable economy. As a regulator, the DPRA will be saddle with the responsibility of formulating and enforcing policy which will cut across environmental, marketing and other areas of operations within the industry (pages 31- 42 of the proposed PIB), especially pages (33d-e, 42e), on Downstream Petroleum functions in (V- page 115, emphasis on pages 121b section 232, 124d section 240, 126b section 244, and 134 c-d section 260). All of these are now subsumed in the 2015 bill that proposed ONE petroleum regulatory body.

More importantly, at some points there will be collaboration between the Inspectorate and the Agency with FME and other relevant government agencies where environmental issues and policies standout in Part VII- Health, Safety and Environment section 289-293. Income shall be generated from Players that circumvent the law from environmental impact assessment reports and evaluation and other related environmental matters for the Agency (page 42e). Environmental quality management as in the upstream sector in page 102, 1-8 as integration between both sectors of the government arm. These actions if implemented will protect and preserves the environment in the near future.

The current strategies of monitoring crude oil contamination is based on Joint Investigation Visit and lack credence when subjected to SWOT analysis (Rim-Rukeh, 2015) which does not embrace the visual observations of Ultrasonic Thickness Measurement currently being use by some multinational. The failure of JIV has created doubt in the communities, since most time the communities were not involved in the process from the onset due to observed poor governance.

In securing the effectiveness of oil spill management, third party involvement is crucial and public awareness through social involvement in environmental protection against oil exploration and contamination. This public awareness campaign both from the side of the government and stakeholders, and effective communication similar to what is obtainable in the UK will curb the challenges of lacking technology and stakeholder engagement (Cundy et al., 2013, Geaves and Penning-Rowsell, 2016). Also, the defects in government structure, complexity of the terrain and dynamic nature of the environment for an effective land remediation in the region of the Niger Delta will be overcome.

2.7 Review on bioreporters (Biosensors)

2.7.1 Introduction

Bioreporter has the advantage of rapid detection of genotoxicity directly over conventional chemical method and oil content in the determination of environmental pollution and asses the risk that is associated with the environment (Zhang et al., 2013) which is being used as a complementary tool to the chemical analysis method. Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1 are alkane degrader which can be used in the Niger Delta to sense alkanes because of his wide range of lengths (carbons range from 7- 36) with the well characterization of gene regulation (Zhang et al., 2012c). Typical examples of this method have been used in fresh water, seawater and soil samples as illustrated by (Zhang et al., 2013). The use of Whole cell biosensor is becoming popular for the detection of toxicity and environmental pollution

and also for the monitoring and evaluation of oil spills. It can also be used to curtail environmental degradation and thus act as tool for environmental sustainability.

(Ron, 2007) highlighted the advantages of this tool over the conventional methods in terms of its ability to monitor relevant toxicity, and its associated application swiftness and cost effectiveness. On the other hand, analytical techniques measure only concentration, while biosensors can measure toxicity because they are biologically based. The application and principles of reviewed on biosensor technique is a welcomed development because in recent times, the deployment of biosensor has attracted much attention by the use of smarts support and bio-inspired materials to the confinement of living cells (Michelini et al., 2013). This design has the advantage of cost –effectiveness and portability.

The signals used in the biosensors could be thermal, electrical or optical detector with specific biochemical reactions capacities, using whole cells, organelles, immunosystems, tissues or isolated enzymes to detect chemical compounds. Certain parameter makes the biosensor development for on-site analysis challenging, whether for food, environmental, or clinical, since its requires rapidity as relating to real-time analysis, high sensitivity, selectiveness, robustness, simple to operate, non-preliminary sample treatment when incorporated in the development of whole-cell biosensors. Despite that in chemical and drug sample analysis, living cells are used in the detection of physiological changes with response to the sample concentration, hydrocarbons likewise response to similar physiological changes with regards to different analyte, or its classes. That notwithstanding the development of whole cell biosensors to meet up all the features the above detailed properties will be nearly impossible (Michelini et al., 2013). Therefore, integration of living cells into a device with a close contact of traducer using a high detector in optical biosensor by immobilization or encapsulation is what whole biosensors requires.

The whole- cells biosensors is different from other biosensing configurations because of the use of cells as biorecognition elements which enable information obtainability about the bioavailability of chemicals and the corresponding effect. The application of whole-cell biosensor in the environmental monitoring has also be researched by(Elad and Belkin, 2012, Zhang et al., 2012c, Jouanneau et al., 2012) and most recently (Michelini et al., 2013) took into consideration the advantage of genetically modified bioluminescent (BL), and

enabling biosensors integration for the use of portable field deployable device with excellent analytical performance. Notwithstanding, the short comings of the commercial production of whole- cell biosensors and their poor robustness in response to temperature and pH which are very important for each enzyme to work/function maximally in the active center of the enzyme ionized state i.e. where there is proton donor or proton accepting group which occur inside the range for which the binding substrate is possible. With the use of photomultiplier tubes, biolumininescene has the advantage of high detectability of genetically modified bioluminescent (BL). However, the problem of immobilize or encapsulate BL Whole-cell biosensors as a consequence of long- term storage before integration into portable analytical devices must be critically examined. (Michelini et al., 2013) has been able to demonstrate how bacteriophages recently used in living biosensors for field application after an 8 month storage period as bacteriophage-based detection has excellent biosensing potential. However, the limitation is the degradation of the shell that cannot be controlled since spore germinates. In the design and fabrication of fielddeployable devices, Genetic modified organisms(GMOs) must be taken into consideration, as regulatory framework for whole-cell biosensors may be a source of concern in the field – deployable device in order to maximize the risk of GMOs spreading as cautioned by the European Union(French et al., 2011). Improving the device for effective performance was well presented in a review by (Michelini et al., 2013). (Ron, 2007) has shown the instrument's advantages over chromatographic methods applied in the measurement of the total pollutant, rather than measuring changes on-line processes coupled with the detection of only the biological active pollutant and toxicity which is the inverse response of the biological active pollutant.

The recent whole-cell biosensor that makes use of the electrochemical expression gene monitored of the pollutant in online and in-situ that are suitable unlike the "whole cell" man-made 'biosensors that is constructed by fusing a pollutant-responsive gene promoter. This biosensors technology is man-made based on DNA recombinant such as the Escherichia Coli E- 12 strain which is used for the aromatic hydrocarbons detection.

2.7.2 Biosensors Construction and Development

When a bioreceptor is combined with a transducer, a biosensor is made. Two main constituents are important, the promoter and the reporter gene, being the basic requirements for the construction of biosensors. The bioreceptor is a biomolecule that recognizes the target (analyte), whereas the traducer converts the recognition event into a measurable signal. Whole-cell man-made biosensors entail the combination of a promoter and a promoterless reporter gene and the choice of choosing a promoter is of a primary important. Transducers used primarily in the construction of biosensors are thermometric, acoustic devices, photometric and electrochemical. Of all of the above mentioned transducers, amperometric biosensors have been very dominant in both commercial applicability as well as in research as a result of flexibility and simplicity. In choosing a responsive promoter, the key consideration is being sensitive and specifically knowing that the systems that are biological based are highly stimulus (sensitive). Bacterial gene promoters do not only detect groups of compounds, but also specific since hydrocarbons can be detected by vapor as well as heavy metal in concentration detection by the bacterial promoters gene as low as part per billion (Biran et al., 2000, Ron, 2007).

The other constituents have enzyme that are usually encodes and catalyzes the reaction, thus enabling an easy monitoring process. In this case, enzymes are useful indicators of good reporters in biosensors construction, owing to the catalytic nature of the enzymatic reaction. This make the choice of gene expression for on-line in-situ monitoring for electrochemical measurements highly recommendable due to its ability to employ a compact analyzer, highly sensitive, reproducible and disposable electrodes viable option. Other advantages are in the measurement of crude or turbid solution and its wide spread applicability in the monitoring of gene expression in yeasts, bacteria, and mammalian tissue cultures(Ron, 2007). Similarly, the bacterial choice is dictated by its population size, rapid growth rate, reduced expense and maintenance cost, coupled with the ability to tailored them makes it an option for pollution monitoring. (Dennison and Turner, 1995), showed how the use of different enzymes for the construction of biosensors for environmental monitoring of effluents can be categorized into three phases of the environment, i.e. soil, water and air. The construction of the biosensors was not only portable but its mass production potential leads to low manufacturing cost. One area of biosensors which is very

important in biosensors development is the immobilization of cells. The immobilization methods entails physical adsorption or chemical that is entrapment that is within a membrane or gel physically, covalent binding or molecules that is cross linking attached to the sensor surface as a biological recognition element, with instances reported in (Rogers, 2006).

(Belkin, 2003) reviewed whole cell using microbial sensing systems of pollutants in the environment. An approach that complements the biosensors with the traditional method of chemical or physical analysis. The reporter gene that has been generally used for several years are the environmental microbial sensor system as reporting elements, however, the versatile fluorescent has played a very noticeable role in the past few years as a protein genes(Southward and Surette, 2002, Zhang et al., 2002) with increases of popularity and acceptability. Bioluminescence bacterial genes has played conspicuous role over the years in an environmental sensor as a reporting elements. The similarity of bioluminescence and fluorescence was well captured as bioluminescence has much sensitivity detection capacity and faster rate than fluorescence in relation to the targeting analyte, as the enigmatic activities was a measure of bioluminescence as opposed to the fluorescence that has the protein presence quantified.

2.7.3 Various Types of Biosensors

Different biosensors with contrasting applications have been reviewed by (Ezeonu et al., 2012), based on their sensing component. The three basic biosensors are classified accordingly are molecular, cellular and tissue with basic advantages and disadvantages bearing in mind, the requirements. The Enzymes –based biosensors, Antibody-based biosensors (immunosensors) and the DNA-based biosensors.

2.7.3.1 Enzymes –based biosensors

These enzymes –based biosensors were first used in the 1960s by Leyland Clark and consist of glucose oxidase. The enzymes are immobilized by an oxygen electrode for blood glucose sensing. (Ripp et al., 2010) shows its wide application which is quite lucrative in the medical diagnosis. The ability of the enzymes to act as organic catalyst helps the reactions transformation from substrate into products; (Ezeonu et al., 2012) however, the enzymes based biosensors are not always steady as a result of instability of enzymes. The

requirement of the enzymes reactions where complex co-factors exits are critical, regeneration of these factors thus becomes enigmatic which can only be resolved by circumvention of using enzymes that are stable at high temperatures which are naturally available from thermophilic microorganisms (Luong et al., 1988).

2.7.3.2 Antibody – based biosensors (immunosensors)

Antibody -based biosensors (immunosensors) make use of antibodies as recognition elements. Their advantages are simply seen in its binding stability, highly specific and target analytes (substance or antigens) is very strong (Ripp et al., 2010). Its application cut across polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and other pollutants. Their wide use of environment monitors as effective detector is traceable to their functions. The Automated Water Analyzer Computer Supported System (AWACSS) is the best introduced antibody-based biosensing in environmental monitoring system which is applicable as unattended, remote and continuous check of hydrocarbons pollutants for control in water quantity (Ezeonu et al., 2012). To be used for targeted groups of contaminants, AWACSS applies optical evanescent wave transducer and polyclonal antibodies flourescently labelled for multiplexed detection, as the pre-incubation step is usually short in about 5 minutes. Antibody-based biosensor are more versatile than enzyme-based biosensors because of their bonding range of affinities, however, their limitation is seen for environmental monitoring application that has an assay that are complex and the number of reagents are also specialized (Rogers, 2006). Other aspects of application of antibody-based biosensors are monitoring of environmental substances in the areas of pesticides, herbicides, and their analytes (target) are considerably broadened over the years include explosives (TNT and RDX), phenols, toxins like microcystin, endocrine disruptions and pharmaceutical compounds, with application technique of microbial biosensor summarized in (Su et al., 2011).

2.7.3.3 DNA- based Biosensors

These are biosensors that monitor a change in the nuclei acid's structure using a transducer. It usually occurs when target chemical is exposed with the changes in the structure which brought about mutagenic nature of the chemical as a result of mutations, and with the attachment of nuclei acid by the chemical's ability to non-covalently or covalently bonding (Ezeonu et al., 2012, Ripp et al., 2010). The biosensor immobilization is a function of nuclei acid as a recognition layer on the transducer surface. The provision of overall potential harmfulness in terms of genotoxicity, carcinogenicity and cytotoxicity chemical is what nuclei acid biosensors is, thus are generally non-selective. These DNA electrochemical biosensors has been used for environmental monitoring, as (Wang et al., 1997), reviewed different effort in copulation of nuclei acid recognition layers with the electrochemical transducers. Its stability advantage and sythesization for repeated use by regeneration over the enzymes or antibodies biosensors, and played a major role in the environmental monitoring assessment. Example of DNA biosensors of specific analyte microbial and viral pathogens are the chronopotentionmetric hybridization biosensors. An illustration of a conventional DNA biosensor with a double-stranded DNA immobilization on a single –use disposable screen. These biosensors used to screen soil samples make use of battery-powered potentiostat electrochemical cell operating system (Bagni et al., 2005, Sassolas et al., 2008) and the workability of the DNA biosensors and its application in PAHs detection in the bile of fish using the accumulation of PAH compounds as was monitored in the contaminated water by (Lucarelli et al., 2003) was presented in (Ezeonu et al., 2012).

2.8 Conclusion

The Niger Delta requires thorough oil spill management to curb its high detrimental impact on the people and the environment. This work gives a details summary to the Acts and Regulations functions superintended by DPR and 13 years gap of crude oil spillage data, summarize oil spill disaster in the region, analyzed government structure for petroleum industry and agencies with challenges of duplication of functions. Consequently, the Nigerian oil and gas regulatory framework and FME must have a clear-cut function without duplications of responsibilities in order to overcome the challenges crude oil spillage monitoring is currently facing in the region. Most importantly the EGASPIN rules and guidelines issued in 1992 and re-issued in 2002 as operational working documents for environmental issues by both government agencies (DPR and NOSDRA) must be revisited by the National Assembly to give clear interpretation to those grey areas. The proposed bill before the parliament must be passed without delay to solve the lingering problem of crude oil contamination and also to overcome the challenges of functions duplication. The effects of oil spillage is real threats to food security, social and environmental deterioration, mangrove ecosystem decline, loss of livelihood, potential cumulative effects of carcinogenic related diseases and reduction in life expectancy will be mitigated through education and public enlightenment by both the multinational and the government. Biosensing and bioremediation have been regarded as the most cost effective and reliable techniques to solve such problems with zero impacts to climate change. With the recent development of nanotechnology, the combination of nanoparticles and biological process will be successful in enhancing measurement accuracy, improving bioremediation efficiency and broadening biochemical application in environmental research. This combination serves as risk reduction in Niger Delta environment oil spillage management assessment and bioremediation which is crucial strategy that can be adopted by the Nigerian government to curtail further environmental devastation and promote ecosystem rehabilitation.

Whole –cell or tissue based biosensors are very stable within 8 weeks and considering the distance of biosensor application between the laboratory and the field work, it can unravel that or can offer information about bioavailability and ecological toxicity uniqueness for the monitoring and assessment of the crude oil contamination in the Niger Delta. The Whole -cell bioreporter (biosensor) will serve as a revolutionary approach for crude oil contamination and ecological assessment in Nigeria and this can be further modified for purposes of encouraging technical support and expediting regulation and policy measures in the Niger Delta.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank the Department of Petroleum Resources (DPR, Nigeria), the Petroleum Technology Development Fund (PTDF/E/OSS/PHD/EOE/500/11, Nigeria) and National Natural Science Foundation of China (41301331) for financial support in chemical and biological analysis.

References

ABEJIDE, T. S. 2014. Oil and the Ijaw people of the Niger Delta States: 1956 to 1998.

- ADAMS, G. O., FUFEYIN, P. T., OKORO, S. E. & EHINOMEN, I. 2015. Bioremediation, biostimulation and bioaugmention: a review. *International Journal of Environmental Bioremediation & Biodegradation*, 3, 28-39.
- ADEKUNLE, A. A., ADEKUNLE, I. M. & TOBIT, O. 2012. Assessing the effect of bioremediation agent made from local resource materials in Nigeria on soil pH. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 3, 526-532.
- ADELANA, S. O., ADEOSUN, T., ADESINA, A. O. & OJUROYE, M. O. 2011. Environmental pollution and remediation: challenges and management of oil Spillage in the Nigerian coastal areas. *American Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research*, 2, 834-845.
- ADENIRAN, A. 1999. *BITUMEN DEMAND AND SUPPLY SITUATION IN NIGERIA*. FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY AKURE.
- ADESODUN, J., DAVIDSON, D. & MBAGWU, J. 2008. Soil quality assessment of an oil-contaminated tropical Alfisol amended with organic wastes using image analysis of pore space. *Geoderma*, 146, 166-174.
- ADESODUN, J. K. & MBAGWU, J. S. C. 2008. Distribution of heavy metals and hydrocarbon contents in an alfisol contaminated with waste-lubricating oil amended with organic wastes. *Bioresource Technology*, 99, 3195-3204.
- AGBALAGBA, E. O., AVWIRI, G. O. & ONONUGBO, C. P. 2013. Activity concentration and radiological impact assessment of 226 Ra, 228 Ra and 40 K in drinking waters from (OML) 30, 58 and 61 oil fields and host communities in Niger Delta Region of Nigeria. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 116, 197-200.
- AGHALINO, S. O. & EYINLA, B. 2009. Oil exploitation and marine pollution: Evidence from the Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Journal of Human Ecology*, 28, 177-182.
- AJIDE, O. M. & ISAAC, O. O. 2013. An assessment of the physical impact of oil spillage using GIS and remote sensing tTechnologies: Empirical Evidence from Jesse Town, Delta State, Nigeria. *British Journal of Arts & Social Sciences*, 12, 235-252.
- AKPAN, E. E., OGBOI, K. C. & NWADINIGWE, C. A. 2013. Bioremediation of hydrocarbon polluted soil in the lowland forest ecosystem in the Niger Delta

through enhanced natural attenuation process (ENAP). *International Journal of Applied Science and Technology*, 3, 128-137.

- AKPOMUDJERE, O. 2011. Overview of petroleum activities in Nigeria. 5th Data Management Conference. West African Ghana.
- AKURU, U. B. & OKORO, O. I. 2011. A Prediction on Nigeria's Oil Depletion Based on Hubbert's Model and the Need for Renewable Energy. ISRN Renewable Energy, 2011, 6.
- AMBITUUNI, A., AMEZAGA, J. M. & WERNER, D. 2015. Risk assessment of petroleum product transportation by road: A framework for regulatory improvement. *Safety science*, 79, 324-335.
- AMIGUN, J. O., ADELUSI, A. O. & AKO, B. D. 2012. The application of integrated geophysical methods in oil sand exploration in Agbabu area of Southwestern Nigeria. *Internation Research Journal of Geology and Mining*, 243-253.
- ANTIZAR-LADISLAO, B. 2008. Environmental levels, toxicity and human exposure to tributyltin (TBT)-contaminated marine environment: A review. *Environmental International*, 34, 292-308.
- ANYAKORA, C., COKER, H. & ARBABI, M. 2011. Application of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in chemical fingerprinting: The Niger Delta case study. *Journal of Environmental Health Science & Engineering*, 8, 75-84.
- APRIOKU, I. M. 2003. Oil-spill disasters and the rural hazardscape of Eastern Nigeria. *Geoforum*, 34, 99-112.
- AUDU, A., JIMOH, A., ABDULKAREEM, S. A. & LAWRENCE, O. 2016. Economics and environmental impacts of oil exploration and exploitation in Nigeria. *Energy Sources, Part B: Economics, Planning, and Policy,* 11, 251-257.
- AYOTAMUNO, J. M., OKPARANMA, R. N. & AMADI, F. 2011. Enhanced remediation of an oily sludge with saline water. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 5, 262-267.
- AYOTAMUNO, M. J., KOGBARA, R. B., OGAJI, S. O. T. & PROBERT, S. D. 2006. Petroleum contaminated ground-water: Remediation using activated carbon. *Applied Energy*, 83, 1258-1264.

- AZIBABUA, E. E., AYAKEME, T. & EBIERE, E. J. 2013. The histopathological effects of Nigeria bonny light crude oil on the ovaries and fallopian tubes of pregnant rats. *Scholars Journal of Applied Medical Sciences*, 1, 502-505.
- BAGNI, G., HERNANDEZ, S., MASCINI, M., STURCHIO, E., BOCCIA, P. & MARCONI, S. 2005. DNA biosensor for rapid detection of genotoxic compounds in soil samples. *Sensors*, 5, 394-410.
- BATIONO, A., KIHARA, J., VANLAUWE, B., WASWA, B. & KIMETU, J. 2007. Soil organic carbon dynamics, functions and management in West African agroecosystems. *Agricultural systems*, 94, 13-25.
- BELKIN, S. 2003. Microbial whole-cell sensing systems of environmental pollutants. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 6, 206-212.
- BENSON, N. U. & ESSIEN, J. P. 2009. Petroleum hydrocarbons contamination of sediments and accumulation in Tympanotonus fuscatus var. radula from the Qua Iboe Mangrove Ecosystem, Nigeria. *Current Science*, 96, 238-244.
- BIRAN, I., BABAI, R., LEVCOV, K., RISHPON, J. & RON, E. Z. 2000. Online and in situ monitoring of environmental pollutants: electrochemical biosensing of cadmium. *Environmental Microbiology*, 2, 285-290.
- CHIKERE, C. B., CHIKERE, B. O. & OKPOKWASILI, G. C. 2012. Bioreactor-based bioremediation of hydrocarbon-polluted Niger Delta marine sediment, Nigeria. *3 Biotech*, *2*, 53-66.
- CHOROM, M., SHARIFI, H. S. & MOTAMEDI, H. 2010. Bioremediation of a crude oilpolluted soil by application of fertilizers. *Iranian Journal of Environmental Health Science & Engineering*, 7, 319-326.
- CHUKWUMA, M. 2006. Crude oil pollution raises cancer risk among Nigerians. African cancer center, Lagos, Nigeria. Available at: http://www.africancancercenter.com/#!Crude-oil-pollution-raises-cancer-riskamong-Nigerians/c17jj/73A53B01-7AEE-45E2-A3AC-334A7D3EF477 [Accessed 4/1/2015].
- COHEN, Y. 2002. Bioremediation of oil by marine microbial mats. *International Microbiology*, 5, 189-193.

- CUNDY, A. B., BARDOS, R. P., CHURCH, A., PUSCHENREITER, M., FRIESL-HANL, W., MÜLLER, I., NEU, S., MENCH, M., WITTERS, N. & VANGRONSVELD, J. 2013. Developing principles of sustainability and stakeholder engagement for "gentle" remediation approaches: The European context. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 129, 283-291.
- D'SOUZA, S. 2001. Microbial biosensors. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 16, 337-353.
- DAHL, E., LAAKE, M., TJESSEM, K., EBERLEIN, K. & BOHLE, B. 1983. Effects of Ekofisk crude oil on an enclosed planktonic ecosystem. *Marine ecology progress series. Oldendorf*, 14, 81-91.
- DAS, N. & CHANDRAN, P. 2010. Microbial degradation of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminants: an overview. *Biotechnology research international*, 1-13.
- DENNISON, M. & TURNER, A. P. 1995. Biosensors for environmental monitoring. *Biotechnology advances*, 13, 1-12.
- DICKSON, U. J. & UDOESSIEN, E. I. 2012. Physicochemical studies of Nigeria's crude oil blends. *Pet Coal*, 54, 243-251.
- DPR 2014. Department of Petroleum Resources, <u>https://dpr.gov.ng/index/</u> [Accessed 3 March 2015].
- DU, J., CHADALAVADA, S., CHEN, Z. & NAIDU, R. 2014. Environmental remediation techniques of tributyltin contamination in soil and water: A review. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 235, 141-150.
- DUNEA, D., IORDACHE, S., POHOATA, A. & FRASIN, L. B. N. 2014. Investigation and Selection of Remediation Technologies for Petroleum-Contaminated Soils Using a Decision Support System. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution,* 225, 1-18.
- EBUEHI, O., ABIBO, I., SHEKWOLO, P., SIGISMUND, K., ADOKI, A. & OKORO, I. 2005. Remediation of crude oil contaminated soil by enhanced natural attenuation technique.
- EGBERONGBE, F. O., NWILO, P. C. & BADEJO, O. Oil spill disaster monitoring along Nigerian Coastline. 5th FIG Regional Conference, Accra, Ghana, March, 2006. 8-11.
- ELAD, T. & BELKIN, S. 2012. Whole-cell biochips for online water monitoring. *Bioengineered*, 3, 124-128.

EPA 2011. Crude Oil Category Assessment Document. Crude Oil Category.

- ETKIN, D. S. 1999. Historical Overview of Oil Spills from All Sources (1960–1998). International Oil Spill Conference Proceedings, 1999, 1097-1102.
- EZEIBE, K. K. 2011. The Legislative and Institutional Framework of Environmental Protection in the Oil and Gas Sector in Nigeria–A Review. *Nnamdi Azikiwe University Journal of International Law and Jurisprudence*, 2.
- EZEONU, C. S., TAGBO, R., ANIKE, E. N., OJE, O. A. & ONWURAH, I. N. 2012. Biotechnological tools for environmental sustainability: prospects and challenges for environments in Nigeria—a standard review. *Biotechnology research international*, 2012.
- FERGUSON, S. H., WOINARSKI, A. Z., SNAPE, I., MORRIS, C. E. & REVILL, A. T. 2004. A field trial of in situ chemical oxidation to remediate long-term diesel contaminated Antarctic soil. *Cold Regions Science and Technology*, 40, 47-60.
- FERNANDEZ-LUQUENO, F., VALENZUELA-ENCINAS, C., MARSCH, R., MARTINEZ-SUAREZ, C., VAZQUEZ-NUNEZ, E. & DENDOOVEN, L. 2011. Microbial communities to mitigate contamination of PAHs in soil--possibilities and challenges: a review. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 18, 12-30.
- FINGAS, M. 2012. The basics of oil spill cleanup, CRC press.
- FME 2006. Nigerian Conservation Foundation Lagos WWF UK and CEESP-IUCN Commission on Environmental, Economic, and Social Policy. Niger Delta resource damage assessment and restoration project. *Federal Ministry of Environment Abuja*.
- FME 2013. Federal Ministry of Environment Abuja.<u>http://www.environment.gov.ng</u>. [Accessed 8 January, 2014].
- FRENCH, C. E., DE MORA, K., JOSHI, N., ELFICK, A., HASELOFF, J. & AJIOKA, J. Synthetic biology and the art of biosensor design. The science and applications of synthetic and systems biology: Workshop summary, 2011. National Academies Press Washington DC, 178-201.
- GABRIEL, A. 2004. Women in the Niger Delta: environmental issues and challenges in the third millennium. *The Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*, 6.

- GBADEBO, O. O. & OKONKWO, C. 2009. Does energy consumption contribute to economic performance? Empirical evidence from Nigeria. *Journal of Economics* and Business, 12.
- GBADEGESIN, A. The impact of oil exploration and production activities on the environment: implications for peasant agriculture. A Seminar Paper on Oil and the Environment, organized by Friedrick Elbert Foundation, Port Harcourt, 1997.
- GEAVES, L. H. & PENNING-ROWSELL, E. C. 2016. Flood Risk Management as a public or a private good, and the implications for stakeholder engagement. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 55, 281-291.
- GIADOM, F. D. & TSE, A. C. 2015. Groundwater Contamination and Environmental Risk Assessment of a Hydrocarbon Contaminated Site in Eastern Niger Delta, Nigeria. *J.Environ. Earth Sci.*, 5, 166-176.
- GIAMPAOLO, V., RIZZO, E., TITOV, K., MAINEULT, A. & LAPENNA, V. Selfpotential monitoring of a crude oil contaminated site (Trecate, Italy): first results of the modelling. EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts, 2012. 5842.
- HANSEN, P. D. 2008. Biosensors and Eco-toxicology. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, 8, 26-31.
- HOLDWAY, D. A. 2002. The acute and chronic effects of wastes associated with offshore oil and gas production on temperate and tropical marine ecological processes. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 44, 185-203.
- HOLLIGER, C., GASPARD, S., GLOD, G., HEIJMAN, C., SCHUMACHER, W., SCHWARZENBACH, R. P. & VAZQUEZ, F. 1997. Contaminated environments in the subsurface and bioremediation: organic contaminants. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 20, 517-523.
- HUNT, J. M. & JAMIESON, G. W. 1956. Oil and organic matter in source rocks of petroleum. *AAPG Bulletin*, 40, 477-488.
- HUSAIN, T. 1998. Terrestrial and atmospheric environment during and after the Gulf War. *Environment international*, 24, 189-196.
- IMOOBE, T. O. & IRORO, T. 2009. Ecological restoration of oil spill sites in the Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*, 11, 54-65.

- ITE, A. E., IBOK, U. J., ITE, M. U. & PETTERS, S. W. 2013. Petroleum Exploration and Production: Past and Present Environmental Issues in the Nigeria; s Niger Delta. *American Journal of Environmental Protection*, 1, 78-90.
- IWEGBUE, C., WILLIAMS, E. & ISIRIMAH, N. 2009. Study of heavy metal distribution in soils impacted with crude oil in southern Nigeria. Soil & Sediment Contamination, 18, 136-143.
- JC, A. & MBOGU, E. 2013. Cost comparison of different methods of bioremediation.
- JERNELÖV, A. & LINDÉN, O. 1981. Ixtoc I: a case study of the world's largest oil spill. *Ambio*, 299-306.
- JOUANNEAU, S., DURAND, M. J. & THOUAND, G. R. 2012. Online detection of metals in environmental samples: comparing two concepts of bioluminescent bacterial biosensors. *Environmental science & technology*, 46, 11979-11987.
- KADAFA, A. A. 2012a. Environmental impacts of oil exploration and exploitation in the Niger Delta of Nigeria. Global Journal of Science Frontier Research Environment & Earth Sciences, 12, 19-28.
- KADAFA, A. A. 2012d. Oil exploration and spillage in the Niger Delta of Nigeria. *Civil* and Environmental Research, 2, 38-51.
- KARL, T. L. 2007. Oil-led development: social, political, and economic consequences. *Encyclopedia of energy*, 4, 661-672.
- KHUSANJANOVA, J. 2011. OPEC; s Benefit for the Member Countries. *Research in World Economy*.
- KING, R. O. 2010. Deepwater horizon oil spill disaster: Risk, recovery, and insurance implications, Diane Publishing.
- KPMG
 2012.
 Nigerian
 Mining
 Sector.

 http://www.kpmg.com/NG/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/
 Nigeria%20Mining%20brief.pdf.
 [Accessed 13 April 2014].
- KPMG 2013. Oil and Gas in Africa: Africa's reserves, potential and prospects. <u>https://www.kpmg.com/Africa/en/IssuesAndsights/Articles-</u> <u>pubications/Documents/OilandGasinAfrica.pdf</u>. [Accessed 19 March 2015].
- LADAN, M. T. 2014. Recent Trends in Environmental Regulations in Nigeria. *Environmental Policy and Law*, 44, 461.

- LEHR, W. J. & BELEN, M. S. The fate of two large oil spills in the Arabian Gulf. International Oil Spill Conference, 1983. American Petroleum Institute, 377-380.
- LI, C., ZHANG, D., SONG, Y., JIANG, B., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter for the estimation of oil contamination. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 12, 1353-1358.
- LUCARELLI, F., AUTHIER, L., BAGNI, G., MARRAZZA, G., BAUSSANT, T., AAS, E. & MASCINI, M. 2003. DNA biosensor investigations in fish bile for use as a biomonitoring tool. *Analytical Letters*, 36, 1887-1901.
- LUONG, J., MULCHANDANI, A. & GUILBAULT, G. 1988. Developments and applications of biosensors. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 6, 310-316.
- MAHMOUD, K., SHALAHMETOVA, T., DERAZ, S. N. & UMBAYEV, B. 2012. Antioxidant biological effects of crude oil and its inorganic component (vanadium) in liver and kidney of rats. *J Animal Vet Adv*, 11, 124-131.
- MANDAL, A. K., SARMA, P. M., JEYASEELAN, C. P., CHANNASHETTAR, V. A., SINGH, B., AGNIHOTRI, A., LAL, B. & DATTA, J. 2014. Large Scale Bioremediation of Petroleum Hydrocarbon Contaminated Waste at Various Installations of ONGC. India: Case Studies. *Environmental Research, Engineering* and Management, 68, 41-52.
- MCAULIFFE, C. D., SMALLEY, A. E., GROOVER, R. D., WELSH, W. M., PICKLE, W. S. & JONES, G. E. Chevron main pass block 41 oil spill: Chemical and biological investigations. International Oil Spill Conference, 1975. American Petroleum Institute, 555-566.
- MCGENITY, T. J. 2014. Hydrocarbon biodegradation in intertidal wetland sediments. *Current opinion in biotechnology*, 27, 46-54.
- MCNUTT, M. K., CAMILLI, R., CRONE, T. J., GUTHRIE, G. D., HSIEH, P. A., RYERSON, T. B., SAVAS, O. & SHAFFER, F. 2012. Review of flow rate estimates of the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 109, 20260-20267.
- MICHELINI, E., CEVENINI, L., CALABRETTA, M. M., SPINOZZI, S., CAMBORATA, C. & RODA, A. 2013. Field-deployable whole-cell bioluminescent biosensors: so near and yet so far. *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry*, 405, 6155-6163.

- MMON, P. & DEEKOR, T. 2010. Assessing the effectiveness of land farming remediation of hydrocarbon polluted soils in the Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Res. J. Applied Sci. Eng. Technol*, 2, 654-660.
- NANDWA, S. M. 2001. Soil organic carbon (SOC) management for sustainable productivity of cropping and agro-forestry systems in Eastern and Southern Africa. *Managing Organic matter in tropical soils: Scope and limitations*. Springer.
- NDIFON, W. Health impact of a major oil spill: Case study of Mobil oil spill in Akwa Ibom State. 9th international conference on the petroleum Industry and the Nigerian Environment, Abuja, 1998.
- NESREA 2013. The National Environmental Standards & Regulations Enforcement Agency. <u>https://www.nesrea.gov.ng/about/index.php</u> .[Accessed 15 May, 2014].
- NKENG, G. E., NKWELANG, G., MATHEW, O. & SENWO, Z. W. 2012. Bioremediation of petroleum refinery oily sludge in topical soil. Open Access Scientific Reports, 1, 1-4.
- NOSDRA 2014. The National Oil Spill Detection and Response Agency. https: www.nosdra.gov.ng/. [Accessed 15 May, 2014].
- NWAOBI, G. C. & TERRITORY, F. C. 2005. Oil Policy in Nigeria: A Critical Assessment (1958-1992). *EconWPA Public Economics*.
- NWILO, C. & BADEJO, T. 2005a. Impacts and Management of Oil Spill Pollution along the Nigerian Coastal Areas. Department of Survey & Geoinformatics, University of Lagos, Lagos, Nigeria.
- NWILO, P. & BADEJO, O. Impacts of oil spills along the Nigerian coast. Proceedings of the 1st International Congress on Petroleum Contaminated Soils, Sediments and Water,(PCSSW'01), Imperial College, London, 2001. 27-39.
- NWILO, P. & BADEJO, O. 2005b. Oil Spill Problems and Management in the Niger Delta. International Oil Spill Conference, Miami, Florida, USA. *Public Health*, 3, 1-98.
- NWILO, P. C. & BADEJO, O. T. 2006. Impacts and management of oil spill pollution along the Nigerian coastal areas. *Administering Marine Spaces: International Issues*, 119.
- ODEBUNMI, E., OGUNSAKIN, E. & ILUKHOR, P. 2002. Characterization of CRUDE OILS and petroleum products:(i) elution liquid chromatographic separation and gas

chromatographic analysis of crude oils and petroleum products. *Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Ethiopia*, 16, 115-132.

- ODEYEMI, O. & OGUNSEITAN, O. 1985. Petroleum industry and its pollution potential in Nigeria. *Oil and Petrochemical Pollution*, 2, 223-229.
- ODULARU, G. O. 2008. Crude oil and the Nigerian economic performance. *Oil and Gas business*, 1-29.
- OGBOGHODO, I., AZENABOR, U. & OSEMWOTA, I. 2005. Amelioration of a crudeoil-polluted soil with poultry manure and the effects on growth of maize and some soil properties. *Journal of plant nutrition*, 28, 21-32.
- OKOGU, B. E. 1994. Oil spill hazards at the upstream level: A risk management paradigm for a developing country. *Energy policy*, 22, 393-402.
- OLAJIRE, A. A., ALTENBURGER, R., KÜSTER, E. & BRACK, W. 2005. Chemical and ecotoxicological assessment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon—contaminated sediments of the Niger Delta, Southern Nigeria. *Science of the Total Environment*, 340, 123-136.
- OMADJOHWOEFE, O. S. 2013. Oil Exploration and the Challenges of Food Security: A Reflection on the Indigenous Minorities of the Niger Delta. *Journal of Arts and Humanities*, 2, 56.
- OMODANISI, E., ELUDOYIN, A. & SALAMI, A. 2014. A multi-perspective view of the effects of a pipeline explosion in Nigeria. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 7, 68-77.
- ONDUKU, A. 2001. Environmental Conflicts: the case of the Niger Delta. A paper presented at the One World Fortnight Programme, University of Bradford, UK.
- ONU, N. 2003. The oil rich Niger Delta region: a framework for improved performance of the Nigerian regulatory process. *Ambio*, 32, 325-326.
- ONUKE, O. S. 2014. A Quantity assessment of energy demand in a developing nation in the year 2022-A Nigerian Perspective. *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research.*, 3, 196-200.
- ONYEIKE, E. N., OGBUJA, S. I. & NWINUKA, N. M. 2002. Inorganic ion levels of soils and streams in some areas of Ogoniland, Nigeria as affected by crude oil spillage. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 73, 191-204.

- OPPENHEIMER, M. & PETSONK, A. 2005. Article 2 of the UNFCCC: historical origins, recent interpretations. *Climatic change*, 73, 195-226.
- ORDINIOHA, B. & BRISIBE, S. 2013. The human health implications of crude oil spills in the Niger delta, Nigeria: An interpretation of published studies. *Nigerian medical journal: journal of the Nigeria Medical Association*, 54, 10.
- ORDINIOHA, B. & SAWYER, W. 2010. Acute health effects of a crude oil spill in a rural community in Bayelsa State, Nigeria. *Nigerian Journal of Medicine*, 19.
- ORIMOOGUNJE, O. & AJIBOLA-JAMES, O. 2013. Mangrove Ecosystem Recovery and Restoration from Oil Spill in the Niger Delta: The GIS Perspective. Geoinfor Geostat: An Overview S1. *of*, 5, 2.
- ORISAKWE, O., NJAN, A., AFONNE, O., ORISH, V. & UDEMEZUE, O. 2004. Investigation into the nephrotoxicity of Nigerian bonny light crude oil in albino rats. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 1, 106-110.
- ORJI, F. A., IBIENE, A. A. & DIKE, E. N. 2012. Laboratory scale bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbon–polluted mangrove swamps in the Niger Delta using cow dung. *Malaysian Journal of Microbiology*, 219-228.
- ORJI, U. J. 2012. An appraisal of the legal frameworks for the control of environmental pollution in Nigeria. *Commonwealth Law Bulletin*, 38, 321-346.
- OSUJI, L. C. & ADESIYAN, S. O. 2005. Extractable hydrocarbons, nickel and vanadium contents of Ogbodo-isiokpo oil spill polluted soils in Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 110, 129-139.
- OYEDEPO, S. O. 2009. Energy and sustainable deveopment in Nigeria: The way forward energy. *Sustainability and Society*, 2, 1-17.
- PASUMARTHI, R., CHANDRASEKARAN, S. & MUTNURI, S. 2013. Biodegradation of crude oil by Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Escherichia fergusonii isolated from the Goan coast. *Marine pollution bulletin*, 76, 276-282.
- PERUMAL, V. & HASHIM, U. 2014. Advances in biosensors: Principle, architecture and applications. *Journal of Applied Biomedicine*, 12, 1-15.
- PIB 2012. The Petroleum Industry Bill. Federal Republic of Nigeria.
- RAMSEUR, J. L. & HAGERTY, C. L. 2013. Deepwater Horizon oil spill: Recent activities and ongoing developments. *Congressional Research Service. January*, 31, 2013.

- RICO-MARTÍNEZ, R., SNELL, T. W. & SHEARER, T. L. 2013. Synergistic toxicity of Macondo crude oil and dispersant Corexit 9500A® to the Brachionus plicatilis species complex (Rotifera). *Environmental Pollution*, 173, 5-10.
- RIDDERHOF. 2013. Shell and Ogoni people:(s) oil and pollution in the Niger Delta.<u>http://www.peacepalacelibrary.nl/2013/02/shell-and-ogoni-people-soil-</u> pollution-in-the-niger-delta/. [Accessed 4 March 2013].
- RIM-RUKEH, A. 2015. Oil spill management in Nigeria: SWOT analysis of the joint investigation visit (JIV) process. *Journal of Environmental Protection*, 6, 259.
- RIPP, S., DICLAUDIO, M. L. & SAYLER, G. S. 2010. Biosensors as environmental monitors. *Environmental Microbiology*, 213-233.
- RISER-ROBERTS, E. 1998. Remediation of petroleum contaminated soils: biological, physical, and chemical processes, CRC Press.
- RODRIGUEZ-MOZAZ, S., DE ALDA, M. J. L., MARCO, M.-P. & BARCELÓ, D. 2005. Biosensors for environmental monitoring: A global perspective. *Talanta*, 65, 291-297.
- ROGERS, K. 2006. Recent advances in biosensor techniques for environmental monitoring. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 568, 222-231.
- RON, E. Z. 2007. Biosensing environmental pollution. *Current opinion in biotechnology*, 18, 252-256.
- SAM, K., COULON, F. & PRPICH, G. 2016. Working towards an integrated land contamination management framework for Nigeria. *Science of The Total Environment*, 571, 916-925.
- SÁNCHEZ-ARIAS, L., REMOLINA, D. A. & ALVAREZ-LEÓN, R. 2013. Evaluation of a recovery technique for mangrove soils affected by oil spills, using as indicator plantules of Rhizophora mangle L.(Rhizophoraceae). *Pan-American Journal of Aquatic Sciences*, 8, 79-88.
- SARKAR, D., FERGUSON, M., DATTA, R. & BIRNBAUM, S. 2005. Bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbons in contaminated soils: comparison of biosolids addition, carbon supplementation, and monitored natural attenuation. *Environmental pollution*, 136, 187-195.

- SASSOLAS, A., LECA-BOUVIER, B. D. & BLUM, L. J. 2008. DNA biosensors and microarrays. *Chemical reviews*, 108, 109-139.
- SCULLION, J. 2006. Remediating polluted soils. *Naturwissenschaften*, 93, 51-65.
- SEYMOUR, R. J. & GEYER, R. A. 1992. Fates and effects of oil spills. *Annual review of energy and the environment*, 17, 261-283.
- SOJINU, O. S., SONIBARE, O. O., EKUNDAYO, O. O. & ZENG, E. Y. 2012. Assessment of organochlorine pesticides residues in higher plants from oil exploration areas of Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Science of the Total Environment*, 433, 169-177.
- SOJINU, O. S., WANG, J.-Z., SONIBARE, O. & ZENG, E. Y. 2010. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sediments and soils from oil exploration areas of the Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 174, 641-647.
- SONG, Y., LI, G., THORNTON, S. F., THOMPSON, I. P., BANWART, S. A., LERNER, D. N. & HUANG, W. E. 2009. Optimization of bacterial whole cell bioreporters for toxicity assay of environmental samples. *Environmental science & technology*, 43, 7931-7938.
- SONG, Y., ZHANG, D., POLIZZI, K., ZHANG, E. G., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2012. Bacterial whole cell bioreporters in environmental health.
- SORRELL, S., SPEIRS, J., BENTLEY, R., BRANDT, A. & MILLER, R. 2010. Global oil depletion: A review of the evidence. *Energy Policy*, 38, 5290-5295.
- SOUTHWARD, C. M. & SURETTE, M. G. 2002. The dynamic microbe: green fluorescent protein brings bacteria to light. *Molecular microbiology*, 45, 1191-1196.
- SU, L., JIA, W., HOU, C. & LEI, Y. 2011. Microbial biosensors: a review. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 26, 1788-1799.
- SUNMONU, T. O. & OLOYEDE, O. B. 2012. Monocrotophos-induced enzymatic changes as toxicity bio-markers in Wistar Rat liver. *Agriculture and Biology Journal of North America*, 3, 302-305.
- TAYLOR, P., BENNETT, B., JONES, M. & LARTER, S. 2001. The effect of biodegradation and water washing on the occurrence of alkylphenols in crude oils. *Organic Geochemistry*, 32, 341-358.

- TOLULOPE, A. O. 2004. Oil exploration and environmental degradation: the Nigerian experience. *Environ. Inform. Arch, 2*, 387-393.
- UDEH, N., NWAOGAZIE, I. & MOMOH, Y. 2013. Bio-remediation of a crude oil contaminated soil using water hyacinth (Eichhornia crassipes). *Advances in Applied Science Research*, 4.
- UKOLI, M. 2005. Environmental factors in the management of the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. Available on <u>http://www</u>. warmofloor. co. uk/pages/environmenta lpdf [Accessed on 2/12/2005].
- UNEP 2011. Environmental Assessment of Ogoniland. UNEP Nairobi.
- WANG, J., RIVAS, G., CAI, X., PALECEK, E., NIELSEN, P., SHIRAISHI, H., DONTHA, N., LUO, D., PARRADO, C. & CHICHARRO, M. 1997. DNA electrochemical biosensors for environmental monitoring. A review. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 347, 1-8.
- WANG, S.-Y., KUO, Y.-C., HONG, A., CHANG, Y.-M. & KAO, C.-M. 2016. Bioremediation of diesel and lubricant oil-contaminated soils using enhanced landfarming system. *Chemosphere*, 164, 558-567.
- WANG, Z. & FINGAS, M. 1997. Developments in the analysis of petroleum hydrocarbons in oils, petroleum products and oil-spill-related environmental samples by gas chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 774, 51-78.
- WANG, Z., FINGAS, M. & PAGE, D. S. 1999. Oil spill identification. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 843, 369-411.
- WANG, Z. & FINGAS, M. F. 2003. Development of oil hydrocarbon fingerprinting and identification techniques. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 47, 423-452.
- WEGWU, M., UWAKWE, A. & ENYI, C. 2011. Post-Impact Assessment of Crude Oil Spilled Site: Four Years After Recorded Incidence. *Annals of Biological Research*, 2, 72-78.
- WILSON, S. C. & JONES, K. C. 1993. Bioremediation of soil contaminated with polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs): A review. *Environmental Pollution*, 81, 229-249.

- WOOMER, P. L., MARTIN, A., ALBRECHT, A., RESCK, D. V. S., SCHARPENSEEL,H. & SWIFT, M. 1994. *The importance and management of soil organic matter in the tropics*, John Wiley & Sons.
- XU, G., LIU, H., LI, M., LI, Z., PENG, Z., ZUO, L., HE, X., LIU, W. & CAI, L. 2016. In situ bioremediation of crude oil contaminated site: A case study in Jianghan oil field, China. *Petroleum Science and Technology*, 34, 63-70.
- YASIN, G., BHANGER, M. I., ANSARI, T. M., MUHAMMAD, S., NAQVI, S. R., ASHRAF, M., AHMAD, K. & TALPUR, F. N. 2013. Quality and chemistry of crude oils. *Journal of Petroleum Technology and Alternative Fuels*, 4, 53-63.
- ZABBEY, N., SAM, K. & ONYEBUCHI, A. T. 2017. Remediation of contaminated lands in the Niger Delta, Nigeria: Prospects and challenges. *Science of The Total Environment*, 586, 952-965.
- ZAMANI, M. M., FALLAHPOUR, M., HARVANI, G. Y., AGHMIUNI, S. K., ZAMANI, M., TEHRANI, D. M. & FIRROZABADI, G. S. 2014. Recent Proportionate Treatment Methods for Crude Oil Contamination Evaluation of the Tehran Refinery Site Soil. *Thrita*, 3.
- ZHANG, D., DING, A., CUI, S., HU, C., THORNTON, S. F., DOU, J., SUN, Y. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter application for rapid detection and evaluation of crude oil spill in seawater caused by Dalian oil tank explosion. *Water research*, 47, 1191-1200.
- ZHANG, D., HE, Y., WANG, Y., WANG, H., WU, L., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2012. Whole-cell bacterial bioreporter for actively searching and sensing of alkanes and oil spills. *Microbial biotechnology*, 5, 87-97.
- ZHANG, J., CAMPBELL, R. E., TING, A. Y. & TSIEN, R. Y. 2002. Creating new fluorescent probes for cell biology. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*, 3, 906-918.
- ZHENG, M., AHUJA, M., BHATTACHARYA, D., CLEMENT, T. P., HAYWORTH, J. S. & DHANASEKARAN, M. 2014. Evaluation of differential cytotoxic effects of the oil spill dispersant Corexit 9500. *Life sciences*, 95, 108-117.

3 Magnet bioreporter device for ecological toxicity assessment on heavy metal contamination of coal cinder sites

The aim of this chapter is to assess the feasibility of bioreporter application in real soil samples.

The specific objectives are:

- To develop a novel MNPs device and apply bioreporter in contaminants in toxic soil samples that has not been used elsewhere.
- Assess the advantages of biosensor in alkane and toxicity detection in contaminated soil samples.
- Examine the factors that hinder field application of bioreporter device for long-term monitoring.
- Pioneer research on magnetic biosensor to solve the problems associated biosensors application for soil toxicity assessment.

Abstract

A novel magnet bioreporter device was developed in this research for soil toxicity assessment, via magnetic nanoparticles functionalized whole-cell bioreporters. The wholecell bioreporter ADPWH recA kept response capability to DNA damage after magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) functionalization, and could be harvested from soil samples by permanent magnet to reduce the soil particle disturbance. Compared to conventional treatments applying bioreporter directly in soil-water mixture (SW-M treatment) or supernatant (SW-S treatment), MNPs functionalized bioreporter via the magnet device (MFB) treatment achieved high sensitivity to evaluate the toxicity and bioavailability of chromium contamination in soils from 10 mg/kg to 5,000 mg/kg soil dry weight. The MNPs functionalized bioreporter also achieved high reproducibility with pH value from 5.0 to 9.0, salinity from 0% to 5% and temperature from 20° C to 40° C. A case study was carried out on the ecological toxicity assessment of heavy metal contamination at the coal cinder site via the magnet bioreporter device. The heavy metal toxicity declined with the increasing distance to the coal cinder point, and a significant accumulation of heavy metal toxicity was observed along the vertical distribution. No direct link was found between the pollution load index (PLI) and heavy metal toxicity, and the results suggested the bioreporter test monitored the toxicity of heavy metals in soils and was an important approach for ecological risk assessment. Magnet bioreporter device also offered the high throughput biological measurement and was feasible for *in situ* monitoring.

Key words: whole-cell bioreporter, magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs), magnet bioreporter device, heavy metal, toxicity

3.1 Introduction

Heavy metals are the key anthropogenic environmental contaminants, mainly caused by industrial activities (Li et al., 2000, Loska et al., 2004). All around the world and particularly in China, numerous heavy metal contaminated sited are found due to the improper disposal of various chemical wastes (Smith, 2009), including coal cinders (Alizai et al., 2003), and the key pollutants include chromium, mercury, arsenic, lead, cadmium, manganese, cobalt, copper, nickel and zinc. They have high mobility through the leachate and further contaminate the biospheric soils (He et al., 2006, Dang et al., 2002), with respective carcinogenic, teratogenic and mutagenic effects (Valko et al., 2005). The high level of heavy metal in soils threatens the ecological system (Giller et al., 1998), poses potential risks to human health (Jarup, 2003) and draws attention on early warning for potential cancer induction (Farre et al., 2005). Due to the complex composition and synergetic effects in soils, traditional chemical and physical analysis only provides the amount information (Smith, 2009), but the toxicity and bioavailability of heavy metal contamination from coal cinder are hard to be evaluated.

Recently, whole-cell bioreporter has become initiative and legislative tool for environmental monitoring, with capability to sense the bioavailability and toxicity of contaminated water and soil samples (Belkin, 2003). With genetically engineered bacteria, yeast, fungi, or animal cells, the biological signals of whole-cell bioreporter are initiated by phenotypic color (*lacZ*), fluorescent (*gfp/yfp*) or bioluminescent (*luc/lux*) genes (Van Dyk et al., 2001, Meighen, 1994, Sanseverino et al., 2005). It offers highly sensitive, rapidly analytic, easy operation and cost-effective feasibility for *in situ* pollutants assessment (D'Souza, 2001). Some whole-cell bioreporter specifically senses the heavy metal molecules (Rasmussen et al., 2000, Ivaska et al., 2002) or their cytotoxicity/genotoxicity (Rodriguez-Mozaz et al., 2006).

Though the application of whole-cell bioreporter in water sample is successful, it suffers from the heterogeneous features of soils (van der Meer and Belkin, 2010). Exposed to whole-cell bioreporter, the soil particles will absorb the bioluminescent signal (*lux* or *luc*) or give strong fluorescent interference (*gfp*). Some recent work has assessed the bioavailability and toxicity of copper (Corbisier et al., 1996), cobalt and nickel (Tibazarwa

et al., 2001) via direct exposing the whole-cell bioreporter to the soils (Song et al., 2014), but the biological sensitivity and specificity are significantly reduced. Some pre-treatments, like water extraction or ultrasonication, are therefore applied to transfer contaminants into aqueous phase for biological analysis (Liao et al., 2006). Particularly for heavy metal, the aqueous extraction has been used for whole-cell bioreporters to sense the bioavailability of chromium (Jiang et al., 2015), mercury (Rasmussen et al., 2000), lead and cadmium (Turpeinen et al., 2000, Fritze et al., 2001) in soils. Nevertheless, the main drawback is the neglect of the real occurrence of pollutants in the porous soil (Ivaska et al., 2002). Technically, a new type of bioreporter device is required to sense the soil contaminants *in situ* and effectively separate the living reporter cells from the soil particles for biological signal detection. Magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) functionalization offers the feasibility of magnetic remote control and is biocompatible for whole cell bioreporter (Zhang et al., 2011a). Its equipping and portability for *in situ* monitoring is still under development and required further research.

In this work, a novel magnet bioreporter device was developed and optimized for effective monitoring and assessment of coal cinder contaminated soils. With whole-cell *Acinetobacter* ADP1_recA reporter (Song et al., 2009b), the magnet device effectively reduced the impacts of soil particles and improved the sensitivity and reproducibility, comparing to the direct exposure of bioreporters to the soils. The MNPs functionalized bioreporter was able to evaluate the ecological toxicity of heavy metal contamination, via the high throughput and easy operation magnet device. This work showed the feasibility and potential of *in situ* environmental risk assessment via whole-cell bioreporter for the coal contaminated sites.

3.2 Material and methods

3.2.1 Bioreporter strain and incubation

In this research, the *Acinetobacter baylyi* ADPWH_recA whole-cell bioreporter was introduced for environmental ecological toxicity evaluation (Song et al., 2009b, Zhang et al., 2013). Compared to other plasmid based or *Escherichia coli* hosted toxicity bioreporter, the reporter gene was located on the chromosomal with high stability and *Acinetobacter* was soil bacterium to tolerate the ambient soil environment and achieve high sensitivity.
After cultivation in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium overnight at 30°C, the 10.0 mL ADPWH_recA cells were harvested by 3,000 rpm centrifugation for 10 minutes. The bioreporter pellets were further washed by deionized water and resuspended in 10 mL deionized water for magnetic nanoparticles functionalization or 10 mL fresh MMS medium for toxicity measurement. The 1.0 litre MMS medium contained 1.0 g (NH₄)SO₄, 2.5 g KH₂PO₄, 0.1 g MgSO₄·7H₂O, 0.005 g FeSO₄·7H₂O, 0.25 g nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA), 0.55 g NaOH, 3.24 g sodium succinate (20 mM) and 1 ml Bauchop and Elsden solution.

3.2.2 Direct toxicity measurement on soil samples

The direct toxicity measurement of soil samples was conducted for the supernatant of soil/water mixtures (SW-S) and the bulk soil/water mixtures (SW-M) respectively. For SW-S treatment, the 100 mg soil sample was suspended in 1 mL deionized water and homologized by 150 rpm shaking for 10 min. The 20 μ L supernatant and 180 μ L bioreporter suspensions were added into each well of a black clear-bottom 96-well microplate. For SW-M treatment, the 1.0 mL bioreporter suspensions were added into 100 mg soil sample, and the mixture was directly transferred into the microplate. The incubation and induction was conducted at 30°C for 4 hours, in the Spectra M5 Plate Reader (Molecular Devices, USA). Three biological replicates were carried out for each sample and the bioluminescent signal was measured every 10 minutes with 5 seconds shaking before each reading.

3.2.3 Magnetic nanoparticles synthesis and functionalization

All the chemicals in this study were analytical grade and purchased from Sigma Aldrich (UK) without specific statement. Magnetic nanoparticles synthesis followed chemical deposition method (Zhang et al., 2011a). The 12.5 mL NaOH (1.5 M) was added dropwisely into the mixture of 1.0 mL FeCl₃ (2 M in 2 M HCl) and 0.5 mL FeCl₂ (1 M in 2 M HCl) with 40k Hz ultrasonic homologization, until the appearance of dark iron oxide precipitates. The precipitates were further separated by permanent magnet and washed with deionized water until the supernatant reached pH=7.0.

For bioreporter functionalization, 10 mL bioreporter suspensions (in deionized water) were mixed with 1 mL MNPs suspension, incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes with 150 rpm shaking. The MNPs-bioreporter was subsequently harvested by a permanent

magnet and washed twice by deionized water. The magnetized bioreporter was finally suspended in 10 mL MMS medium for soil toxicity assessment via the magnet bioreporter device.

3.2.4 Magnet bioreporter device and operation

The magnet bioreporter device contained the magnet probe assay and plastic cover for bioreporter strain transfer, as illustrated in Fig. 3.1a. The magnet probe assay was assembled by 96 magnet probes (1 cm length and 3 mm id), fixed on the plastic base and patterned (20.66 mm distance between each magnet probe) for the high throughput bioreporter measurement on the 96-well microplate. For MNPs functionalized bioreporter via the magnet device (MFB treatment), the 1.0 mL bioreporter suspension was mixed with 100 mg soil samples and transferred into each well of the 96-well microplate (Fig. 3.1 b-1). For the determination of the best cultivation time before magnetic separation, the bioreporter cells were magnetically harvest at 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 75, 90, 105 and 120 min. The recovered MNPs functionalized bioreporter was counted by plate count and the bioluminescent response was also measured.

After incubation at 30°C for 1 hour as the optimal cultivation condition, the magnet probe assay (with plastic cover) was emerged into the reaction system for 30 seconds (Fig. 3.1 b-2). The bioreporter cells were then separated from the soil suspension and attached on the plastic cover by magnetic field. The magnet device was transferred and emerged in another 96-well microplate, supplemented with 200 μ L fresh MMS medium (Fig. 3.1 b-3). Removing the magnet probe, the plastic cover and microplate was incubated at 30°C for 5 minutes with 150 rpm shaking (Fig. 3.1 b-4). The bioreporter cells were resuspended in the fresh MMS medium and the bioluminescence was further measured on the Spectra M5 Plate Reader (Molecular Devices, USA). The detection and data analysis followed the same instruction for the direct toxicity measurement on soil samples.



Figure 3. 1 Schematic instruction for magnet bioreporter device.

(a-1) and (a-2) for magnetic probe assay and the 96-well microplate respectively. (b-1) The 1.0 mL MNPs functionalized bioreporter was mixed with soil samples and further incubated at 30°C for 1 hour; (b-2) separation from soil suspensions via magnetic probe. (b-3) Resuspension in fresh MMS medium; (b-4) incubation and bioluminescence measurement 30°C for 3 hours.

For reproducibility test, MNPs-bioreporter was applied to sense the toxicity of 100 mg/kg chromium contaminated soils in the medium with different pH values and salt contents. The pH value in the induction medium was adjusted by 1.0 M HCl or 1.0 M NaOH solution as 4.0, 5.0, 6.0, 7.0, 8.0, 9.0 and 10.0. The series of salty medium was prepared by adding NaCl into the MMS medium with the final concentration of 1%, 2%, 3%, 4%, 5% and 10%. As for the temperature influence, the temperature during induction period was controlled by the Spectra M5 Plate Reader at 10°C, 15°C, 20°C, 30°C, 37°C, 40°C and 45°C. To evaluate the life-time of MNPs-bioreporters, the bioreporter suspension was stored at 4°C and taken out for direct toxicity measurement without any pre-treatment.

3.2.5 Toxicity model for heavy metal contaminated soils

For the calibration of heavy metal toxicity in soils, chromium was chosen at the target analyte since it was the main heavy metal contamination at the coal cinder site. The artificial chromium contaminated soils were prepared by mixing 1.0 g uncontaminated soil with 1 mL potassium bichromate solution with the concentration of 0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500, 1000, 2000 and 5,000 mg/L. The soil slurry was air dried in the laminar hood. The chromium contamination in soils was 0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 100, 200, 500, 1000, 2000 and 5,000 mg/kg soil dry weight, respectively.

The genotoxicity of hexavalent chromium in soil was identified as several mechanistic processes, including mutagenic effects on DNA and direct inductive immunological responses (Nickens et al., 2010). Such genotoxic effects consequently caused the accumulation of single stranded DNA (ssDNA) and the activation of SOS response for damaged DNA repair. The SOS response (bioluminescent response of ADPWH_recA) is the function of LexA-like SOS repressor (*LSR*, cell⁻¹) and can be simulated by the previous gene expression model (Al-Anizi et al., 2014a, Zhang et al., 2012d), as shown in Equation (1).

$$SOS_{r,s} = 1 + \left(\frac{k_{dSLR}}{2 \cdot (1 + k_{sSDNA})} \cdot [LSR]\right) \cdot \frac{[Cr]}{(K_{mLSR} \cdot K_{Cr} \cdot k_{sSDNA} \cdot k_{Cr})^{-1} + [Cr]}$$
(1)

Here, $SOS_{r,s}$ (SOS response ratio) is dependent on the hexavalent chromium contamination level in soils ([*Cr*], mg/kg). K_{cr} is the isotherm equilibrium of chromium-DNA adduct

(DNA phosphodiester backbone with chromium) and k_{Cr} represents ssDNA generation constant from the chromium-DNA adduct (L/(cell·g) chromium). k_{dSLR} represents the equilibrium coefficient of *LSR* dimer (*dSLR*, cell⁻¹) and monomer (*mLSR*, cell⁻¹) and k_{ssDNA} represents the cleavage reaction constant of *LSR* dimer. K_{mLSR} is the dynamic gene expression (SOS response) level activated by *LSR* monomer.

3.2.6 Sites description

A total of 16 soil samples were taken from the methanol plant of Yulin Energy and Chemical Industry, Yanzhou Coal Corporation, China (Figure 3. 2).



Figure 3. 2 Location of research area in Yulin and the sampling sites.

The site (698,000 m²) was located in Yulin Shaanxi Province (N38°34'41.9'', E109°55'50.4''), in the junction of Maowusu Sandy Land and the Loess Plateau. The annual coal consumption was 31,200 tonnes and the soils have been seriously contaminated by the coal with high heavy metal content. The sampling sites were designed along the leeward direction of the cinder heap, with the distance of 0, 10, 50, 80 and 150 m. The uncontaminated soil sample was collected in the living area of the plant, 500 m away from the heap. At each point, the soils were sampled at different depth of 0-20 cm (surface soil), 20-35 cm (middle soil) and 35-50 cm (bottom soil) to evaluate the toxicity profiles caused by the trace metal transportation.

3.2.7 Chemical analysis

Before chemical analysis, all of soil samples were seized by 200 mesh. Mercury was determined by DMA-80 Hg analyzer (Milestone S.r.L., Italy). For other trace elements, the

samples were digested in an UltraCLAVE microwave high pressure reactor (Milestone S.r.L., Italy), containing 330 mL distilled H₂O, 30 mL 30% H₂O₂ and 2 mL 98% H₂SO₄ as the digestion solution (Dai et al., 2011). With 50 bars initial nitrogen pressure, the microwave digestion program was listed in Table S1. Further digestion for 50 mg soil sample was conducted in 5 mL 40% HF, 2 mL 65% HNO₃, and 1 mL 30% H₂O₂ (Dai et al., 2012). The inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS, X series II, Thermo Fischer Scientific, USA) was used for the determination of the trace elements in a pulse counting mode (three points per peak). In this study, the multi-element standards (Inorganic Ventures, CCS-1, CCS-4, CCS-5, and CCS-6) were referenced for the calibration of trace element concentrations. As and Se were determined by ICP-MS with collision cell technology (CCT) due to their volatility (Li et al., 2014). Polyfluoroalkoxy volumetric flasks were used without drying on electric hot plate to avoid As/Se volatile loss. With the 1 μ g/L tuning solution, the torch position and ion lenses were optimized before real sample measurement. The optimal parameters of the ICP-CCT-MS and calibration curves of As/Se were listed in Table 3.2 and 3.3.

| Step | Time (min) | Temperature (°C) | Pressure (bar) | Microwave power (Watt) |
|------|------------|------------------|----------------|------------------------|
| 1 | 12 | 60 | 100 | 1000 |
| 2 | 20 | 125 | 100 | 1000 |
| 3 | 8 | 160 | 130 | 1000 |
| 4 | 15 | 240 | 160 | 1200 |
| 5 | 60 | 240 | 160 | 1000 |

 Table 3. 1 Microwave program for soil sample digestion.

 Table 3. 2 Optimal instrumental parameters for ICP-CCT-MS.

| Items | Values/status | Items | Values/status | | | |
|-------------------------|------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Plasma RF nower | 1400 W | Collision gas | Mixture of H ₂ and | | | |
| Tiasina Kr power | 1400 W | Comsion gas | Не | | | |
| Nebulizer gas flow | 1.00 L/min | Collision gas flow | 4 ml/min | | | |
| Auxiliary gas flow | 0.8 L/min | Pole bias | -16 V | | | |
| Cool gas flow | 13.0 L/min | Hexapole bias | -19V | | | |
| Sompling donth | 120 stops | Number of main | 2 times | | | |
| Samping depth | 150 steps | runs | 5 times | | | |
| ICP-MS interface | Nickel Xt | Dwell time | 10 ms | | | |
| Peristaltic pump | 20 DDM | Acquisition mode | Deale iumning mode | | | |
| speed | JU KEWI | Acquisition mode | reak jumping mode | | | |
| Nebulizer | Teflon Nebulizer | Resolution | Standard | | | |

 Table 3. 3 Calibration curves and method detection limit (MDL) of As and Se.

| Element | Isotope | Linearity | Determination | MDL (µg/L) | RSD (%) |
|---------|---------|-----------|---------------|------------|----------------|
| | | (µg/L) | coefficient | | |
| As | 75 | 1-100 | 0.999982 | 0.024 | 1.654 |
| Se | 78 | 1-100 | 0.999936 | 0.095 | 1,996 |

The bioluminescence response was calculated by averaging the bioluminescent signal from the 7 time points between 180 and 240 minutes for each well. The relative bioluminescence response ratio was the specific value of the bioluminescence response of contaminated soil samples to that of the uncontaminated soils. The heavy metal profiles in soil samples were statistically analysed by SPSS software (Version 15.0 for Windows) via Principal Component Analysis (PCA). The equality and normality of data were tested by Brown-Forsythe and Shapiro-Wilk test respectively, and the null hypothesis was rejected for p<0.05.

Contamination factor (*CF*) is defined as the ratio of the heavy metal concentration in the sample soil to the baseline concentration in background soil, as shown in Equation (2) (Bhuiyan et al., 2010). Pollution load index (*PLI*) is determined as the n^{th} root of the n CF in Equation (3) (Bhuiyan et al., 2010). The *CF* and *PLI* are empirical indices to evaluate the level of heavy metal contamination, and the higher values indicate heavier contamination of individual and multiple heavy metals respectively.

$$CF = \frac{[Heavy metal in sample soils]}{[Heavy metal in background soils]}$$
(2)

$$LI = (CF_1 \times CF_2 \times \dots \times CF_n)^{1/n}$$
(3)

3.3 Results and discussions

3.3.1 Higher sensitivity and reproducibility of magnet bioreporter device

The MNPs functionalized bioreporter could be magnetic remote controlled for effectively separation from the soil particles. The MNPs were biocompatible, and the viability and bioluminescent signal of whole-cell bioreporter remained over 99% comparing to the native bioreporter cells (Zhang et al., 2011a). With the strong electrostatic attraction between the negative iron oxide (Fe-OO⁻) and positive amino-groups (-NH₃⁺) on bacterial membrane, the separation effectiveness by magnetic field was above 99.6% and the synthesized MNPs had neither cytotoxicity nor genotoxicity on bacterial bioreporter cells (Chen et al., 2013). MNPs functionalized whole-cell bioreporter therefore had the feasibility to sense the toxicity of soil samples *in situ* and subsequently isolated for bioluminescent signal measurement.

Due to the cell division, the MNPs functionalized bioreporter gradually lost their magnetic capacity (Zhang et al., 2015b). Though longer incubation with soil samples could improve the chemical uptake by bioreporter cells for higher responsive ratio, the less recovery rate consequently resulted in lower bioluminescent signal and lower sensitivity. Figure 3.3 illustrated that, within 45 minutes incubation, over 90% living bioreporter cells were isolated from the soil/water mixture based on plate count.



Figure 3. 3. The cell recovery rate (a) and bioluminescent response (b) of whole-cell bioreporter against the incubation time with soils.

Over 90% of living bioreporter cells were successfully harvested from the soil/water mixture within 45 minutes incubation. The relative bioluminescence response ratio ranged between 1.90 and 2.00 when the incubation time was less than 75 minutes. The 60-minute incubation was identified as the optimal time for sufficient bioreporter cell recovery and high response sensitivity.

The results fitted with previous study that about 12% free bioreporter cells were observed after 120 min cultivation in rich medium (Zhang et al., 2011a). As for the bioluminescence and relative response ratios, the bioluminescent signals were stable from 3600 RLU to 3800 RLU when the incubation time was less than 75 minutes, and the response ratio ranged from 1.90 to 2.00. The results suggested a highly reliable responsive period between 30 and 70 minutes. The optimal incubation time for sufficient bioreporter cell recovery and high response sensitivity was identified as 60 minutes, and it was further applied in the following work on calibration curve and real soil sample assessment.

The summarized features of the magnetic ADPWH_recA whole-cell bioreporter were listed in Table 3.1 from the reproducibility test.

| Characteristics | Description | | | | | | | |
|---------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Limit of detection | 1 mg/kg chromium(VI) in dry soil | | | | | | | |
| Linear range | 1-100 mg/kg chromium(VI) in dry soil | | | | | | | |
| Pre-incubation time | 1 hour | | | | | | | |
| Detection time | 4 hours | | | | | | | |
| | High reproducible when pH value is from 4.0 to 9.0, | | | | | | | |
| Reproducibility | salinity ranges from 0% to 3%, | | | | | | | |
| | and temperature is from 20 $^{\circ}$ C to 37 $^{\circ}$ C | | | | | | | |
| Storage time | 30 days | | | | | | | |

 Table 3. 4 Analytical characteristics of magnetic ADPWH_recA whole-cell bioreporter.

After 1 hour pre-incubation of the MNPs functionalized bioreporter, the cells were captured by permanent magnet and resuspended in fresh medium without soil disturbance for another 4 hours. As a soil bacterium, ADPWH_recA had strong tolerance to the environmental variations and maintained high reproducibility under different pH, salinity and temperature condition. The relative bioluminescent response ratio maintained stable (1.44 to 1.51) when pH value ranged from 5.0 to 9.0, dramatically dropping to 1.25 at pH=4.0 and 1.12 at pH=10.0 (Fig. 3.4a). The results were similar to previous research on the pH influence on Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1 that Acinetobacter based bioreporter could tolerate large pH variation (Li et al., 2009). Fig. 3.4b also illustrated the good responsive performance of MNPs functionalized ADPWH_recA at 20°C (relative bioluminescent response ratio=1.47), 30°C (relative bioluminescent response ratio=1.50) and 37°C (relative bioluminescent response ratio=1.49). The tiny reduction of bioluminescent response at 15°C and 40°C attributed to the less bacterial activities at inappropriate temperatures, and the response was very weak under even lower (10°C) or higher (45°C) temperature conditions. Salinity did not significantly affect the reproducibility of ADPWH_recA and the relative bioluminescent response ratios were above 1.45 when the salinity was no higher than 3%, but were gradually suppressed at higher salinity level (Fig. 3.4c). Therefore, the MNPs functionalized bioreporters had high reproducibility under the normal pH value, salinity and temperature conditions of natural soils and no specific pre-treatment was required for real soil sample assessment. High activity and responsive sensitivity of MNPs functionalized whole-cell bioreporters was also observed after 30 days storage at 4°C (Fig. 4d). Without any pre-treatment, the stored bioreporter cells could be directly applied for soil assessment and the relative bioluminescent response ratio was above 1.45 for chromium contaminated soils of 100 mg/kg soil dry weight. The life-time of MNPs functionalized bioreporter was the same to the original Acinetobacter based bioreporters (Zhang et al., 2012a, Song et al., 2009b), indicating that MNPs functionalization had minimal impacts on the bacterial activities and was an appropriate approach to expand its application in soil contamination assessment.



Figure 3. 4 The impacts of pH (a), temperature (b), salt (c) and storage time (d) on magnetic bioreporter's response to artificial chromium contaminated soils. The chromium concentration was 100 mg/kg soil dry weight.

From the calibration curve of soil/water supernatant (SW-S), soil/water mixture (SW-M) and MNPs functionalized bioreporter (MFB) (Fig.3.5), magnet device had the highest responsive sensitivity and illustrated the chromium bioavailability in contaminated soils. In SW-S and SW-M treatments, ADPWH_recA bioreporter did not show any positive response to the chromium due to the strong light adsorption by soil particles. The negative bioluminescent response was observed when chromium concentration was above 100 mg/kg soil dry weight for both treatments. Significant positive response was only found in

MFB treatment and the limit of detection was 1 mg/kg soil dry weight (Fig. 3.5 and Table 3.1).



Figure 3.5 The calibration curve for toxicity assessment on artificial chromium contaminated soils.

Grey circle refers to magnet bioreporter device (MFB); white diamond represents direct measurement of soil/water supernatant (SW-S); white circle is the direct measurement of soil/water mixture (SW-M). The black line represents the simulation of whole-cell bioreporter's response to chromium toxicity with 100% bioavailability, and a significant

bioluminescent response curve shift was found for 50% (red line), 30% (yellow line) and 10% (green line) chromium bioavailability respectively.

From 1 mg/kg to 100 mg/kg chromium contamination in dry soils, the relative bioluminescence response ratio showed a linear relationship to quantify the toxicity and bioavailability of chromium in soil samples, ranging from 1.05 to 1.60. Above 500 mg/kg soil dry weight, chromium predominantly behaved the cytoxicity effects and all the three treatments had similar inhibited bioluminescent signal. From the whole-cell bioreporter growth curve (Fig. 3.6.), there was no significant growth difference when the chromium concentration was less than 500 mg/kg soil dry weight, in which range that the relative bioluminescent response ratio was positively correlated with chromium. It therefore explained the decreasing bioluminescent response ratio at higher chromium level that strong cytoxicity of chromium inhibited bioreporter growth and activities. The Tukey posthoc test undertaken further supports this argument, as P-values for chromium concentration less than 500mg/kg did not differ significantly (P > 0.05), as was the case for chromium concentrations ranging from 500 to 5000 mg/kg. Furthermore, the P-value of 0.000 (< 0.05)for the whole-cell bioreporter growth curve (OD_{600}) suggests that the bioluminescent response to varying concentration of chromium in the soil samples analyzed over a 6-hour period differ significantly.



Figure 3. 6 Whole-cell bioreporter growth curve (OD₆₀₀) against time.

Normal bacterial growth curve was observed when chromium concentration ranged from 0 mg/kg dry soil weight to 100 mg/kg dry soil weight, fitting well with the linear relationship between chromium contamination and bioreporter bioluminescent signal. Above 500 mg/kg soil dry weight, chromium had strong cytoxicity to inhibit bioreporter growth and the OD_{600} was negatively correlated with chromium concentration.

Given the model simulation of bioreporter's response to chromium with different bioavailability in aqueous phase in Fig. 3.5 (Xu et al.), the results further revealed the bacteria-contaminant interaction within the porous soils and its impacts on bioreporter response. With lower chromium bioavailability, the calibration curve shifted towards higher chromium values. The SOS response coefficient $(K_{sLSR} \cdot K_{Cr} \cdot k_{ssDNA} \cdot k_{MO}, 3.8)$ and genotoxicity coefficient $(\frac{k_{dsSLR}}{2 \cdot (1+k_{ssDNA})} \cdot [LSR]_{total}, 1.724 \text{ L/mg})$ kept stable, similar to previous research (Xu et al.). Referring to the synergetic efficiency through the SOS repair process (including genotoxin DNA damage, ssDNA recognition and SOS box activation), the similar SOS response coefficients indicated the same SOS mechanism of bioreporter's

responsive to chromium genotoxicity and cytotoxicity in the soils via the magnet bioreporter device (Zhang et al., 2012d). Since the bioluminescent signal of ADPWH_recA was regulated by the SOS process, all the carcinogens causing DNA damage would activate its response, including mitomycin C, UV light, ethidium bromide and H_2O_2 (Song et al., 2014). The bioreporter therefore did not respond to a particular heavy metal (like chromium), but evaluated the synergistic toxicity of all the carcinogens in environmental samples.

From the parabolic curve of MNPs functionalized bioreporter to hexavalent chromium, both the relative bioluminescent response ratio and growth curve (Fig. 3.6.) were considered to evaluate the toxicity of unknown environmental samples. In absence of growth inhibition, the sample had low cytoxicity and its bioluminescent response belonged to the positive relationship range, oppositely in presence of growth inhibition. Only the MFB treatment had the positive bioluminescence response when chromium concentration was less than 200 mg/kg soil dry weight, and the response ratio fitted well with the model prediction of 10% chromium bioavailability when chromium concentration was above 100 mg/kg soil dry weight. At lower chromium contamination level, chromium bioavailability changed due to the complex adsorption effects of soil particles and the irregular bioluminescent response ratio represented the changing bioavailable fraction. Given heavy chromium contamination level (>500 mg/kg soil dry weight), SW-M showed slightly higher response than MFB treatment, both significantly higher than SW-S treatment. Since the whole-cell bioreporter only sensed the water soluble chromium in the supernatant of soil-water mixture in SW-S treatment, it measured the chromium toxicity in the unbound water phase. The dominant fraction of chromium existed in the bound water or was absorbed on the soil particles, and their carcinogenic effects were only assessable by the direct-contact bioreporter assay (Jiang et al., 2015). In MFB and SW-M treatment, both bioreporter cells had the direct contact with chromium absorbed on soil particles and behaved stronger toxicity response. Since it fell in the overtoxicity range and the higher genotoxicity reduced the bioluminescence signal of bioreporter cells, MFB had a higher sensitivity and thus inhibited more than SW-M treatment, showing a relatively lower bioluminescent signals (Michelini et al., 2013).

3.3.2 Heavy metal contamination profiles in soils

The heavy metal profiles of the 16 investigated soil samples and the coal cinder were listed in Table 3.5.

The chromium was 23 times enriched in the rough cinder (from 38.18 mg/kg to 920.82 mg/kg), followed by nickel (5.5 times enrichment). The enrichment of other heavy metals ranged from 1.8 to 3.7 times, except for zinc (no significant change) and mercury (loss due to volatile during the combustion process) (Meij et al., 2002). Similar to previous research on coal combustion residues (Goodarzi et al., 2008, Goodarzi, 2006), chromium and nickel were mostly found concentrated in bottom ash or cinder as the dominant toxic heavy metal residues, due to their low volatility and high stability.

| Samples | | Be | Cr | Ni | Cu | Zn | As | Se | Cd | Pb | U | Hg |
|-----------------|----------|------|--------|-------|-------|-------|------|------|------|-------|------|-------|
| Raw coal | | 0.27 | 38.18 | 4.93 | 6.62 | 8.55 | 2.26 | 0.23 | 0.05 | 3.43 | 0.48 | 0.006 |
| Rough cinder | | 0.83 | 920.82 | 26.89 | 22.66 | 9.01 | 4.14 | 0.84 | 0.12 | 7.44 | 1.42 | 0.001 |
| Background soil | | 1.33 | 398.94 | 30.99 | 16.22 | 37.91 | 6.36 | 0.87 | 0.26 | 21.62 | 1.20 | 0.008 |
| | 0-20 cm | 1.07 | 745.15 | 23.11 | 17.92 | 28.78 | 4.71 | 0.75 | 0.25 | 18.19 | 1.29 | 0.003 |
| 0 m | 20-35 cm | 1.19 | 552.97 | 17.61 | 10.55 | 27.72 | 3.18 | 0.43 | 0.22 | 20.26 | 0.64 | 0.005 |
| | 35-50 cm | 1.27 | 505.60 | 14.68 | 10.25 | 20.97 | 3.10 | 0.44 | 0.16 | 20.36 | 0.64 | 0.003 |
| 10 m | 0-20 cm | 1.55 | 802.77 | 29.38 | 21.67 | 23.05 | 5.26 | 1.00 | 0.22 | 18.05 | 1.48 | 0.002 |
| | 20-35 cm | 1.58 | 620.79 | 21.71 | 16.52 | 29.26 | 5.60 | 1.19 | 0.24 | 30.31 | 1.20 | 0.001 |
| | 35-50 cm | 1.26 | 525.79 | 15.80 | 9.74 | 17.53 | 3.00 | 0.29 | 0.15 | 21.44 | 0.56 | 0.001 |
| 50 m | 0-20 cm | 1.16 | 508.43 | 13.80 | 8.93 | 28.10 | 3.66 | 0.36 | 0.14 | 20.08 | 0.54 | 0.033 |
| | 20-35 cm | 1.12 | 482.68 | 12.29 | 8.09 | 16.19 | 2.62 | 0.41 | 0.13 | 19.88 | 0.45 | 0.001 |
| | 35-50 cm | 1.12 | 628.89 | 15.03 | 9.35 | 18.22 | 3.08 | 0.46 | 0.14 | 20.17 | 0.53 | 0.001 |
| 80 m | 0-20 cm | 1.15 | 483.48 | 13.26 | 9.03 | 18.61 | 3.22 | 0.30 | 0.16 | 20.01 | 0.53 | 0.001 |
| | 20-35 cm | 1.19 | 502.34 | 13.84 | 9.31 | 19.76 | 3.35 | 0.45 | 0.18 | 21.03 | 0.57 | 0.001 |
| | 35-50 cm | 1.29 | 613.57 | 19.76 | 15.32 | 29.44 | 4.01 | 0.43 | 0.25 | 21.28 | 0.86 | 0.001 |
| 150 m | 0-20 cm | 1.10 | 494.60 | 13.56 | 8.90 | 19.03 | 3.24 | 0.58 | 0.15 | 19.99 | 0.56 | 0.001 |
| | 20-35 cm | 1.24 | 474.09 | 16.46 | 10.87 | 24.61 | 4.48 | 0.43 | 0.22 | 20.51 | 0.76 | 0.001 |
| | 35-50 cm | 1.25 | 448.66 | 18.50 | 13.00 | 28.81 | 5.08 | 0.41 | 0.22 | 21.70 | 0.90 | 0.001 |

 Table 3.5. Heavy metal contamination in coal/cinder (mg/kg coal or cinder dry weight) and coal cinder contaminated sites (mg/kg soil dry weight).

Note: The analytical instrument is Hg analyzer (DMA-80) for Hg and ICP-MS (X series II) for other elements.

As for heavy metal contamination in soils, the investigated soils only showed significant contamination of chromium from 448.66 mg/kg to 802.77 mg/kg soil dry weight, with the *CF* values from 1.12 to 2.01 (398.94 mg/kg soil dry weight in background). The levels of the other heavy metals were similar to the background soils (*p*-value>0.05), as the *CF* value of beryllium ranged from 0.80 to 1.19, nickel from 0.40 to 0.95, copper from 0.50 to 1.34, zinc from 0.43 to 0.78, arsenic from 0.41 to 0.88, selenium from 0.33 to 1.37, cadmium from 0.50 to 0.96, lead from 0.83 to 1.40, uranium from 0.38 to 1.28 and mercury from 0.13 to 4.13. The results indicated that the key ecological toxicity was attributed to chromium, same as revealed by many previous research on mutagens in heavy metal contaminated soils (White and Claxton, 2004), and its toxicity in soils could be effectively evaluated by various biological assays (Wang, 1999, Codina et al., 1995). The magnet bioreporter device in this study was therefore feasible to enhance the toxicity test sensitive by directly exposing MNPs-functionalized whole-cell bioreporter cells and diagnosing their bioluminescent response signal.

For soils nearer to the coal cinder point (0 m and 10 m), there was higher heavy metal contamination in the upper layer soil. The chromium contamination declined from 745.15 mg/kg (0-20 cm, 0 m) to 505.60 mg/kg (35-50 cm, 0 m), and from 802.77 mg/kg (0-20 cm, 10 m) to 525.79 mg/kg (35-50 cm, 10 m), respectively. Except for Be, Pb and Hg, all the other heavy metal elements (Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Se, Cd, and U) has the same vertical decreasing distribution. Comparing to the heavy metal composition in the cinders, chromium was also the key carcinogenic heavy metal in soils. Given the sequence of the exchangeable fractions of heavy metals as Cd > Zn > Cu > Ni > Pb > Cr (He et al., 2006), chromium was further concentrated in top soils with less mobility. The results further suggested that the main source of heavy metal contamination in soils was the leachates from the cinders and their residues were dependent on the transportation process in soils.

3.3.3 Ecological risk profiles of heavy metal contaminated soils

In the ecological toxicity evaluation by directly applying whole-cell bioreporters to the soil (SW-M, Fig. 3.7) and soil-water supernatant (SW-S, Fig. 3.8), ADPWH_recA only behaved negative (relative bioluminescence response ratio < 1.0) or neutral signal (relative

bioluminescence response ratio = 1.0) and was not suitable to quantify the toxicity impacts of heavy metal contamination *in situ*.



Figure 3. 7. Ecological toxicity assessment of heavy metal contaminated soils in SW-M treatment.



Figure 3. 8. Ecological toxicity assessment of heavy metal contaminated soils in SW-S treatment

Fig. 3.9 illustrated the ecological toxicity profiles of the soil samples by the magnetic bioreporter device (MFB treatment), and the toxicity of heavy metals declined with the increasing distance to the coal cinder point.



Figure 3. 9 Ecological toxicity assessment of heavy metal contaminated soils via magnetic bioreporter device.



Figure 3. 10. Whole-cell bioreporter growth curve (OD600) against time during soil sample detection.

No significant growth inhibition was observed, indicating all the bioluminescent signals of magnetic functionalized bioreporters were located within the linear response range.

From the whole-cell bioreporter growth curve for the soil samples (Fig. 3.10), all the heavy metal contaminated soils did not show inhibition effects on bacterial growth, indicating all the bioluminescent signals were within the linear response range and the relative bioluminescence response ratio had positive relationship with the ecological toxicity in soils. Except for 0 m point, the relative bioluminescence response ratio dropped from 1.47 (10 m) to 1.10 (150 m) in the surface soil, 1.34 (10 m) to 1.16 (150 m) in the middle soil,

and 1.26 (0 m) to 0.58 (150 m) in the bottom soil. At the 0 m point, the low bioluminescence signal of surface soil was caused by the high cytotoxicity effects of chromium (745.15 mg/kg soil dry weigh) and the growth of ADPWH_recA bioreporter was inhibited. The soil sample at 0 m point was therefore characterized with the highest ecological risk.

From the toxicity vertical distribution, the ecological risks had a significant decline in deeper soils. Attributing to the heavy metals leachates from the coal cinders, the ecological risk distribution fitted well with chemical analysis and previous studies. The high ecological risk at the surface soils than bottom soils suggested the leakage and vertical transportation chromium in soils (Ma et al., 2008). Comparing to the horizontal ecological risk distribution, the results further identified the main toxicity sources as the heavy metals from the coal cinders.

3.3.4 Correlation between soil heavy metal profiles and ecological risk

The Principle Component Analysis (PCA) illustrated the main factors causing the ecological risks in soil samples (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3. 11. The correlation between soil heavy metal profiles and ecological risks.

PCA analysis reveals the two principle components as the heavy metal contamination level (PC1, accounting for 60.5% of variance) and the soil depth (PC2, accounting for 13.3% of

variance). The area of symbol (blue circle for surface soil, red square for middle soil and green diamond for bottom soil) represents the level of heavy metal ecological risk (bioluminescence response ratio).

More precisely, the principle component 1 (PC1) was the heavy metal contamination level, accounting for 60.5% of the total variance. At the sampling points nearer to the coal cinder site (0 m and 10 m), the surface and middle soils were heavily contaminated and therefore recognized as isolated square (red) and circle (blue) to the higher value of PC1-axis. For the rest soils, they gathered due to similar contamination level (*PLI*). PC1 was therefore derived from the external heavy metal sources, leaching from the coal cinder for the surface soil (0-20 cm) and heavy metal vertical transportation for middle soil (20-35 cm). The soil depth was the principle component 2 (PC2), contributing to 13.3% of the total variance). Heavy metals distribution and mobility were reported to depend on soil properties and depth (Hernandez et al., 2003), and their spatial distribution in different depths of soils also affected the mobility and bioavailability (Nemati et al., 2011). Nevertheless, the soil ecological risks (illustrated as the area of each symbol) were associated with neither the load of PC1 nor PC2, suggesting that they were complicatedly affected by both heavy metal profiles and soil features.

There was also no significant correlation between heavy metal pollution load index (*PLI*) and ecological risk (*p*-value>0.05) (Fig. 3.12).



● Surface soil (0-20 cm) ■Middle soil (20-35 cm) ◆ Bottom soil (35-50 cm)

Figure 3. 12 The correlation between heavy metal pollution load index (PLI) and ecological risk was not significant (p-value>0.05).

Higher PLI indicated high heavy metal contamination level, but did not fit with the ecological risk distribution. Previous research had shown the positive correlation between heavy metal content and ecological toxicity at the contaminated sites with individual heavy metal pollutant, like chromium residues (Jiang et al., 2015) or copper contaminated agricultural soils (Brandt et al., 2006). The ecological toxicity was only affected by the individual CF value and bioavailability in soil. At the coal cinder contaminated sites, we found the existence of multiple heavy metals and their synergic/antagonistic effects consequently resulted in complicated ecological toxicity (Holmstrup et al., 2010). Many evidences had revealed that the toxicity of individual or multiple heavy metals behaved antagonistic or additive effects, dependent on the composition and soil features, like organic matters or pH value (VanGestel and Hensbergen, 1997, Preston et al., 2000). In this case, PLI was an empirical indicator evaluating the multiple heavy metal contamination level, but suffered from identifying and characterizing the interaction between various heavy metal molecules and their association with soil particles. From the mechanisms of ADPWH_recA to sense all the carcinogens activating SOS process, the response of wholecell bioreporter effectively represented the synergic/antagonistic effects of multiple heavy metals. By directly exposing the living bioreporter cells to the contaminated samples in situ, the MNPs functionalized bioreporter had its feasibility as an important approach, supplementary to chemical analysis, in ecological risk assessment and environmental risk management.

3.4 Conclusion

This work developed a novel magnet bioreporter device for soil toxicity assessment, via magnetic nanoparticles functionalized whole-cell bioreporters. The living magnetic bioreporter cells could sense the carcinogenic chemicals in the soil and effectively separated from the soil-water slurry in the bioluminescence detection step to avoid the disturbance of soil particles. Comparing to the conventional treatments directly applying bioreporter in soil-water mixture or supernatant, the magnet bioreporter device achieved

high sensitivity and reproducibility under soil pH, salinity and temperature conditions. The dose-toxicity calibration curve revealed the impacts of chromium bioavailability on its ecological risk in soils, where strong genotoxicity was identified when chromium concentration was from 1 mg/kg to 500 mg/kg soil dry weight and the cytotoxic inhibition was found at chromium over 500 mg/kg soil dry weight. For the first time, the ecological toxicity of heavy metal contaminated soils was evaluated by the whole-cell bioreporter at the coal cinder site. Though the existence of heavy metal contamination contributed to the main ecological risks at the site, the pollution load index (*PLI*) had no significantly relationship with the ecological toxicity distribution. The synergic and antagonistic effects of soil multiple heavy metal contamination brought the challenges for environmental risk assessment by chemical analysis. The magnetic bioreporter device behaved as an alternative approach for the high throughput biological measurement and was feasible for *in situ* monitoring.

Acknowledgement

The authors would like to thank National Basic Research Program of China (973 Program, No. 2014CB238906) and National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 41301331) for financial support. Prof Shifeng Dai (China University of Mining & Technology, Beijing) helped in ICP-MS analysis of heavy metal components in the soil samples.

Reference

- AL-ANIZI, A. A., HELLYER, M. T. & ZHANG, D. 2014. Toxicity assessment and modeling of *Moringa oleifera* seeds in water purification by whole cell bioreporter. *Water Research*, 56, 77-87.
- ALIZAI, H., PRESTON, D., MENG, S. S. & KOLKAS, M. 2003. Heavy metal contamination in the coastal sediments of the Lower New York Bay. *Northeastern Geology and Environmental Sciences*, 25, 226-231.
- BELKIN, S. 2003. Microbial whole-cell sensing systems of environmental pollutants. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 6, 206-212.
- BHUIYAN, M. A. H., PARVEZ, L., ISLAM, M. A., DAMPARE, S. B. & SUZUKI, S. 2010. Heavy metal pollution of coal mine-affected agricultural soils in the northern part of Bangladesh. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 173, 384-392.
- BRANDT, K. K., HOLM, P. E. & NYBROE, O. 2006. Bioavailability and toxicity of soil particle-associated copper as determined by two bioluminescent *Pseudomonas fluorescens* biosensor strains. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 25, 1738-1741.
- CHEN, C., ZHANG, D., THORNTON, S. F., DUAN, M., LUO, Y., DING, A. & HUANG,
 W. E. 2013. Functionalization and immobilization of whole cell bioreporters for the detection of environmental contamination. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 12, 1417-1422.
- CODINA, J. C., PEREZTORRENTE, C., PEREZGARCIA, A., CAZORLA, F. M. & DEVICENTE, A. 1995. Comparison of microbial tests for the detection of heavy metal genotoxicity. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 29, 260-265.
- CORBISIER, P., THIRY, E. & DIELS, L. 1996. Bacterial biosensors for the toxicity assessment of solid wastes. *Environmental Toxicology and Water Quality*, 11, 171-177.
- D'SOUZA, S. F. 2001. Microbial Sensors. Biosensors & Bioelectronics, 16, 337-353.
- DAI, S., WANG, X., SEREDIN, V. V., HOWER, J. C., WARD, C. R., O'KEEFE, J. M. K., HUANG, W., LI, T., LI, X., LIU, H., XUE, W. & ZHAO, L. 2012. Petrology,

mineralogy, and geochemistry of the Ge-rich coal from the Wulantuga Ge ore deposit, Inner Mongolia, China: New data and genetic implications. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 90, 72-99.

- DAI, S., WANG, X., ZHOU, Y., HOWER, J. C., LI, D., CHEN, W., ZHU, X. & ZOU, J. 2011. Chemical and mineralogical compositions of silicic, mafic, and alkali tonsteins in the late Permian coals from the Songzao Coalfield, Chongqing, Southwest China. *Chemical Geology*, 282, 29-44.
- DANG, Z., LIU, C. Q. & HAIGH, M. J. 2002. Mobility of heavy metals associated with the natural weathering of coal mine spoils. *Environmental Pollution*, 118, 419-426.
- FARRE, M. L., BRIX, R. & BARCELO, D. 2005. Screening water for pollutants using biological techniques under European Union funding during the last 10 years. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 24, 532-545.
- FRITZE, H., PERIKOMAKI, J., PETANEN, T., PENNANEN, T., ROMANTSCHUK, M., KARP, M. & YRJALA, K. 2001. A microcosms study on the effects of Cd containing wood ash on the coniferous humus fungal community and the Cd bioavailability. *Soils Sediments*, 1, 146-150.
- GILLER, K. E., WITTER, E. & MCGRATH, S. P. 1998. Toxicity of heavy metals to microorganisms and microbial processes in agricultural soils: A review. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 30, 1389-1414.
- GOODARZI, F. 2006. Assessment of elemental content of milled coal, combustion residues, and stack emitted materials: Possible environmental effects for a Canadian pulverized coal-fired power plant. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 65, 17-25.
- GOODARZI, F., HUGGINS, F. E. & SANEI, H. 2008. Assessment of elements, speciation of As, Cr, Ni and emitted Hg for a Canadian power plant burning bituminous coal. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 74, 1-12.
- HE, P. J., XIAO, Z., SHAO, L. M., YU, J. Y. & LEE, D. J. 2006. In situ distributions and characteristics of heavy metals in full-scale landfill layers. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 137, 1385-1394.

- HERNANDEZ, L., PROBST, A., PROBST, J. L. & ULRICH, E. 2003. Heavy metal distribution in some French forest soils: Evidence for atmospheric contamination. *Science of the Total Environment*, 312, 195-219.
- HOLMSTRUP, M., BINDESBOL, A. M., OOSTINGH, G. J., DUSCHL, A., SCHEIL, V., KOHLER, H. R., LOUREIRO, S., SOARES, A., FERREIRA, A. L. G., KIENLE, C., GERHARDT, A., LASKOWSKI, R., KRAMARZ, P. E., BAYLEY, M., SVENDSEN, C. & SPURGEON, D. J. 2010. Interactions between effects of environmental chemicals and natural stressors: A review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 408, 3746-3762.
- IVASKA, A., VIRTAB, M. & KAHRUA, A. 2002. Construction and use of specific luminescent recombinant bacterial sensors for the assessment of bioavailable fraction of cadmium, zinc, mercury and chromium in the soil. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 34, 1439-1447.
- JARUP, L. 2003. Hazards of heavy metal contamination. *British Medical Bulletin*, 68, 167-182.
- JIANG, B., ZHU, D., SONG, Y., ZHANG, D., LIU, Z., ZHANG, X., HUANG, W. E. & LI, G. 2015. Use of a whole-cell bioreporter, *Acinetobacter baylyi*, to estimate the genotoxicity and bioavailability of chromium(VI)-contaminated soils. *Biotechnology Letters*, 37, 343-348.
- LI, C., WANG, H., ZHOU, L., ZHANG, Y., SONG, F. & ZHANG, J. 2009. Quantitative measurement of pH influence on SalR regulated gene expression in Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 79, 8-12.
- LI, X., DAI, S., ZHANG, W., LI, T., ZHENG, X. & CHEN, W. 2014. Determination of As and Se in coal and coal combustion products using closed vessel microwave digestion and collision/reaction cell technology (CCT) of inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 124, 1-4.
- LI, X. D., WAI, O. W. H., LI, Y. S., COLES, B. J., RAMSEY, M. H. & THORNTON, I. 2000. Heavy metal distribution in sediment profiles of the Pearl River estuary, South China. *Applied Geochemistry*, 15, 567-581.

- LIAO, V. H. C., CHIEN, M. T., TSENG, Y. Y. & OU, K. L. 2006. Assessment of heavy metal bioavailability in contaminated sediments and soils using green fluorescent protein-based bacterial biosensors. *Environmental Pollution*, 142, 17-23.
- LOSKA, K., WIECHULA, D. & KORUS, I. 2004. Metal contamination of farming soils affected by industry. *Environment International*, 30, 159-165.
- MA, X., LU, Z. & CHENG, J. 2008. Ecological risk assessment of open coal mine area. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 147, 471-81.
- MEIGHEN, E. A. 1994. Genetics of bacterial bioluminescence. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 28, 117-139.
- MEIJ, R., VREDENBREGT, L. H. J. & WINKEL, H. T. 2002. The fate and behavior of mercury in coal-fired power plants. *Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association*, 52, 912-917.
- MICHELINI, E., CEVENINI, L., CALABRETTA, M. M., SPINOZZI, S., CAMBORATA, C. & RODA, A. 2013. Field-deployable whole-cell bioluminescent biosensors: so near and yet so far. *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry*, 405, 6155-6163.
- NEMATI, K., ABU BAKAR, N. K., ABAS, M. R. & SOBHANZADEH, E. 2011. Speciation of heavy metals by modified BCR sequential extraction procedure in different depths of sediments from Sungai Buloh, Selangor, Malaysia. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 192, 402-410.
- NICKENS, K. P., PATIERNO, S. R. & CERYAK, S. 2010. Chromium genotoxicity: A double-edged sword. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 188, 276-288.
- PRESTON, S., COAD, N., TOWNEND, J., KILLHAM, K. & PATON, G. I. 2000. Biosensing the acute toxicity of metal interactions: Are they additive, synergistic, or antagonistic? *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 19, 775-780.
- RASMUSSEN, L. D., SORENSEN, S. J., TURNER, R. R. & BARKAY, T. 2000. Application of a mer-lux biosensor for estimating bioavailable mercury in soil. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 32, 639-646.
- RODRIGUEZ-MOZAZ, S., LOPEZ DE ALDA, M. J. & BARCELO, D. 2006. Biosensors as useful tools for environmental analysis and monitoring. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 386, 1025-41.

- SANSEVERINO, J., GUPTA, R. K., LAYTON, A. C., PATTERSON, S. S., RIPP, S. A., SAIDAK, L., SIMPSON, M. L., SCHULTZ, T. W. & SAYLER, G. S. 2005. Use of Saccharomyces cerevisiae BLYES expressing bacterial bioluminescence for rapid, sensitive detection of estrogenic compounds. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71, 4455-4460.
- SMITH, S. R. 2009. A critical review of the bioavailability and impacts of heavy metals in municipal solid waste composts compared to sewage sludge. *Environment International*, 35, 142-156.
- SONG, Y., JIANG, B., TIAN, S., TANG, H., LIU, Z., LI, C., JIA, J., HUANG, W. E., ZHANG, X. & LI, G. 2014. A whole-cell bioreporter approach for the genotoxicity assessment of bioavailability of toxic compounds in contaminated soil in China. *Environmental Pollution*, 195C, 178-184.
- SONG, Y. Z., LI, G. H., THORNTON, S. F., THOMPSON, I. P., BANWART, S. A., LERNER, D. N. & HUANG, W. E. 2009. Optimization of Bacterial Whole Cell Bioreporters for Toxicity Assay of Environmental Samples. *Environmental Science* and Technology, 43, 7931-7938.
- TIBAZARWA, C., CORBISIER, P., MENCH, M., BOSSUS, A., SOLDA, P., MERGEAY, M., WYNS, L. & LELIE, D. V. D. 2001. A microbial biosensor to predict bioavailable nickel and its transfer to plants. *Environmental Pollution*, 113, 19-26.
- TURPEINEN, R., SALMINEN, J. & KAIRESALO, T. 2000. Mobility and bioavailability of lead in contaminated boreal forest soil. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 34, 5152-5156.
- VALKO, M., MORRIS, H. & CRONIN, M. T. D. 2005. Metals, toxicity and oxidative stress. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 12, 1161-1208.
- VAN DER MEER, J. R. & BELKIN, S. 2010. Where microbiology meets microengineering: design and applications of reporter bacteria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 8, 511-522.
- VAN DYK, T. K., DEROSE, E. J. & GONYE, G. E. 2001. LuxArray, a high-density, genomewide transcription analysis of *Escherichia coli* using bioluminescent reporter strains. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 183, 5496-505.

- VANGESTEL, C. A. M. & HENSBERGEN, P. J. 1997. Interaction of Cd and Zn toxicity for Folsomia candida Willem (Collembola:Isotomidae) in relation to bioavailability in soil. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 16, 1177-1186.
- WANG, H. Q. 1999. Clastogenicity of chromium contaminated soil samples evaluated by Vicia root-micronucleus assay. *Mutation Research-Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 426, 147-149.
- WHITE, P. A. & CLAXTON, L. D. 2004. Mutagens in contaminated soil: A review. *Mutation Research-Reviews in Mutation Research*, 567, 227-345.
- XU, Y., ZHU, J., LI, H., DU, Y. & ZHANG, D. Removal and immobilization of hexavalent chromium contaminated water by magnetic nanoparticles. *Environmental Science & Technology*, Under review.
- ZHANG, D., BERRY, J. P., ZHU, D., WANG, Y., CHEN, Y., JIANG, B., HUANG, S., LANGFORD, H., LI, G., DAVISON, P. A., XU, J., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2015. Magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation of functional bacteria in a complex microbial community. *The ISME Journal*, 9, 603-614.
- ZHANG, D., DING, A., CUI, S., HU, C., THORNTON, S. F., DOU, J., SUN, Y. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter application for rapid detection and evaluation of crude oil spill in seawater caused by Dalian oil tank explosion. *Water Research*, 47, 1191-1200.
- ZHANG, D., FAKHRULLIN, R. F., ÖZMEN, M., WANG, H., WANG, J., PAUNOV, V. N., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2011. Functionalization of whole-cell bacterial reporters with magnetic nanoparticles. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 4, 89-97.
- ZHANG, D., HE, Y., WANG, Y., WANG, H., WU, L., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2012a. Whole-cell bacterial bioreporter for actively searching and sensing of alkanes and oil spills. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 5, 87-97.
- ZHANG, D., ZHAO, Y., HE, Y., WANG, Y., ZHAO, Y., ZHENG, Y., WEI, X., ZHANG,
 L., LI, Y., JIN, T., WU, L., WANG, H., DAVISON, P. A., XU, J. & HUANG, W.
 E. 2012b. Characterization and Modeling of Transcriptional Cross-Regulation in Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1. Acs Synthetic Biology, 1, 274-283.

4 Evaluating oil spill contamination in the niger delta by magnetic whole-cell bioreporter assay

The aim of chapter 4 is to directly apply biosensor on crude oil contaminated Nigerian soil samples and to ascertain the potential of magnetic whole- cell bioreporter for prompt decision making for accident rapid response in water resource management.

The specific objectives are:

- To evaluate crude oil contamination and negative impacts in the Niger Delta with chemical analysis and whole cell biosensor assessment
- To evaluate the toxicity and ecological impacts assessment from crude oil contamination arising from pollution
- To adapt the whole-cell biosensor reporter approach for swift, cheap and robust crude contamination monitoring in the Niger Delta region
- To compare whole-cell biosensor approach against chemical analysis for cross validation in the Niger Delta region of Nigeria

Abstract

Petroleum is the wealthy natural resources of Nigeria and contributes to its economic development, whereas it also brings severe contamination and threatens to human health and ecology. From 1976, there were over 10,000 crude oil spills accidents occurring in Nigeria and the total oil spillage was 9-13 million barrels, equivalent to 50 times of Exxon Valdez Oil Spill. Considering the high cost and complex operation of chemical analysis which restricts the rapid petroleum monitoring and assessment on the contaminated sites, a new magnetic nanoparticles functionalized bioreporter assay was introduced in this study. From the *in situ* bioreporter data on the four soil and two water samples, this work achieved rapid (less than 4 hours), easy-operation and direct assessment of the crude oil toxicity. The soil contamination ranged from 6250.9 to 55967.6 mg/kg in soil, and the highest water contamination was 248.5 mg/L. The combination of nanoparticles and bioreporter successfully improves the measurement accuracy and sensitivity, showing great application potential in environmental monitoring and risk assessment, particularly in developing countries. It is also a suitable tool for the environmental management crude oil contamination and remediation in Niger Delta.

Keywords

crude oil spill, Niger Delta, toxicity, bioreporter, magnetic nanoparticles, monitoring and management

Abbreviations

- FCT: Federal Capital Territory
- NNPC: Nigerian National Petroleum Development Company
- PHRC: Port Harcourt
- FME: Federal Ministry of Environment
- NCF: Nigeria Conservation Foundation
- WWF: World Wide Fund for Nature
- CEESP-IUCN: Commission on Environmental, Economic and Social Policy of International Union for Conservation of Nature
- TPHs: total petroleum hydrocarbons
- PAHs: polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
- LB: Luria-Bertani medium
- ADPWH_recA: Acinetobacter bioreporter for toxicity
- ADPWH_alk: Acinetobacter bioreporter for n-alkane
- MNPs: magnetic nanoparticles
- OD_{600} : optical density at 600 nm
4.1. Introduction

Crude oil consists of various toxic compounds and is viewed as an important environmental contaminant. It is therefore a global issue for oil spill and contamination during the crude oil exploration and refinery process. Oil spill accidents have significantly caused real threats to food security, social and environmental deterioration all over the world, especially in Niger Delta where crude oil exploration activities lasted for 50 years.

Nigeria is bounded to the South by the Gulf of Guinea, to the North by Mali, Niger Republic and Chad and to the East by Cameroun and West by Republic of Benin, and has the Federal Capital Territory (FCT) with 36 provincial states. Nigeria was ranked 10th and 7th largest in terms of oil and gas reserves in the world, with the oil and gas reserves as 31.29 billion barrels in 2011. It is one of the seven sedimentary basins in Nigeria. Exploration activities in the country had been concentrated onshore, particularly, in the Niger Delta area which is locate in the Atlantic coast of Southern Nigeria (Ite, 2007) and the region is about 20,000 km² as it is the largest wetland in Africa and among the third largest in the world (Chinweze and Abiol-Oloke, 2009).

The Nigerian oil exploration began in 1908 and has four refineries owned by the Nigerian National Petroleum Development Company (NNPC). Two are located in Port Harcourt (PHRC), One in Kaduna (KRPC) and another in Warri (WRPC). The cumulative petroleum production of Nigeria from 1958 to 2010 was 29.8 billion barrels with highest annual production of 920 million barrels in 2006. With the long history of crude oil exploration and refinery, Niger Delta has suffered from the severe crude oil contamination (Adelana et al., 2011c), which behaved as accidental oil spillage or operational discharges of petroleum into the environment (Ite et al., 2013b). Studies have indicated that the quantity of oil spilled over 50 years was at least 9-13 million barrels, which is equivalent to 50 times of Exxon Valdez Oil Spill in Alaska in 1989, showing an average oil spill of 0.15 million barrels (FME, *et al.* 2006). From the quantity and number of oil spills incidents from 1976-1990 by the research of Federal Ministry of Environment (FME), Nigeria Conservation Foundation (NCF), WWF and CEESP- IUCN (FME et al., 2006), a total number of 2,796 oil spill occurred and consequently caused significant environmental impacts in the Niger Delta.

As a biological analytical device to sense environmental contaminants via living organisms, whole-cell bioreporter is a complementary tool to evaluate the bioavailability and ecotoxicity of pollutants, especially for the synergetic toxic effects of various components in crude oil (Li et al., 2013, Tecon et al., 2010, Zhang et al., 2013). A novel bioreporter array device was then fabricated in this study for crude oil monitoring and assessment in Nigeria, by the magnetic nanoparticle functionalization of two *Acinetobacter* sp. bioreporters responsive to specific n-alkane and genotoxicity. Further discussion also attempts to reveal the current situation and reasons of crude oil contamination, monitoring, remediation and policies in Nigeria, raising potential solutions for environmental management.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Crude oil contaminated sites

Four soil and two water samples were collected from Gokana and Bodo in Rivers State and Jesse in Delta State between 2nd and 4th March 2014. They are all located in the Niger Delta with the geographic coordinates as Soil_1 and Water_2 (E5.903, N5.720), Soil_2 (E5.903, N5.757), Soil_3 and Water_1 (E5.839, N5.893) and Soil_4 (E5.840, N5.640).

4.2.2 Chemical analysis

Without specific statement, all the chemicals in this research were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. The chemical analysis of crude oil was carried out by gravimetric methods as previously described (Zhang et al., 2013). Briefly, 100 mL of water or 10.0 g soil sample was extracted by 50 mL chloroform solvent. The extracts were passed through an anhydrous sodium sulphate column to remove water and separate different oil components. The total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) contents were determined gravimetrically after solvent evaporation for 48 hours.

4.2.3 Bioreporter strain and cultivation

Two whole-cell bioreporter strains, ADPWH_alk (Zhang et al., 2012b) and ADPWH_recA (Song et al., 2009a), were applied for rapid evaluation on the n-alkane and toxicity of targeting samples to provide environmental risk assessments at crude oil-contamination sites (Zhang et al., 2013). The 1.0 L of Luria-Bertani (LB) medium contains 10 g Bacto-

Tryptone, 5 g Bacto-yeast extract and 10 g NaCl. After grown in LB medium at 30°C, the 1.0 mL bioreporter cells (about 10⁸ CFU/mL) were harvested by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C, and subsequently washed and resuspended in 10 mL deionized water as the bioreporter stock solution.

4.2.4 Magnetic bioreporter device measurement

All the soils samples were suspended in aqueous phase with the ratio of 10.0 g soils to 5 mL deionized water. The bioreporter functionalization by magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) followed previous protocol (Chen et al., 2013). Briefly, the 200 μ L of soil-water suspension was directly transferred into the wells without ultrasonic treatment, and mixed with 10 μ L magnetic nanoparticles functionalized bioreporter cells. The magnetic bioreporter array was manufactured with MNPs functionalized bioreporter cells and magnet probe assay (Jia et al., 2015). After 1 hour incubation at 30 °C with soil suspension or water sample, the MNPs functionalized bioreporter describes the disturbance of soil particles. The bioluminescent measurement to mitigate the disturbance of soil particles. The bioluminescent measurement was applied on FLUOstar Omega Multi-Mode Plate Reader (BMG Biotechnology, UK) for 6 hours. Both the bioluminescence and optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) were recorded every 10 minutes, and 30 seconds shaking was undertaken for better homogeneity. Both *insitu* and in laboratory tests were carried out with three replicates to verify the reliability and accuracy of bioreporter methods.

4.2.5 Data analysis

The bioluminescent data of individual bioreporter or bioreporter array were obtained and analysed by MARS software (BMG Biotechnology, UK). The induced bioluminescence was calculated by averaging the monitored bioluminescent data from 200 and 240 minutes. The bioluminescent response ratio was evaluated via dividing the induced bioluminescence by that of negative control (non-induced) samples.

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 Crude oil spill monitoring and assessment

The results of gravimetric analysis were listed in Table 4.1, and the crude oil contamination is significant in all the water and soil samples.

 Table 4. 1 Crude oil contamination by chemical analysis.

| Sample | Crude oil components | | |
|---------|-----------------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| | Total petroleum hydrocarbon | Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon | |
| Soil_1 | 86933 mg/kg | 175.81 mg/kg | |
| Soil_2 | 46258 mg/kg | 73.27 mg/kg | |
| Soil_3 | 9675 mg/kg | 5.39 mg/kg | |
| Soil_4 | 9842 mg/kg | 1.43 mg/kg | |
| Water_1 | 47.5 mg/L | 0.01 mg/L | |
| Water_2 | 186.4 mg/L | 0.11 mg/L | |

The soil total petroleum hydrocarbon concentration ranged from 9675 mg/kg to 86933 mg/kg, and the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were 1.43-175.81 mg/kg. The TPHs and PAHs in water samples were 47.5-186.4 mg/L and 0.01-0.11 mg/L, respectively.



Figure 4. 1Whole cell bio-reporter application for rapid detection and evaluation of crude oil spill



Figure 4. 2 Bioreporters' response to soil and water samples in Nigeria.

Figure 4.1 for ADPWH_alk's responsive to crude oil content and Figure 4.2 for ADPWH recA's responsive to toxicity.

It was clear that water and soil samples (Soil_3 and Water_1) without crude oil contamination behaved no bioluminescent response of ADPWH_alk to the oil content (Figure 4.1). For toxicity response, Soil_1, Soil_2 and Soil_3 behaved remarkable lower bioluminescent signal than the non-contaminated samples (Figure 4.2), suggesting strong inhibition effects of heavily contaminated soils on the bacterial bioreporter activities, caused by the acute toxicity of crude oil. Strong positive responsive signal is observed for ADPWH_recA to Soil_4, indicating high genotoxicity is detectable in medium-

contaminated soils. Though the contamination level of crude oil was different for Water_1 and Water_2 samples, their toxicity response (Figure 4. 2) behaved similar, which is further emphasized in the results of the Anova analysis (Table 4.2) and is possibly illustrating other potential carcinogens, such as heavy metal, in the water sample from other industrial activities.

Table 4.2 shows the P-values from the one-way ANOVA performed to assess the statistical significance of the different bioluminescence responses to varying degrees of crude contamination in various soil and water samples analyzed. The results reveal that the bioluminescence response to Alkane and Toxicity for the various samples differ significantly (P <0.05), with the exemption of toxicity in the water samples, where P = 0.214.

Table 4.2 Result from one-way ANOVA analysis of bioluminescence response to soil and water samples Alkane and Toxicity levels.

| | Alkane (P-value) | Toxicity (P-value) |
|-------|------------------|--------------------|
| Soil | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| Water | 0.000 | 0.214 |

From the calibration curve of n-alkane and toxicity (Zhang et al., 2012b), the n-alkane contents in all the targeting samples were estimated as 55967.6 mg/kg (Soil_1), 38970.8 mg/kg (Soil_2), 6250.9 mg/kg (Soil_3) and 7145.6 mg/kg (Soil_4), as illustrated in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4. 3. Evaluation of crude oil contamination and toxicity in soil and water samples.

The bioreporter results have a positive linear relationship with the gravimetric analysis, proving the feasibility of magnetic bioreporter device for *in situ* crude oil measurement. The highest aqueous n-alkane concentration was found in Water_2 as 248.5 mg/L. Soil_1 has the highest toxicity level, equivalent to 443.6 mg/kg mitomycin C in soils, followed by Soil_2 (333.1 mg/kg), Soil_3 (88.3 mg/kg) and Soil_4 (43.6 mg/kg) samples. The genotoxicity level in water samples are 36.7 mg/L (Water_1) and 202.7 mg/L (Water_2), respectively.

The novel magnetic bioreporter device achieved rapid (<4 hours, from Figure 4.1) and *insitu* crude oil and toxicity assessment, with the comparable detection limit to chemical analysis at ppm level. This method has the unique advantage of rapid evaluation on toxicity and bioavailability to provide environmental risk assessments at crude oil contamination sites over the physical and chemical methods (Zhang et al., 2013). Previously applied to the detection of alkanes and alkenes in water, seawater and soils (Zhang et al., 2012b), the bioreporter was regarded as cost-effective and reliable technique for crude oil monitoring. With the recent development of nanotechnology, the combination of nanoparticles and biological process is successful in enhancing measurement accuracy and broadening biochemical application in environmental research (Zhang et al., 2011a). As an imperative approach in case of decision making for accident rapid response in water resource management, whole cell bioreporter array has great potential in engineering application and will technical support for policies and regulations in the Niger Delta.

4.3.2 Ecological and health impacts of oil spills

Evaluated by the posed dangers in oil spills on mangrove ecosystem recovery in the Niger Delta from 1986 to 2008 (Orimoogunje and Ajibola-James, 2013b). It was found that major oil spill incidents in the region represent a significant source of hydrocarbons locally and episodically (Benson and Essien, 2009). Oil spills can last for 15 years or more in the environment without proper clean-up and remediation (Kadafa, 2012c). Oil spills in Nigerian effectively damage both flora and fauna within the environment of the contaminated soils. The terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems are also severely polluted as a result of the oil drill wastes pumped out from the crude oil wells (Bello et al., 2004).

Moreover, concentrations of some organic petroleum chemicals have been investigated, the PAHs in the sediments of the Niger Delta are characterized between 1.99 µg PAHs/g organic carbon to 120.2 µg PAHs/g organic carbon, PAHs in sediments posed real threats to the ecosystem (Sojinu et al., 2010b). There have been a dearth of figures and statistics rates in Nigeria that research carried out by link PAHs to cancer risk among Nigerians as a result of oil pollution (Chukwuma, 2006a). The results proved the posed threats to humans and animals, indicated decreases in sperm count and fertility. From the long term health impacts of crude oil spill in Alesa Eleme near Port Harcourt (Ordinioha, 2013), 60% reduction in household food security was observed and the ascorbic acid content reduction of vegetables was 36%. It resulted in a 24% increase in the prevalence of childhood malnutrition. Animal studies also indicated that crude oil could be hemotoxic and hepatotoxic, causing infertility and cancer in Nigeria (Ordinioha and Brisibe, 2013b). The environmental impact of the 1997 leakage of the high-pressure crude-oil pipeline at Isiokpo in the Niger Delta has also proved the similar mechanisms of oil spill toxicity (Osuji and Adesiyan, 2005b).

4.4 Conclusion

The severe crude oil contamination has caused serious environmental disaster in Niger Delta, consequently resulting in significantly ecological and health impacts on local community. As the world's most severely petroleum-impacted ecosystems facing the risk, Nigerian government and local community should take actions for their future sustainable development to mitigate the negative impacts of crude oil contamination. The challenges and difficulties for oil spillage contamination control attribute to both political and technical barriers. Lack of political support and sound legal actions restricts the engineering actions in monitoring, assessment and clean-up for oil spillage, especially for the downstream operations. From technical point of view, novel biological tools are suggested as a sustainable approach for the monitoring, assessment and remediation of crude oil contaminated land. Linking contamination to ecological and health impacts and achieve low-cost bioremediation, biological approach helps the decision making for accident rapid response in contaminated sites management in terms of technical support for policies and regulations.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interest.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank the Department of Petroleum Resources (DPR, Nigeria), the Petroleum Technology Development Fund (PTDF/E/OSS/PHD/EOE/500/11, Nigeria) and National Natural Science Foundation of China (41301331) for financial support in chemical and biological analysis.

References

- ADELANA, S. O., ADESINA, A. & OJUROYE, M. O. 2011. Environmental pollution and remediation: Challenges and management of oil spillage in Nigerian coastal areas. *American Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research*, 2, 834-845.
- BELLO, O. O., SONIBARE, J. A., MACAULAY, S. R. A., OKELANA, A. O. & DUROJAIYE, A. O. 2004. Incineration of hazardous wastes from the petroleum industry in Nigeria. *International Journal of Environment and Pollution*, 22, 710-720.
- BENSON, N. U. & ESSIEN, J. P. 2009. Petroleum hydrocarbons contamination of sediments and accumulation in Tympanotonus fuscatus var. radula from the Qua Iboe Mangrove Ecosystem, Nigeria. *Current Science*, 96, 238-244.
- CHEN, C., ZHANG, D., THORNTON, S. F., DUAN, M., LUO, Y., DING, A. & HUANG,
 W. E. 2013. Functionalization and immobilization of whole cell bioreporters for the detection of environmental contamination. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 12, 1417-1422.
- CHINWEZE, C. & ABIOL-OLOKE, G. 2009. Women Issues, Poverty and Social Challenges of Climate Changes in the Nigerian Niger Delta Context. 7th International Conference on the Human Dimension of Global Environmental Changes. UN Campus, Bonne, Germany.
- CHUKWUMA, M. 2006. Crude oil pollution raises cancer risk among Nigerians [Online]. <u>http://www.africancancercenter.com/:</u> African Cancer Center, Lagos Nigeria. [Accessed 16 March 2013.
- FME, NCF, WWF & CEESP-IUCN 2006. Niger Delta Natural Resource Damage Assessment and Restoration project.
- ITE, A. E., IBOK, U. J., ITE, M. U. & PETTERS, S. W. 2013. Petroleum Exploration and Production: Past and Present Environmental Issues in the Nigeria's Niger Delta. *American Journal of Environmental Protection*, 1, 78-90.
- ITE, U. E. 2007. Changing times and strategies: Shell's contribution to sustainable community development in the Niger Delta, Nigeria. Sustainable Development, 15, 1-14.

- JIA, J., LI, H., ZONG, S., JIANG, B., LI, G., EJENAVI, O., ZHU, J. & ZHANG, D. 2015. Magnet bioreporter device for ecological toxicity assessment on heavy metal contamination of coal cinder sites. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, in press.
- KADAFA, A. A. 2012. Environmental Impacts of Oil Exploration in the Niger Delta of Nigeria. Global Journal of Science Frontier Environment & Earth Sciences, 12, 19-28.
- LI, C., ZHANG, D., SONG, Y., JIANG, B., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter for the estimation of oil contamination. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 12, 1353-1358.
- ORDINIOHA, B. 2013. The prevalence of hypertension and its modifiable risk factors among lecturers of a medical school in Port Harcourt, south-south Nigeria: Implications for control effort. *Nigerian Journal of Clinical Practice*, 16, 1-4.
- ORDINIOHA, B. & BRISIBE, S. 2013. The human health implications of crude oil spills in the Niger delta, Nigeria: An interpretation of published studies. *Nigerian medical journal : journal of the Nigeria Medical Association*, 54, 10-6.
- ORIMOOGUNJE, O. O. I. & AJIBOLA-JAMES, O. 2013. Mangrove Ecosystem Recovery and Restoration from Oil Spill in the Niger Delta: The GIS Perspective. *Geoinfor Geostat: An Overview*, S1, 1-5.
- OSUJI, L. C. & ADESIYAN, S. O. 2005. The Isiokpo oil-pipeline leakage: Total organic carbon/organic matter contents of affected soils. *Chemistry & Biodiversity*, 2, 1079-1085.
- SOJINU, O. S. S., WANG, J.-Z., SONIBARE, O. O. & ZENG, E. Y. 2010. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sediments and soils from oil exploration areas of the Niger Delta, Nigeria. J Hazard Mater, 174, 641-647.
- SONG, Y., LI, G., THORNTON, S. F., THOMPSON, I. P., BANWART, S. A., LERNER,
 D. N. & HUANG, W. E. 2009. Optimization of Bacterial Whole Cell Bioreporters for Toxicity Assay of Environmental Samples. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 43, 7931-7938.
- TECON, R., BEGGAH, S., CZECHOWSKA, K., SENTCHILO, V., CHRONOPOULOU, P.-M., MCGENITY, T. J. & VAN DER MEER, J. R. 2010. Development of a

Multistrain Bacterial Bioreporter Platform for the Monitoring of Hydrocarbon Contaminants in Marine Environments. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44, 1049-1055.

- ZHANG, D., DING, A., CUI, S., HU, C., THORNTON, S. F., DOU, J., SUN, Y. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter application for rapid detection and evaluation of crude oil spill in seawater caused by Dalian oil tank explosion. *Water Research*, 47, 1191-1200.
- ZHANG, D., FAKHRULLIN, R. F., ÖZMEN, M., WANG, H., WANG, J., PAUNOV, V. N., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2011. Functionalization of whole-cell bacterial reporters with magnetic nanoparticles. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 4, 89-97.
- ZHANG, D., HE, Y., WANG, Y., WANG, H., WU, L., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2012. Whole-cell bacterial bioreporter for actively searching and sensing of alkanes and oil spills. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 5, 87-97.

5 Simultaneous and online detection of crude oil contamination via biological-phase microextraction and biosensing (BPME-BS) device

This chapter aims to develop innovative passive sampler approach for the simultaneous quantification of alkane concentration using a novel biological-phase micro-extraction and biosensing (BPME-BS) device. The specific objectives are:

- To addressed the challenges of online measurement of crude oil contamination.
- To develop biosensor device for on-field and in-situ measurement of crude oil contamination.
- Explore collaboration with Nigerian companies for the possible commercialization of biosensor for crude oil contamination monitoring.

Abstract

Oil spills incidents are frequent and show significant threats to ecosystem and human health. Chemical analysis is the widely accepted method for crude oil detection, but requiring sample pre-treatment and not suitable for online monitoring. Given the increasing demands of rapid and online detection of oil spill, we developed a passive sampler for simultaneous quantifying alkane concentrations via biological-phase microextraction and biosensing (BPME-BS) device, introducing alkane-chemotaxis bioreporter ADPWH alk to seek for and accumulate alkanes from water samples. Immobilizing ADPWH alk cells in agarose gel, the BPME-BS device achieved high enrichment factor (>4.6) and satisfactory limit of detection (0.05 mg/L) for alkanes. The quantitative response of BPME-BS device to alkane concentrations was comparable to that of gas chromatography flame ionisation detector (GC-FID). The alkane bioreporter ADPWH alk kept stable sensitivity and limit of detection under a wide range of environmental conditions, like pH between 4.0 and 9.0, temperature from 20°C to 40°C, and salinity from 0% to 3.0%. The response of BPME-BS device was reliable within 30 days when stored at 4°C. More importantly, the BPME-BS device could detect the dynamic concentration of alkanes in water samples, and the 7-day simultaneous measurement proved its feasibility as online alkane detection device. Our work proves the concept that whole-cell bioreporter cells can be immobilized as passive sampler for online diagnosing environmental contaminants. As a successful case, the novel BPME-BS device achieves simultaneous quantification of oil spill, contributing to fast detection of and rapid response to crude oil spill.

Key words: Alkane, bioreporter, Acinetobacter baylyi, chemotaxis

5.1 Introduction

Crude oil spills have significantly negative impacts on ecosystem and human health, and they frequently occurred due to the rapid industrial development and increasing usage of crude oil. During the exploration, transportation, storage and manufacturing of crude oil, there were over 40 large oil spill incidents worldwide since 1969, including Exxon Valdez Oil Spill in Prince William Sound (Bence et al., 1996, Bragg et al., 1994), Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill in Gulf of Mexico (Camilli et al., 2010) and Dalian Xingang Oil Explosion (Zhang et al., 2013). Large areas of oil-contaminated sites have damaged ecological systems and threatened human health (Peterson et al., 2003, Piatt et al., 1990). Many chemical analytical methods can be used to measure the contents of crude oil, including gravimetric, fluorophotometry (Zhou et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2016a), infrared (IR) absorption (Lay-Ekuakille et al., 2013), gas chromatography flame ionization detector (GC-FID) (Krupcik et al., 2013) or gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GC-MS) methods (Liu et al., 2007). However, those techniques require the solvent extraction or solid-phase microextraction for sample pre-treatment, which restrict their applications in online or real-time detection (D'Auria et al., 2008). Some new tools need to be developed to address such question, for the simultaneous detection of oil spill and rapid response to the disasters.

Different from chemical analytical methods, whole-cell bioreporter is another technique to analyse chemicals via biological cells. It helps our understanding of the bioavailability of pollutants in natural environment by measuring the biological response. Some whole-cell bioreporters have been developed (Zhang et al., 2012b) and even applied in real-world cases (Zhang et al., 2013). Nevertheless, these methods are feasible only in laboratory and suffer from the complicated operation and low reproducibility when the bioreporter strains are reactivated for measurement. Meanwhile, the whole-cell bioreporters need to be pretreated and mixed with the targeting environmental samples, restricting its potential for online or real-time measurement of contaminants. Such a huge gap shows the importance of device implementation, particularly for the rapid response to oil spill incidents, which is one of the most common environmental contaminants. The combination of biological sensing and instrumental measurement can provide the real-time and non-destructive features to achieve fast and reliable detection of crude oil contamination.

Naturally, some alkane degrading microorganisms have chemotaxis towards alkanes or can bio-accumulate alkanes (Wang and Shao, 2013). These features enable bacterial access to and utilization of alkanes in different phases (Parales and Harwood, 2002). The *tlpS* gene in Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO1 is located in downstream of the alkane monooxygenase alkB1 gene and encodes a methyl-accepting chemotaxis protein (MCP) recognizing hexadecane (Smits et al., 2003). Similarly, the alkN gene in P. putida GPo1 can encode an MCP for alkane chemotaxis (van Beilen et al., 2001). Other alkane chemotactic MCP encoding genes can be also found in other strains, such as Flavimonas oryzihabitans (Lanfranconi et al., 2003) and Alcanivorax dieselolei (Lai et al., 2012), responding to alkanes of different chain length. Acinetobacter baylyi is a bacterial species with the strongest alkane chemotaxis and accumulation (Zhang et al., 2012b), in which the putative gene encoding an MCP is *chpA* with high genetic similarity to *cheY* (fused chemotactic sensory histidine kinase) and *ompR* (two-component response regulator) in *Escherichia coli*, hinting similar chemotaxis machinery. It is reported A. baylyi cells have high affinity to alkane droplets (Zhang et al., 2012b), showing the high recognition specificity of MCP to linear alkanes. The alkane chemotactic and accumulation behaviour hints at the possibility allowing them assembled as device to sense and accumulation alkanes from aqueous phase for alkane detection.

This study developed a novel passive sampler (biological-phase microextraction and biosensing, BPME-BS) for simultaneous detection of alkane concentrations in water samples. By immobilizing alkane chemotactic and accumulation bioreporter ADPWH_alk in agarose gel, this BPME-BS device was able to enrich alkanes from water samples and responded to alkane contaminations with high sensitivity. More importantly, it could simultaneously detect alkane concentrations and achieve real-time or online alkane analysis.

5.2Methods

5.2.1 Bioreporter strains and cultivation

Acinetobacter *baylyi* ADPWH_alk (Zhang et al., 2012b) was used as the alkane whole-cell bioreporter in this study. It has been proved to show quantitative response to alkanes in water and can metabolize alkanes. The ADPWH_alk cells were grown in LB medium at 30°C and 150 rpm for 16 h. The 1.0 mL cells were then centrifuged at 4,000 rpm for 5 min, washed three times using minimal medium, and finally resuspended in 1.0 mL minimal medium as the stock solution. The 1.0 litre minimal medium contained 1.0 g (NH₄)₂SO₄, 2.5 g KH₂PO₄, 0.1 g MgSO₄·7H₂O, 0.005 g FeSO₄·7H₂O, 0.25 g nitrilotriacetic acid, 0.55 g NaOH, and 1 mL Bauchop and Elsden solution.

5.2.2 BPMS-BS device assembly

The manufacture of BPMS-BS device followed the 4-step assembly (*gelatification-immobilization-molding-solidification*) as illustrated in Figure 5. 1) *Gelatification*: the agarose gel stock solution (1.1%) was prepared by adding 1.1 g agarose powder into 98.9 mL sterile deionized water, heated up to 100°C for 10 min and cooled down to 50°C. 2) *Immobilization*: 1.0 mL stock solution of bioreporter ADPWH_alk cells were then added into the agarose solution, mixed well by shaking at 300 rpm for 10 seconds. 3) *Molding*: the agarose-bioreporter suspension was subsequently embedded in glass deployment unit with mold (base, $3.0 \times 3.0 \times 0.2$ cm, length×width×thickness, Figure 5.1A; mold, 2.5-cm diameter and 0.2 cm depth, Figure 5.1B). 4) *Solidification*: after solidification with glass cover ($3.0 \times 3.0 \times 0.2$ cm, length×width×thickness, Figure 5.1C) for 30 minutes, the cover was removed and the BPME-BS device was ready for alkane detection. During *gelatification* step, the agarose gel was cooled to 100°C, 80°C, 60°C, 50°C and 45°C to test the impacts of immobilization temperature on bioreporter viability.



Figure 5. 1 Schematic assembly of BPMS-BS device, following four steps as *gelatification, immobilization, molding* and *solidification*.

5.2.3 BPMS-BS device deployment and detection

The 1.0 mineral oil (Sigma Aldrich, USA) was dissolved in 100 mL dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), and seriously diluted in DMSO to the final concentrations 5,000, 1,000, 500, 100,

50, 10, 5, and 1 mg/L. The alkane stock solutions were prepared by dissolving 1.0 mL oil-DMSO solution in 99 mL deionized water, and the final alkane concentrations were 100, 50, 10, 5, 1, 0.5, 0.1, 0.05 and 0.01 mg/L. The blank control was prepared by adding 1 mL DMSO in 99 mL deionized water.

The alkane enrichment and response was tested in static system (Figure 5.2.A). The BPME-BS device was deployed in 100 mL alkane stock solution with different concentrations. After 1hour deployment, the n-alkane concentrations in suspension before and after deployment were analyzed by GC-FID to calculate the enrichment factor. The BPME-BS devices were then fixed in each well of a 6-well clear-bottom microplate (Corning, USA) for biological signal detection. After adding 10 mL mineral medium with 20 mM sodium succinate as the sole carbon source, the BPME-BS devices were incubated at 30°C for 6 hours, and the bioluminescent signals (relative luminescent unit, RLU) of each well were measured every 10 min using the microplate reader (FLUOstar Omega, BMG Labtech, UK). To test the uniform of bioluminescent signals of BPME-BS device, the scanning mode was carried out to map the bioluminescence distribution, with 900 (30×30) points detected on each agarose gel. The bioluminescent scanning was applied every 1 hour. For the quantification of alkane concentration and impacts of environmental variants on BPME-BS device performance, a kinetic measurement was employed and bioluminescent signals were collected every 10 minutes. The calculation of bioluminescence response ratio followed out previous methods (Zhang et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2012b). Briefly, the induced bioluminescence was calculated by the average of bioluminescent measurements between 180 and 210 min. The bioluminescence response ratio was calculated by dividing the induced bioluminescence by the original bioluminescence (time = 0 min), and the relative bioluminescence response ratio was calculated by dividing the induced bioluminescence (samples) by that of the blank control.

In simultaneous system, BPME-BS device was deployed in a chamber with 100 mL deionized water (Figure 5.2.B), continuously injected with artificial water sample at the rate of 1 mL/min. The artificial oil contamination was simulated by pulse addition of alkane stock solution (final concentration 50 mg/L). The whole system was placed within the microplate reader platform and the bioluminescent signals were measured every 1 min for

150 hours and the 5.0 mL of effluent water samples were collected every 4 hours for chemical analysis.



Figure 5. 2 Static (A) and simultaneous (B) system for detecting alkane concentrations in water samples via BPME-BS device.

5.2.4 Impacts of environmental variants on BPME-BS performance

To test the impacts environmental variants on the performance and stability of BPME-BS device, we tested the response of BPME-BS device under different pH, temperature and salinity conditions. The pH was adjusted by adding 1.0 M NaOH or HCl solution to the final values of 4.0, 5.0, 6.0, 7.0, 8.0, 9.0 and 10.0. The deployment temperature ranged from 10°C to 50°C. Water samples with different salinity (0%, 1%, 2%, 3%, 4% and 5%) were prepared by adding concentrated NaCl solution in to alkane stock solutions. In all the treatments, the alkane concentrations were 50 mg/L.

The BPME-BS device was stored at 4°C and tested for its response to water samples after long-term storage every 10 days for 60 days. The BPME-BS device was directly deployed in water samples containing 50 mg/L alkanes, and the measurement followed the same procedure in static detection.

5.2.5 Chemical analysis

Determination of alkane content followed the hexane extraction method. One microlitre 5α cholestane was spiked as a surrogate standard in 1 mL of each water sample. Afterwards, the samples were added with 10 mL hexane and ultrasonically homologized for 2 min (40 kHz). The hexane fraction was further collected and evaporated in 40°C water bath and redissolved in 1.0 mL hexane. The internal standard solution was tetracosane (C₂₄D₅₀) at 50 mg/L (Fryirs et al., 2014). The analysis was carried out with a gas chromatography flame ionization detector (GC-FID). The 1 µL of sample was injected into a Hewlett Packard gas chromatograph GC 5890 coupled with a flame ionization detector 5971A. The GC was equipped with a capillary column DB 5MS (60 m × 0.2 mm × 0.32 µm, J&W Scientific). The temperature program was set as 1 min at 35°C, then a progressive increase to 310°C at a rate of 10°C/min and finally 10 min at 310°C.

5.2.6 Data analysis

For each treatment, three individual replicates were carried out. All the statistical analysis was performed by SPSS 17.0. One-way ANOVA and least significant difference (LSD) test were employed in the analysis of statistical significance of differences and variance (p-value<0.05) of n-alkane concentrations in different treatments. The quantitative regression between biological signals of BPME-BS device and n-alkane concentration was calculated by the gene expression model as described previously (Zhang et al., 2012d, Al-Anizi et al., 2014b, Zhang et al., 2012b).

5.3 Results and Discussions

5.3.1 Performance of alkane bioreporter immobilization

During *immobilization* process, the viability of whole-cell bioreporter ADPWH_alk was significantly affected by the temperature of agarose gel. From Figure 5.1, similar bioluminescent signals of BPME-BS gel were obtained when the immobilization temperature was 45°C and 50°C. They were less than 10% lower than the signals of bioreporter cells without immobilization, showing high cell viability in these treatments. With the increasing immobilization temperature, the bioreporter viability significantly

declined. At 100°C, there was no bioluminescent signal, showing that all the bioreporter cells were dead. As a soil bacterium, *Acinetobacter baylyi* is extremely robust to environmental variation, including temperature. It was reported to maintain high viability and responsive sensitivity within a wide range of temperatures. Immobilization temperature is an important factor for BPME-BS device manufacturing. Higher temperature helps easier homologous mixture of bioreporter suspensions and agarose solution, contributing to better uniformity of the entire gel. However, it significantly reduced the cell viability and damaged the responsive sensitivity from our data. On the contrast, the agarose gel is easier to become solidification at lower temperature. Considering both sides, 50°C in the present study behaved well in both maintaining bioreporter viability and easier solidification for device manufacture. It was then selected as the optimal immobilization temperature for the following experiment.



Figure 5. 3. Bioreporter viability under different immobilization temperature.

Exposed to alkane solutions, BPME-BS device showed positive bioluminescent response

and the bioluminescent signals were highly uniformly distributed on the gel throughout the induction time (Figure 5.4.). No significant bioluminescent signals were detectable in the negative control (the agarose gel device without bioreporter cells immobilization). The extremely low bioluminescent background ranged from 0 to 300 RLU, similar as the wells without any device and indicating that the bioluminescent signal came from the bioreporter, not the agarose gel. In absence of alkanes (blank treatment), BPME-BS device did not show significant bioluminescent response and the bioluminescent intensity was less than 2,000 RLU throughout the experiment. After exposure to 50 mg/L alkanes, BPME-BS device showed significantly stronger bioluminescence, averagely 23,535±2,620 RLU after 6 hours induction. Compared to the blank, the relative response ratio ranged from 9.8 to 13.6, similar as the response ratio of ADPWH_alk to 50 mg/L alkanes without immobilization.



Figure 5. 4. Bioluminescent signal dynamic and distribution on BPME-BS device

The device with no bioreporter embedded showed extremely low bioluminescent background (<300 RLU), indicating the biological signal comes from bioreporter. The device with bioreporter did not show significant bioluminescent response in absence of alkanes (<2,000 RLU after 6 hours exposure), whereas a significant response was only observed for the BPME-BS device after exposure to alkanes (>20,000 RLU after 6 hours).

Meanwhile, the bioluminescent signal of all the treatments (negative, blank, and 50 mg/L treatments) followed the normal distribution pattern on the film (Figure 5.4). A higher deviation was observed when exposure to 50 mg/L alkanes, but the total bioluminescence on the BPME-BS device showed relatively even across the film, indicating the bioreporter ADPWH_alk were evenly immobilized within the agarose gel of BPME-BS device.

5.3.2 Limit of detection and quantitative response of BPME-BS device

The real-time bioluminescent curve of BPME-BS device was illustrated in Figure 5.5.A. The bioluminescent signals of blank control and positive treatment were not of significant difference within the first 2 hours. The bioluminescence of BPME-BS ranged from 1,000 RLU to 2,000 RLU in this period, and the response ratio was less than 1.2 for all the treatments. It is reported that ADPWH_alk bioreporter needed about 30 to 60 minutes to active and response to the external alkanes. Thus within the first 2 hours, the *alkB* gene was not activated and the bioluminescent signal represented the baseline and viability of whole-cell bioreporter cells immobilized within the BPME-BS device. The significantly increasing bioluminescence from 2 hours to 6 hours, indicating the activated expression of *alkB* gene which is triggered by the recognition of alkane molecules by AlkM regulator. Meanwhile, the increasing rate of bioluminescent response ratio was positively correlated with the concentration of alkanes, showing the potential of quantitatively measuring alkane concentration in environmental samples. After 6 hours induction, the bioluminescent signals became saturated, indicating the saturated expression of *alkB* gene.



Figure 5. 5 (A) Bioluminescent response dynamics of BPME-BS device exposure to different alkane concentrations. Alkane concentrations ranged from 0 mg/L to 100 mg/L. (B) Quantitative response of BPME-BS device to alkanes.

Red dot and black line represent the experimental data and model simulation, respectively.

Attributing to the stable bioluminescent response ratio between 6 to 8 hours, it was used for the regression relationship between response ratio and alkane concentrations. From the gene regulation model (Zhang et al., 2012d, Al-Anizi et al., 2014b, Zhang et al., 2012b), the saturated transcription rate (α_m) was 51.6 s⁻¹ cell⁻¹, and the stimulus binding rate (K_1) was 0.434. Compared to other gene regulation intensity and specificity (Zhang et al., 2012d, Al-Anizi et al., 2014b, Zhang et al., 2012b), the recognition of alkanes by AlkM regulator is of high specificity and the activation is strong to be a bioreporter sensing alkane molecules. Also based on such gene regulation model, the regression line (Figure 5.5B) illustrated the correlation between bioluminescent response ratio and alkane concentration, which could be used for the calculation of alkane amount in environmental samples.

It was interesting that the significant response was observed when the concentration of mineral oil was 0.05 mg/L or above, comparing to the blank treatment. The limit of detection was significantly improved by comparing to the direct application of

ADPWH_alk bioreporter (0.5 mg/L) (Zhang et al., 2012b). It was explained by the active sensing and accumulation of alkanes by ADPWH_alk cells within the agarose gel.

5.3.3 Alkane enrichment factor and limit of detection

The whole-cell bioreporter ADPWH_alk has the capability to search for and accumulate alkanes attributing to alkane chemotaxis. After immobilized in BPME-BS device, a significant enrichment of alkanes was observed, as illustrated in Figure 5.6 The average enrichment factor for all the alkane with different chain length was 3.8, ranging from 3.4 (C_{10} dodecane) to 5.5 (C_{12} , dodecane). It is worth noting that the enrichment factor was dependent on the carbon chain length. It has been reported previously that the alkane chemotaxis of *A. baylyi* to alkanes has high selectivity to the number of carbon chain lengths. The *cheY1* and *cheY2* genes in *Alcanivorax dieselolei* are triggered by C_8 - C_{24} n-alkanes and alkanes longer than C_{24} , respectively(Wang and Shao, 2014). Our results here could be explained by such mechanism that the bioreporter ADPWH_alk has higher chemotaxis towards linear alkanes with carbon chain length from 12 to 21, in which range a higher enrichment was observed.



Figure 5. 6 The enrichment factor of BPME-BS device towards alkanes of different carbon chain length.

5.3.4 High tolerance to environmental variants

As mentioned above, Acinetobacter baylyi is a soil bacterium, and ADPWH alk therefore can tolerate the environmental variations. Accordingly, BPME-BS maintained the detection sensitivity and bioluminescent response ratio under different pH, salinity and temperature condition. Though the bioluminescent responses were weak under extreme low or high pH (pH=4.0 or 10.0), BPME-BS device achieved stable and high response towards 50 mg/L mineral oil when pH values ranged from 5.0 to 9.0 (Figure 5.7A). The results were similar to previous work (Li et al., 2009). Fig. 5.7B also illustrated the good responsive performance of BPME-BS device at 20°C (relative bioluminescent response ratio=20.1), 30° C (relative bioluminescent response ratio=25.8) and 37° C (relative bioluminescent response ratio=23.9). The reduction of bioluminescent response at 10°C and 40°C was attributed to the less bacterial activities at higher or lower temperatures, in accordance with previously reported optimal response range of A. baylyi bioreporters. The response was even weaker under extreme temperature conditions (10°C or 40°C). Our data showed that salinity did not significantly affect the response sensitivity of BPME-BS device to alkanes when the salinity was no higher than 3%, and the relative bioluminescent response ratios were above 20.0 (Fig. 5.7C). It gradually declined at higher salinity level, indicating that BPME-BS device had high reproducible response in most of environmental samples, e.g. marine water (salinity around 3.5%). The wide range of optimal response of the BPME-BS device in the present study hinted its potential application in real environmental samples without specific pre-treatment.



Figure 5. 7. The response and performance of BPME-BS device under different pH (A), temperature (B) and salinity (C). The response ratio of BPME-BS device after different storage time (D) showed its feasibility as commercial device.

BPME-BS device also maintained high activity and responsive sensitivity after long-term storage (Fig. 5.7D). Stored in deionized water at 4°C, the response ratio of BPME-BS device had a slight decreasing trend after the first 30 days and the remaining responsive sensitivity was above 90% of original ones (Figure 5.7D). Afterwards, the bioluminescent response ratio had a dramatic decline, indicating longer storage not suitable for alkane detection. Our results suggested that BPME-BS device could be directly applied for alkane measurement without any pre-treatment, and the relative bioluminescent response ratio was above 20.0 for waters with 50 mg/L mineral oils. The life-time of BPME-BS device in the

present study was the same to the reported ones of original *Acinetobacter* based bioreporters (Zhang et al., 2012a, Song et al., 2009b), indicating that agarose gel immobilization had minimal impacts on the bacterial activities and was an appropriate approach to expand its application in water contamination assessment.

5.3.5 Simultaneous detection of alkanes

BPME-BS device achieved real-time and reliable response to alkanes simultaneously for 150 hours (7 days), as illustrate in Figure 5.8. The bioluminescent signals of BPME-BS device were simultaneously measured by the microplate reader, converted to the continuous alkane concentration in water based on regression curve the in Figure 5.8. The red lines therefore illustrated the real-time alkane content measured by BPME-BS device, and the data fitted well with the results of chemical analysis (GC-FID, blue dot in Figure 5.8). The dramatic increase of bioluminescent response was observed after the injection of water samples with alkane contamination, and gradually declined due to the diluted alkane concentrations in the chamber. A relatively stable peak response after each injection indicated the stability of BPME-BS device response to the same concentration of alkanes, and the continuous measurement lasted for over 7 days, showing the feasibility of applying BPME-BS device for online monitoring. It was worth mentioning that, although GC-FID chemical analysis could also provide accurate data of alkane pulse contamination, the gap between each sampling and measurement missed some contamination, such as injection 3 (30 hours), injection 4 (44 hours), injection 6 (72 hours) and injection 7 (96 hours). The results showed the limitation of chemical analysis, which was determined by the sampling time point and could not provide the high resolution of alkane contamination along with time. Therefore, the BPME-BS device provided a supplementary tool for online monitoring of alkane contaminated water samples, although less accurate but illustrating the alkane dynamics in real time.



Figure 5. 8. Simultaneous response of BPMS-BS device to water samples with pulse alkane contamination.

Blue bar indicated the pulse alkane contamination by injection. Black and red lines represented the alkane concentrations in water samples which were calculated from the bioluminescent response of BPME-BS device. Blue circle referred to the alkane results of GC-FID analysis which was carried out every 4 hours.

5.4 Conclusion

In this study, the developed BPME-BS device achieves high enrichment of alkanes, and can effectively respond to the dynamics of influent alkane. Such enrichment has significantly improved the limit of detection from 0.5 mg/L by directly applying alkane bioreporters to 0.05 mg/L in BPME-BS device. We also identified the dose-effect between alkane concentration and bioluminescent response. This BPME-BS device also has high tolerance to environmental variants, including temperature, pH and salinity, and its responsive reproducibility remained satisfied after 30 days storage. All these features indicate that BPME-BS device is reproducible, sensitive and feasible for the measurement of alkanes in water samples. More interestingly, our simultaneous test proves that BPME-BS device can produce real-time bioluminescent signals, representing the dynamic alkane concentrations. It shows the huge potential as low-cost and online device to monitor crude oil spill, suitable for rapid response to management for oil spill incidents.

Reference

- AL-ANIZI, A. A., HELLYER, M. T. & ZHANG, D. 2014. Toxicity assessment and modelling of Moringa oleifera seeds in water purification by whole cell bioreporter. *Water Research*, 56, 77-87.
- BENCE, A. E., KVENVOLDEN, K. A. & KENNICUTT, M. C. 1996. Organic geochemistry applied to environmental assessments of Prince William Sound, Alaska, after the Exxon Valdez oil spill - A review. Organic Geochemistry, 24, 7-42.
- BRAGG, J. R., PRINCE, R. C., HARNER, E. J. & ATLAS, R. M. 1994. Effectiveness of bioremediation fro the Exxon-Valdez oil-spill. *Nature*, 368, 413-418.
- CAMILLI, R., REDDY, C. M., YOERGER, D. R., VAN MOOY, B. A. S., JAKUBA, M. V., KINSEY, J. C., MCINTYRE, C. P., SYLVA, S. P. & MALONEY, J. V. 2010.
 Tracking Hydrocarbon Plume Transport and Biodegradation at Deepwater Horizon. *Science*, 330, 201-204.
- D'AURIA, M., RACIOPPI, R. & VELLUZZI, V. 2008. Photodegradation of crude oil: Liquid injection and headspace solid-phase microextraction for crude oil analysis by gas chromatography with mass spectrometer detector. *Journal of Chromatographic Science*, 46, 339-344.
- FRYIRS, K. A., HAFSTEINSDÓTTIR, E. G., STARK, S. C. & GORE, D. B. 2014. Metal and petroleum hydrocarbon contamination at Wilkes Station, East Antarctica. *Antarctic Science*, 27, 118-133.
- KRUPCIK, J., GOROVENKO, R., SPANIK, I., BOCKOVA, I., SANDRA, P. & ARMSTRONG, D. W. 2013. On the use of ionic liquid capillary columns for analysis of aromatic hydrocarbons in low-boiling petrochemical products by onedimensional and comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography. J Chromatogr A, 1301, 225-36.
- LAI, Q., LI, W. & SHAO, Z. 2012. Complete Genome Sequence of Alcanivorax dieselolei Type Strain B5. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 194, 6674-6674.

- LANFRANCONI, M. P., ALVAREX, H. M. & STUDDERT, C. A. 2003. A strain isolated from gas oil-contaminated soil displays chemotaxis towards gas oil and hexadecane. *Environmental Microbiology*, **5**, 1002-1008.
- LAY-EKUAKILLE, A., PALAMARA, I., CARATELLI, D. & MORABITO, F. C. 2013. Experimental infrared measurements for hydrocarbon pollutant determination in subterranean waters. *Rev Sci Instrum*, 84, 015103.
- LI, C., WANG, H., ZHOU, L., ZHANG, Y., SONG, F. & ZHANG, J. 2009. Quantitative measurement of pH influence on SalR regulated gene expression in Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 79, 8-12.
- LIU, W., CHEN, J., LIN, X., FAN, Y. & TAO, S. 2007. Residual concentrations of micropollutants in benthic mussels in the coastal areas of Bohai Sea, North China. *Environ Pollut*, 146, 470-7.
- PARALES, R. E. & HARWOOD, C. S. 2002. Bacterial chemotaxis to pollutants and plantderived aromatic molecules. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 5, 266-273.
- PETERSON, C. H., RICE, S. D., SHORT, J. W., ESLER, D., BODKIN, J. L., BALLACHEY, B. E. & IRONS, D. B. 2003. Long-term ecosystem response to the Exxon Valdez oil spill. *Science*, 302, 2082-2086.
- PIATT, J. F., LENSINK, C. J., BUTLER, W., KENDZIOREK, M. & NYSEWANDER, D. R. 1990. Immediate impact of the Exxon Valdez oil-spill on marine birds. *Auk*, 107, 387-397.
- SMITS, T. H. M., WITHOLT, B. & VAN BEILEN, J. B. 2003. Functional characterization of genes involved in alkane oxidation by Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek International Journal of General and Molecular Microbiology, 84, 193-200.
- SONG, Y. Z., LI, G. H., THORNTON, S. F., THOMPSON, I. P., BANWART, S. A., LERNER, D. N. & HUANG, W. E. 2009. Optimization of Bacterial Whole Cell Bioreporters for Toxicity Assay of Environmental Samples. *Environmental Science* and Technology, 43, 7931-7938.
- STICHER, P., JASPERS, M. C. M., STEMMLER, K., HARMS, H., ZEHNDER, A. J. B. & VANDERMEER, J. R. 1997. Development and characterization of a whole-cell

bioluminescent sensor for bioavailable middle-chain alkanes in contaminated groundwater samples. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63, 4053-4060.

- VAN BEILEN, J. B., PANKE, S., LUCCHINI, S., FRANCHINI, A. G., ROTHLISBERGER, M. & WITHOLT, B. 2001. Analysis of *Pseudomonas putida* alkane-degradation gene clusters and flanking insertion sequences: evolution and regulation of the alk genes. *Microbiology-SGM*, 147, 1621-1630.
- WANG, C., SHI, X., LI, W., WANG, L., ZHANG, J., YANG, C. & WANG, Z. 2016. Oil species identification technique developed by Gabor wavelet analysis and support vector machine based on concentration-synchronous-matrix-fluorescence spectroscopy. *Mar Pollut Bull*.
- WANG, W. & SHAO, Z. 2013. Enzymes and genes involved in aerobic alkane degradation. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 4.
- WANG, W. & SHAO, Z. 2014. The long-chain alkane metabolism network of Alcanivorax dieselolei. *Nature Communications*, 5.
- ZHANG, D., DING, A., CUI, S., HU, C., THORNTON, S. F., DOU, J., SUN, Y. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter application for rapid detection and evaluation of crude oil spill in seawater caused by Dalian oil tank explosion. *Water Research*, 47, 1191-1200.
- ZHANG, D., HE, Y., WANG, Y., WANG, H., WU, L., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2012a. Whole-cell bacterial bioreporter for actively searching and sensing of alkanes and oil spills. *Microbial Biotech.*, 5, 87-97.
- ZHANG, D., HE, Y., WANG, Y., WANG, H., WU, L., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2012j. Whole-cell bacterial bioreporter for actively searching and sensing of alkanes and oil spills. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 5, 87-97.
- ZHANG, D., ZHAO, Y., HE, Y., WANG, Y., ZHAO, Y., ZHENG, Y., WEI, X., ZHANG,
 L., LI, Y., JIN, T., WU, L., WANG, H., DAVISON, P. A., XU, J. & HUANG, W.
 E. 2012k. Characterization and modeling of transcriptional cross-regulation in Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1. ACS Synthetic Biology, 1, 274-283.
- ZHOU, Z., GUO, L., SHILLER, A. M., LOHRENZ, S. E., ASPER, V. L. & OSBURN, C.L. 2013. Characterization of oil components from the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in

the Gulf of Mexico using fluorescence EEM and PARAFAC techniques. *Marine Chemistry*, 148, 10-21.
6 Separating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude oil contaminated-sites via magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI)

This chapter aims to develop a new method investigating functional n-alkane degraders in the natural soil microcosm with n-alkane mixtures as carbon sources.

.The specific objectives are:

- Introduce the application of the novel magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) technology in the Nigerian soil.
- To evaluate the oil degradation process in the soils and access the microbial response for alkane mineralization
- To study the alkane degradation process by bioremediation, and potentially identify indigenous micro-organisms that can aid bioremediation through various carbon source introduction.
- To overcome the challenge of using traditional function and sequence-based approaches to reveal the in situ ecological functions of those uncultivable microorganisms, where the function-based cultivation cannot effectively isolate those microbes and the sequence-based method brings unpredictability from a huge database without accurate allocation of their functions.

Abstract

Uncultivable microorganisms account for over 99% of all the species on the planet, but their functions are yet not well characterized. Though many cultivable degraders for nalkanes have been intensively investigated, the roles of functional n-alkane degraders remain hidden in the natural environment. This study introduces the novel magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) technology in Nigerian soils and successfully separates functional microbes belonging to the families Oxalobacteraceae and Moraxellaceae, which are dominant and responsible for alkane metabolism in situ. The *alkR*-type n- alkane monooxyygenase genes, instead of *alkA*- or *alkP*-type, n-alkane were the key functional genes involved in the n-alkane degradation process. Further physiological investigation via BIOLOG PM plate revealed some carbon (Tween 20, Tween 40 and Tween 80) and nitrogen (tyramine, L-glutamine and D-aspartic acid) sources promoting microbial respiration and n-alkane degradation. With further addition of promoter carbon or nitrogen sources source, the separated functional alkane degraders significantly improved n- alkane biodegradation rates. This suggests that MMI is a promising technology for separating functional microbes from complex microbiota, with deeper insight into their ecological functions and influencing factors. The technique also broadens the application of BIOLOG PM plate for the physiological research on the functional yet uncultivable microorganisms.

Key words:

n-Alkane; Biodegradation, Magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI); Uncultivable microorganisms; Functional alkane degraders; BIOLOG PM plate

6.1 Introduction

Many environmental hazardous chemicals have been released into the environment through various industrial activities. With the industrial development and urbanization process, increasing use of crude oil has consequently caused numerous oil spill accidents and contaminated sites. Since 1969, there have been over 40 large oil spill accidents throughout the world, such as the Exxon Valdez oil spill in Prince William Sound in 1989 (Bence et al., 1996, Bragg et al., 1994), the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico (Camilli et al., 2010) and the Xingang oil spill in Dalian in 2010 (Zhang et al., 2013). These resulted in large areas of oil contaminated sites, affected ecological systems and threatened human health (Peterson et al., 2003, Piatt et al., 1990).

Many microbes are involved in the natural n-alkane degradation process, under either aerobic or anaerobic conditions (Van Beilen et al., 1994, Jobson et al., 1972, Becker and Dott, 1995, Berthe-Corti and Fetzner, 2002, Hamamura et al., 2008, Heiss-Blanquet et al., 2005). The identified n-alkane degraders include Acinetobacter (Lal and Khanna, 1996, Fondi et al., 2013), Alcaligenes (Lal and Khanna, 1996), Alcanivorax (Hara et al., 2003, Kasai et al., 2002, Sabirova et al., 2006, Schneiker et al., 2006), Arthrobacter (Radwan et al., 1996), Geobacillus (Feng et al., 2007), Bacillus (Kato et al., 2001, Chaerun et al., 2004), Brachybacterium (Yan, 2006), Burkholderia (Yuste et al., 2000), Desulfatibacillum (Cravo-Laureau et al., 2004, Cravo-Laureau et al., 2005), Dietzia (von der Weid et al., 2007, Yumoto et al., 2002), Geobacillus (Wang et al., 2006), Gordonia (Kotani et al., 2003), Marinobacter (Doumeng et al., 2001, Bonin et al., 2004), Mycobacterium (Churchill et al., 1999, van Beilen et al., 2002), Paracoccus (Chaerun et al., 2004, Zhang et al., 2004), Planococcus (Engelhardt et al., 2001), Pseudomonas (Koch et al., 1991, Naik and Sakthivel, 2006), Rhodococcus (van Beilen et al., 2002, Kunihiro et al., 2005, Andreoni et al., 2000) and Thermooleophilum (Zarilla and Perry, 1984). They are widely distributed in hydrocarbon-polluted or non-polluted environments, with essential roles in n- alkane degradation. Meanwhile, alkane monooxygenases encoding genes vary widely among these alkane degraders, although they all share considerable sequence homology (Jurelevicius et al., 2013). One type of *alkB* gene from *Pseudomonas* (Smits et al., 2002, Chaerun et al.,

2004) and *Rhodococcus* (Amouric et al., 2010) encodes alkane monooxygenases metabolizing short- or medium-chain n-alkanes with a carbon chain length from 14 to 20. *Rhodococcus* is capable of degrading C₇ to C₂₀ n-alkanes, with *alkB1/alkB2* nucleotide sequences sharing high similarity to *alkB* (Razak et al., 1999). In addition, *Acinetobacter* has a different *alkM* gene for utilizing n-alkanes from C₁₃ to C₄₄ (Pleshakova et al., 2001, DiCello et al., 1997, Lal and Khanna, 1996), and its n-alkane oxidation capacity is higher for medium- and long-chain alkanes (Tanaka et al., 2010, Kennedy et al., 1975) than for short-chain ones (Bajpai et al., 1998). Other research also identified various alkane hydroxylase genes with different sequences identities from in pure cultured strains. Such diverse alkane monooxygenase-encoding genes involved in alkane metabolism therefore cause an underestimation of the alkane biodegradation pathway in the natural environment and are attracting increasing academic attention.

To understand the behavior of n-alkane degradation, both sequence- and function-based approaches have been attempted. Sequence-based techniques include denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE), the 16S rRNA clone library and metagenomics highthroughput sequencing (Muyzer et al., 1993). All these molecular tools provide new opportunities for interpreting and diagnosing the characteristics of microcosms in natural environments (Tringe et al., 2005). Lindstrom et al. reported declining microbial diversity with long-term crude oil contamination (Lindstrom et al., 1999), and the relative abundance of n-alkane degraders (Rhodococcus, Sphingomonas and Pseudomonas) was significantly increased (Aislabie et al., 2004). In marine sediment, oil contamination also affects microbial community structure and function, consequently resulting in increased oil metabolizing activities and decreased diversity of the microbial population (Powell et al., 2003, Yakimov et al., 2005). It is also reported that geographic locations determine functional or species diversity within bacterial communities at oil-contaminated sites (Maila et al., 2006, Liang et al., 2011), and contamination type and history significantly affect the community and population of soil microorganisms, leading to less microbial diversity and functions in heavily-contaminated soils than in those with light contamination (Cheung and Kinkle, 2001, Liang et al., 2015). Function-based approaches focus cultivation and physiological behavior of n-alkane degraders, or soil enzymatic activities, to investigate the ecological functions and responses of soil microbes to n-alkane contamination (Juck et al., 2000). For instance, *Pseudomonas* (Al-Saleh and Akbar, 2015) and *Rhodococcus* (Sorkhoh et al., 1990) are characterized as the most common cultivable n-alkane degraders in soil. The correlation between microbial diversity degradation and their physiological functions in crude-oil-contaminated soils has been successfully explained by BIOLOG phenotype assay (Lindstrom et al., 1999). The dynamics of soil the microbial population, community composition and enzymatic activities also reveal the response of the microbial community to crude oil contamination during the degradation process (Parrish et al., 2005). By directly analyzing the functions and phenotypic behaviour of alkane degraders, bioaugmentation and biostimulation have been applied as cost-effective and environmentally friendly methods to improve biodegradation performance by adding exogenous degrading strains or growth substances (Lin et al., 2016), such as electron acceptors (oxygen supply) and nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus substrates) (Jackson and Pardue, 1999).

Most microorganisms (>99%) are uncultivable under laboratorial conditions, but functional in natural environments (Kaeberlein et al., 2002). They play key roles in the natural carbon and nitrogen cycle but their physiology is hard to investigate, especially that of n-alkane degraders. It is of great challenge when using traditional function- or sequencebased approaches to reveal the *in situ* ecological functions of uncultivable microorganisms, where function-based cultivation cannot effectively isolate those microbes and the sequence-based method is unpredictable due to a huge database without accurate allocation of their functions. Stable Isotope Probing (SIP) is a promising technique investigating functional-yet-uncultivable microbes (Radajewski et al., 2000). The biomass (DNA, RNA or protein) of functional-yet-uncultivable microbes becomes heavier during the metabolism of stable isotope-labeled (¹³C or ¹⁵N) and can be further separated by the difference in buoyant density (Zhang et al., 2015b). Numerous degraders of phenolic compounds and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAHs) have been identified via SIP at crude- oil -contaminated sites, including Burkholderia, Alcanivorax and Cvcloclasticus (Uhlik et al., 2012, Song et al., 2015). Nevertheless, SIP has a challenge, since the ¹³C labeled substrate is very expensive and the dosage is normally single pure chemical instead of mixtures (Chen and Murrell, 2010). In most environmental degradation cases, multicontaminants exist at the contaminated sites. Particularly for alkane degradation, the complicity of n-alkane composition in the natural environment strongly restricts the applicable feasibility of SIP. Magnetic-nanoparticles-mediated isolation (MMI) is a recently developed method for separating living functional microbes from complex microbiota (Zhang et al., 2015b). After being functionalized with magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) and dosed with targeted carbon sources, the living active degraders gradually divide and ultimately lose their magnetic attraction, whereas inert bacteria remain silent and their magnetism is constant. Therefore, functional microbes can be effectively be separated by magnetic field from the whole microbiota. In this way, the MMI technique does not rely on substance labeling and can be used in microcosms with multiple carbon or nitrogen sources. More importantly, the separated bacterial cells are still alive and suitable for further physiological investigation, providing more comprehensive information on microbial diversity and ecological functions.

To address these challenges, this research aims to develop a new method investigating functional n-alkane degraders in the natural soil microcosm with n-alkane mixtures as carbon sources. Via magnetic separation of living n-alkane degraders, the present study focused on their phenotype and n-alkane degradation performance by the BIOLOG PM plate. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first successful identification of functional n-alkane degraders from soils that reveals their phenotypic behavior, and the enhancing of n-alkane degradation efficiency with the additive of extra nitrogen sources.

6.2 Materials and methods

6.2.1 Site and sample collection

The crude-oil-contaminated site is located in Delta State, Nigeria (N 7°15'16.9", E 4°41'23.95"). Five national crude oil drilling wells are distributed within 5 km of the site and there have been intensive oil exploration activities since the 1980s. With a long history of crude oil contamination caused by drilling wells and pipeline spillages, severe cases of crude oil contamination have been observed, and the average n-alkane content in the research area is about 2.0% (w/w). The soil samples were collected on June 14, 2015.

During the collection, the surface soils (0-10 cm) were gently removed to avoid the impacts of human activities and disturbance. A total of 500 g of soils from a depth of 10-20 cm were collected, sieved to remove plant debris and stones, and finally stored at 4 °C before further analysis.

6.2.2 MNPs synthesis and targeting soil functionalization

The synthesis of MNPs followed previous instructions (Zhang et al., 2011b). One mL FeCl₂ (1.0 M) and 2 mL FeCl₃ (2.0 M) were gently mixed, with further drop-by-drop addition of 25 mL NaOH (2.0 M). After continuous shaking for 30 min, the synthesized dark nanoparticles were harvested by a magnet for 10 min and washed by 30 mL deionized water several times until neutral pH value (7.0). The synthesized MNPs concentration was 9.1 g/L.

To test the soil magnetic-functionalization efficiency and optimize soil magnetism for effective separation, the 1.0 mL synthesized MNPs were mixed with soils of weights from 0.06 mg to 17,700 mg. After gently shaking for 5 min, the magnetic functionalized soils were harvested by a permanent magnet for 10 min. A quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) was used to quantify the bacterial concentration in the supernatant (bacterial 16S rRNA copy numbers in magnetic-free fraction, BC_{MF} for short, copies/mL) and magnetic soil pellet (BC_{MS}, copies/mL). The soil magnetic functionalization efficiency was calculated as the ratio of the bacterial amount in magnetic soil pellet to the total amount (BC_{MS}/ BC_{MF} + BC_{MS}). Here, 100% soil magnetic functionalization efficiency indicates that all soil bacteria are successfully magnetically functionalized (BC_{MF} = 0 copies/mL), and 0% refers to no soil bacteria with magnetism (BC_{MS} = 0 copies/mL).

From the curve of soil magnetic functionalization efficiency (Figure 6.1), the MNPfunctionalized soil samples were prepared by mixing 500 mg soil (dry weight) and 0.91 mg MNPs as the optimal condition for n-alkane biodegradation treatments.

6.2.3 Alkane biodegradation treatments

For n-alkane biodegradation, the soil samples were spiked with/without 2% (w/w) mineral oil (Sigma Aldrich, UK) and thoroughly mixed well. The five treatments included HgCl₂ (0.1%)-treated soils with mineral oil (sterile control), original soils without mineral oil

(CKN), original soils with mineral oil amendment (CKP), MNP-functionalized soils without mineral oil (MNPN) and MNP-functionalized soils with mineral oil amendment (MNPP). All treatments were carried out in biological triplicates and the microcosms were incubated at room temperature for 40 days. Around 2.0 g of soils were collected at Day 5, 10, 20, 30 and 40 for chemical and biological analysis directly in CKN and CKP treatments. To evaluate the in situ phenotype of separated n-alkane degraders in MNPN and MNPP treatments, we prepared the sterile oil extraction solution by adding 1.0 g original soils in 10 mL deionized water and passing through a 0.45 µm filter. The 0.45 µm filter aimed to remove most of the soil particles and living bacterial cells in the soil suspension. Some small bacterial cells might still remain in the aqueous phase, but their impact on oil degradation was minimal from our BIOLOG tests. To separate magnetic-free cells (MFCs), 2.0 g of soil samples from MNPN and MNPP treatments at each sampling time point were further suspended in the sterile soil extraction solution and the MFCs were separated from the inert microbes (magnetic pellets) by a magnet and marked as MFCN for MNPN treatment and MFCP for MNPP treatment.

6.2.4 DNA extraction, amplification and sequencing

The soil and MFCs DNA was extracted via PowerSoil DNA extraction kit (MOBIO, USA) in accordance with manufacturer's instruction. Targeting DNA amplification was amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The primer pairs and thermos cycling program for 16S rRNA and n-alkane degrading functional genes were listed in Table 6.1 (Herlemann et al., 2011, Smits et al., 1999, Kuhn et al., 2009, Marchant et al., 2006). The three pairs of primers for n-alkane monooxygenase gene (alk_A, alk_P and alk_R) followed previous research to characterize the n-alkane microbial profiles (*Acinetobacter, Pseudomonas* and *Rhodococcus*, respectively) in soils following previous protocols (Jurelevicius et al., 2013). These three types of alkB genes shared considerable sequence homology, but varied in different species with phylotypic differences. The 50 μ L PCR reaction system contained 2 μ L deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs, 5 mM), 2 μ L of each primer (5 mM), 1 μ L DNA template, 0.3 μ L Dream Taq DNA polymerase (Fermentas, UK), and 37.7 μ L, ultrapure water (molecular biology grade, Sigma Aldrich, UK).

Table 6. 1 Primers and amplification programs.

| | Name | 5'-3' | Heating | | | Amplification | | | | | | Reference |
|----------------|---------------------|----------------|--------------|-------------|-------|---------------|------|-----------|------|-----------|------|-------------------------|
| Target | | | Temp (°C) | Time (s) | Cycle | Denaturation | | Annealing | | Extension | | |
| | | | | | | Temp | Time | Temp | Time | Temp | Time | |
| | | | ``´ | | | (°C) | (s) | (°C) | (s) | (°C) | (s) | |
| | | CCTACGGGNGGC | | | | | | | | | | (Herlemann |
| Total bacteria | alk_RF/alk_RR | WGCAG/TACNVG | 95 | 240 | 30 | 95 | 45 | 40 | 60 | 72 | 300 | et al 2011) |
| | | GGTATCTAATCC | | | | | | | | | | et ul., 2011) |
| | | ATCTGGGCGCGT | | | | | | | | | | |
| | alk_PF/alk_PR | TGGGATTTGAGC | 94 | 180 | 30 | 94 | 60 | 45 | 60 | 72 | 60 | (Smits et al., 1999) |
| | | G/CGCATGGTGA | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | TCGCTGTGCCGC | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | TGC | | | | | | | | | | |
| n-alkane | | GCICAIARITIRKI | | | | | | | | | | |
| monooxygenase | e alk_AF/alk_A R | CAYAA/GCITGIT | 94 | 180 | 30 | 94 | 60 | 58.5 | 30 | 72 | 30 | (Kuhn et al., 2009) |
| gene | | GITCISWRTGICG | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | | YTG | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | GGTACGGSCAYT | | | | | | | | | | |
| | alk_RF/alk_RR | TCTACRTCGA/CG | 94 | 180 | 34 | 94 | 45 | 52 | 45 | 72 | 45 | (Marchant et |
| | | GRTTCGCGTGRT | | | | | | | | | | al., 2006) |
| | | GRT | | | | | | | | | | . , |

Quantification of 16S rRNA and n-alkane monooxygenase genes (alk_A, alk_P and alk_R) was determined by qPCR. The 20 μ L qPCR system was consisted of 2 μ L of each primer, 1 μ L DNA template, 5 μ L molecular water and 10 μ L iTaqTM Universal SYBR® Green Supermix (BioRad, USA). Standard curves were obtained with serial dilutions of quantified plasmid DNA (via nanodrop) containing the fragment of 16S rRNA and alkB genes. The qPCR programs were the same as the above PCR programs, except for the extra fluorescence data acquisition at 80°C for 15 s in each cycle.

To determine the microbial community structure in soils and MFCs, the extracted DNA were sequenced with PCR amplicon libraries of the hypervariable V3, V4 and V6 region of the 16S rRNA genes (Annoroad Gene Technology Co., Ltd, Beijing, China.).. Pyrosequencing was carried out by an Illumina HiSeq4000 with the average reads length of 450 bp after PEAR alignment (Zhang et al., 2014). All the reads passed the quality filtering, and the reads were discarded if the barcodes were uncorrectable, the bases with Phred Quality Score <19 covered above 30% of the read, or the ambiguous bases were over 5%. Sequences were assigned to operational taxonomic units (OTUs) with a 97% pairwise identity as the threshold, and then classified taxonomically by the Greengenes 16S rRNA reference database. The distance matrices from samples were generated by the Bray-Curtis metric and visualized by principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) by QIIME (Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology) software.

6.2.5 Community substrate utilization analyses

Biolog PM plates (Biolog, USA) were used to examine the carbon and nitrogen metabolism of MFCs in treatments with MNPs-functionalized soils. The 150 μ L MFCs were added into each well of the PM1 (95 carbon sources) and PM3 (95 nitrogen sources with additional 500 mg/L mineral oil as the sole carbon source), supplemented with 1.5 μ L Biolog Redox Dye Mix A (100×). The plates were incubated at 25°C for 48 hours and the color development was read every 15 min as absorbance by a multimode microplate reader (FLUOstar Omega, BMG Labtech, UK) at 590 nm wavelength (Hueso et al., 2012). The data were collected and further analyzed by MARS software (BMG Labtech, UK).

6.2.6 n-alkane chemical analyses

Determination of n-alkane content in soils followed the hexane extraction method. All the soil samples were freeze-dried and each 1 gram of soils was spiked with 1 mL 5 α -cholestane as a surrogate standard. Added with 10 mL hexane, the soil-hexane mixture was ultrasonically homologized for 2 min (40 kHz) and the supernatant was further fractionalized by column chromatography (Tang et al., 2010). The glass column (ϕ 10 mm × 100 mm) was consisted of 2 cm anhydrous Al₂O₃, and 0.3 cm anhydrous Na₂SO₄ from the bottom to the top. Pre-washed with hexane, the column was loaded with soil-hexane supernatants and washed with 20 mL of hexane. The collection was then evaporated in 40 °C water bath and re-dissolved in 1.0 mL hexane. The internal standard solution was tetracosane (C₂₄D₅₀) at 50 mg/L (Fryirs et al., 2014).

Analysis of the extracts was carried out using a gas chromatography flame ionization detector GC-FID. The 1 μ L of sample was injected into a Hewlett Packard gas chromatograph GC 5890 coupled with a flame ionization detector 5971A. The GC was equipped with a capillary column DB 5MS (60 m × 0.2 mm × 0.32 μ m, J&W Scientific). The temperature program was set as 1 min at 35°C, then a progressive increase to 310°C at a rate of 10°C/min and finally 10 min at 310°C.

The n-alkane residues in Biolog PM assay, there was a technical problem in our lab when applying hexane extraction for high-throughput extracting and analyzing alkanes in a small volume of water sample in each well (150 μ L). We therefore used alkane whole-cell bioreporter, ADPWH_alk (Zhang et al., 2012b) to detect n-alkane concentrations after degradation. This alkane bioreporter had a detection range from 0.1 mg/L to 100mg/L. After cultivation in lysogeny broth medium at 30°C overnight, the ADPWH_alk bioreporter cells were washed by deionized water and resuspended in minimal medium with 20 mM succinate as the sole carbon source (Zhang et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2012b). The 50 μ L solution from each well of Biolog PM3 (95 nitrogen sources) was mixed with 150 μ L ADPWH_alk suspension, and added into the wells of 96-well black & clear-bottom microplate (Corning, USA) with three replicates. Incubated at 30°C for 6 hours, the bioluminescent signal was measured every 10 min using a FLUOstar Omega microplate

reader (BMG Labtech, UK). The induced bioluminescence was calculated by the average of bioluminescent measurements between 180 and 210 min. The bioluminescence response ratio was calculated by dividing induced bioluminescence by the original bioluminescence (time = 0 min), and the relative bioluminescence response ratio was calculated by dividing the induced bioluminescence (samples) by that of the control (non-induced). The residual n-alkane concentration was evaluated by the gene expression model (Zhang et al., 2012d) and the calibration curve (Zhang et al., 2012b) as described previously.

6.2.7 Statistical analysis

All the statistical calculations were performed by SPSS 17.0. One-way ANOVA and least significant difference (LSD) test were employed in the analysis of statistical significance of differences and variance (p-value<0.05) of n-alkane residuals and 16S/alkane-monooxygenase gene copies in different treatments. Correlation analysis between microbial respiration level and n-alkane degradation rate was conducted with significant level less than 0.05.

6.3 Results and discussion

6.3.1 Optimal condition of soil microcosm functionalization with MNPs

Both soil microorganisms and particles are predominantly negatively charged, which resulted in the strong electrostatic interaction with positively charged MNPs (Xu et al., 2014). This study investigated the optimal weight ratio of soil to MNPs (ranging from 0.066 to 19,500, w/w) to achieve both high magnetic functionalization efficiency and minimal dosages. The residual bacterial counts were quantified by qPCR and Figure 6.1 shows the magnetic functionalization efficiency maintained over 99.5% when the ratio of soil to MNPs suspension was less than 1100 (w/w). Beyond the critical point, the magnetic functionalization efficiency dramatically declined to only 90.88% (soil:MNPs = 5300, w/w) and 16.65% (soil:MNPs = 19,500, w/w), due to the excessive negative soil particles or bacterial cells in the system.



Figure 6. 1 Soil magnetic-functionalization efficiency against the ratio of soil to MNPs suspension (from 0.066 - 19,500, w/w).

The functionalization of bacterial cells by MNPs was attributed to the electrostatic interaction between MNPs and the carboxyl(-COOH)/thiol(-SH)/amine(-NH₂) functional groups on bacterial cell membrane (Lin et al., 2015). Since these functional groups are universal for all bacterial cells, the non-selective adhesion ensures that all bacterial species can be effectively functionalized with magnetism. The optimal condition for further n-alkane biodegradation treatment was therefore set as 500 mg soil (dry weight) and 0.91 mg MNPs (0.1 mL suspension).

6.3.2 The degradation of n-alkanes in soils

After 40 days of incubation, the n-alkanes were significantly degraded by soil microbes, as illustrated in Figure 6.2.



Figure 6. 2A. The n-alkane degradation curve in soils functionalized with/without MNPs. CKN (\Box) and CKP (\blacksquare) represent the original soil treatments with/without n-alkane amendment. MNPN (\circ) and MNPP (\bullet) refer to the treatments of MNPs-functionalized soils without/with n-alkane amendment. Change of individual n-alkanes with specific carbon chain length. B. The abundance of each n-alkane (C₁₀ – C₂₄) is normalized as 100% for original mineral oil.



В

The concentration of n-alkanes showed a slight decrease (<83%) with time in the sterile control, whereas significantly higher degradation efficiencies were achieved in all n-alkaneamended treatment (CKP and MNPP treatments, p-value <0.05). There was no significant difference between the n-alkane degradation rates in soils with/without MNPs functionalization (MNPP and CKP treatments, p-value<0.05), indicating MNPs did not affect the bacterial activities or n-alkane degradation performance (Zhang et al., 2015b). Dramatic n-alkane degradation was observed in the first 20 days, when the n-alkane degradation efficiency was 68.6% and 80.7% in CKP and MNPP treatments, respectively. Afterwards, n-alkane degradation was slowed down and n-alkane degradation efficiency achieved 90.7% and 83.4% in CKP and MNPP treatments respectively, after 40 days degradation. The results of GC-FID (Figure 6.3) illustrated the change in individual nalkanes with specific carbon chain length. In the sterile control, C_{10} and C_{11} alkanes had the lowest residual ratio (30.9% and 46.2%) due to their higher vapour pressure. About 70% -90% of C_{12} - C_{15} medium-chain alkanes and over 90% of alkanes with carbon chain length > 16 remained in the soil. For both CKP and MNPP treatment, the removal efficiency for short- and medium-chain alkanes have higher solubility and degradation rates than long-chain alkanes and they might favor bacterial metabolism. Therefore, the slower alkane degradation rates after 20 days might possibly be attributed to declining alkane solubility and degradation rates in soils. Our results were similar to previous research on aerobic alkane biodegradation (Chaineau et al., 2005), but significantly higher than anaerobic alkane degradation (Caldwell et al., 1998, Hasinger et al., 2012). From the nalkane biodegradation curve, the soil DNA was extracted on Day 20 and Day 40, representing the rapid and slow degradation step to address the respective profiles of microbial community structure and ecological functions.

6.3.3 Microbial community responsible for n-alkane degradation

Bar-coded pyrosequencing generated 220,584 quality sequences from the 13 samples, from 13,066 sequences in MFCP_40 to 29,231 reads in MFCN_20. At the 97% similarity level, a total of 2176 phylotypes were defined. The Original soil sample (NC) and samples without n-alkane addition (CKN_20, CKN_40, MNPN_20 and MNPN_40) had the largest number

of phylotypes detected from 1,122 to 1,244. The phylotypes in samples with n-alkane degradation were significantly lower (1,045 in CKP_40 to 739 in MFCP_40). Significant declining alpha diversity was observed during the n-alkane degradation process, wherein the Shannon-index ranges from 7.8-8.2 in original soil samples (NC) or those without n-alkane amendment (CKN_20, CKN_40, MNPN_20 and MNPN_40) to 6.4 in soils with n-alkane degradation after 40 days (CKP_40), and as low as 5.8 in the MFC fractions showing that microbial diversity with n-alkane degradation (MFCP_20 and MFCP_40). Our results fitted well with previous findings showing that microbial diversity and functions declined after n-alkane contamination and during the bioremediation process that followed (Powell et al., 2003, Yakimov et al., 2005, Cheung and Kinkle, 2001).

Cluster analysis of the relative abundance of bacteria at the family level was illustrated in Figure 6.4(A), representing microbial diversity in soil samples amended with/without nalkane at different time point. Of all the classifiable sequences, 25 phylotypes were the most dominant at the family level and accounted for over 70% of all the sequences. In original soil (NC), the key microbes belonged to the families *Nitrospiraceae* (10.3%), (5.6%), Syntrophobacteraceae Ellin515 (7.8%). Solibacteraceae (5.2%) and Koribacteraceae (4.8%). They were all soil microorganisms with essential roles in soil carbon and nitrogen cycling. There was no significant difference between CKN and MNPN treatments (p-value<0.05), indicating no microbial community change in the soils with or without MNP functionalization. Thus, MNP functionalization did not change soil microbial activities or community structure, consistent with previous findings. In treatments without n-alkane addition (CKN 20, CKN 40, MNPN 20 and MNPN 40), a similar microbial community structure was observed, showing the constant microbial diversity and population throughout the experiment without n-alkane amendment. These five treatments were therefore within close distance in the Bray-Curtis analysis (Figure 6.4(B)). Directly amended with n-alkanes, the bacterial community composition gradually changed and the dominant microbes in CKP 40 (40 days n-alkane degradation) belonged to Moraxellaceae (13.5%) and *Bdellovibrionaceae* (6.2%). *Moraxellaceae* is a common cultivable soil microbe family with the capability of n-alkane metabolism. Bdellovibrionaceae is also previously reported with the *alkB* alkane monooxygenase after the oil spill in the Mexico Gulf (Smith et al., 2013). Our results indicated that they were the cultivable n-alkane degraders in the targeted soils.



Figure 6. 3 Relative abundance of microbial taxonomic at the family level in the soil samples amended with/without n-alkane at different time point.

(A). Taxonomic assignment was carried out with the Greengenes 16S rRNA database. NC refers to the original soils (Day 0); for all the samples, "20" and "40" mean DNA collected on day 20 and 40 respectively; CKN and MNPN represent the soil DNA of the treatments without n-alkane additives; CKP and MNPP the soil DNA of the treatments with n-alkane additives; MFCN and MFCP represent the DNA in magnetic-free cells (MFCs) fraction of the treatments without/with n-alkane additives. No significant difference between CKN, MNPN and MNPP treatments (p-value<0.05), indicating MNPs functionalization did not change microbial activities of n-alkane degradation. Bray-Curtis cluster analysis (B) and PCoA (C) showed that MFCN 20, MFCN 40 and MFCP 20 had similar community structure, all with far distance to MFCP 40, CKP 40 and other soil microcosms. It indicated that the magnetic free fraction microbes kept stable without nalkane addition, and the increasing abundance of OTUs in MFCP 20 and MFCP 40 was attributed to the utilization of n-alkane. The bacteria belonging to the families Oxalobacteraceae and Moraxellaceae were dominant in MFCs with n-alkane additive (MNPP treatment) on Day 20 and Day 40 respectively, suggesting they were the key soil nalkane degraders in situ.

It is quite interesting that the microbial diversity of magnetic microbes in soils with MNP functionalization and n-alkane amendment (MNPP_20 and MNPP_40) were similar to CKN_20 and CKN_40 (Figure 6.4(A)). Meanwhile, an entirely different microcosm structure was identified in MFCs, which contained phylotypes belonging to the families *Oxalobacteraceae* (47.6%), *Xanthomonadaceae* (8.6%), *Comamonadaceae* (5.8%) and *Brucellaceae* (5.2%) in MFCP_20 treatment, and *Moraxellaceae* (28.6%) and *Comamonadaceae* (14.6%) in MFCP_40 treatment. All these microbes have been previously reported to have the capacity of metabolizing n-alkanes from the diversity analysis or direct cultivation of soil communities (Yang et al., 2014, Alonso-Gutierrez et al., 2009, Mattes et al., 2008). For the first time in this study, we successfully isolated these living functional n-alkane degraders using a cultivation-independent approach. Our results show that active n-alkane degraders gradually lost their magnetism due to division and remained in MFC fractions. Meanwhile, the remaining microbes in soil microcosm (MNPP_20 and MNPP_40) could not metabolize n-alkanes and maintained magnetism, and

they were therefore effectively captured by permanent magnet and separated from MFC fractions. Their community diversity therefore remained stable and similar to the control treatment. Based on the difference between MFCP_20 and MFCP_40, it is suggested that, during the first 20 days of the fast degradation process, identified *Oxalobacteraceae* were the key functional degraders, followed by the metabolisms of *Moraxellaceae* from Day 20 to Day 40. Considering the change in individual n-alkanes with specific carbon chain length (Figure 6.4(B) *Oxalobacteraceae* hypothetically had preferential utilization of shortand medium-chain alkanes, whereas *Moraxellaceae* might be capable of metabolizing long-chain alkanes. PCoA results in Figure 6.4C provide further evidence that MFCP_40 and CKP_40 were of different community structure, both separated from the other MFC fractions (MFCN_20, MFCN_40 and MFCP_20) and the inert soil samples (NC, CKN_20, CKN 40, MNPN 20, MNPN40, MNPP 20, MNPP 40 and CKP 40).

6.3.4 Dynamics of 16S rRNA and n-alkane monooxygenase genes

The copy numbers of 16S rRNA and n-alkane monooxygenase encoding genes were estimated by qPCR and illustrated in Figure 6.4.



Figure 6. 4 Quantification of 16S rRNA and n-alkane monooxygenase encoding gene level in different treatments. (A): 16S rRNA abundance against cultivation time, where y-axis represents the 16S rRNA copies per mL. (B), (C) and (D): relative abundance of n-alkane monooxygenase encoding gene (alkA/16S, alkP/16S and alkR/16S) against cultivation time.

Throughout the n-alkane degradation process, the relative abundance of 16S rRNA in CKN, CKP, MNPN and MNPP samples were identical and remained at the same level without significant difference (Figure 6.4A, 4.48×10^8 - 7.40×10^8 copies/mL, *p*-value>0.05). The

16S rRNA copy numbers of MFCs from MNPN and MNPP treatments were similar on Day 0, ranging from $5.47 \times 10^5 - 7.41 \times 10^5$ copies/mL, accounting for less than 1/1000 of total soil microorganisms. In MFCs from MNPN treatment, there was no significant difference in the abundance of 16S rRNA during cultivation without n-alkane $(7.41 \times 10^5 - 9.64 \times 10^5 \text{ copies/mL}, p\text{-value} > 0.05)$. Results indicated that only limited number of microorganisms could utilize soil residual carbon sources, divide and lose magnetism. With n-alkane additives in MNPP treatments, 16S rRNA abundance increased to 2.11×10^6 copies/mL on Day 20 and 7.89×10^6 copies/mL on Day 40, showing the growth and dominance functional n-alkane degraders in MFC fractions.

The relative abundance of three n-alkane monooxygenase encoding gene (alkA-, alkP- and alkR-type) behaved differently during n-alkane degradation process. On Day 20 and Day 40, alkA-type genes were significantly higher in CKP treatment than those in CKN treatment (Figure 6.4B, *p*-value<0.05). Compared to MFCN fraction, they also increased in MFCP fraction but only 0.88 (Day 20) and 2.0 (Day 40) times higher, showing their limited roles in n-alkane metabolism. Throughout n-alkane biodegradation, there was no significant difference in the *alkP*-type alkane monooxygenase genes in any of the treatments (*p*value>0.05 (Figure 6.4C). The results indicated that the microbes with *alkP*-type genes had minimal impacts on n-alkane degradation and they were not the key functional n-alkane degraders in the microcosm. Interestingly, *alkR*-type n-alkane monooxygenase increased significantly and became more predominant in MFC fraction from MNPP treatment (MFCP), as illustrated in Figure 6.4D. Their relative abundance was 123 and 48 times higher in MFCP on Day 20 and Day 40 than those in MFCN. The addition of n-alkane as the sole carbon source clearly encouraged the growth of microbes with *alkR*-type genes and they therefore participated in the n-alkane biodegradation process. In contrast, the relative abundance of alkR-type genes was not significantly increased in CKP and MNPP treatments, compared to CKN and MNPN treatments accordingly. This was explained by the rare abundance of functional n-alkane degraders with *alkR*-type genes (around 1.0×10^{-13} copy per 16S rRNA copy) in the original soil microcosms. Their abundance change was not as significant as that in MFCs where only functional n-alkane degraders were enriched and separated.

Most of research on n-alkane degraders in the soil microbial community has addressed the cultivation of n-alkane degraders (Chaerun et al., 2004) or the direct pyrosequencing and qPCR, to analyze the change in community structure and functional gene abundance. The cultivable n-alkane degraders can only effectively metabolize n-alkane under artificial conditions, whereas true functional n-alkane degraders have rare abundance in the microbial community and their change is barely distinguished by a normal pyrosequencing approach. In the present study, Oxalobacteraceae and Moraxellaceae were identified as the dominant microbes in the MFC fraction with n-alkane as the sole carbon source, and their alkane monooxygenase-encoding genes had high similarity to those of *alkA*- and *alkR*types (Jurelevicius et al., 2013), respectively. Thus, the significant increase in *alkA*-type genes in CKP and MFCP treatments fitted well with our microbial community analysis, and their enrichment was attributed to the dominance of Moraxellaceae. However, the functional *alkR*-type n-alkane monooxygenase genes (belonging to *Oxalobacteraceae*) were only enriched in the MFC fraction, but not the CKP treatment. Results suggested that direct pyrosequencing and qPCR of alkane monooxygenase genes might be misleading us to conclude that only microbes with *alkA*-type genes are key n-alkane degraders *in situ*. Our separation provided more details on the alkane oxidation functional gene dynamics and the MFCs fractions had a higher resolution of quantifying both *alkA*- and *alkR*-type genes due to the enrichment of functional microbes. The unexpected high abundance of *alkR*-type, particularly in MFCP 40 treatment, was not consistent with the relative abundance of Oxalobacteraceae. Phylogenetically widespread and genetic mobility of the alkB gene is supported by previous studies (van Beilen et al., 2001, Giebler et al., 2013). Here, we make a similar hypothesis that horizontal gene transfer occurred and that the alkR-type n-alkane monooxygenase genes were widespread within the soil community.

6.3.5 Phenotype analysis of isolated n-alkane degradation microbes

The sequence-based approach only identifies genetic information of n-alkane degraders, with lack of phenotypic evidence to directly link microbial functions to their identity or solutions providing more information on practical implementation of n-alkane biodegradation. In contrast to direct pyrosequencing of microbial community structure in the soils, our MMI technique has an attractive advantage in that separated functional nalkane degraders are still alive and suitable for further ecophysiological analysis. Both BIOLOG high-throughput phenotypic PM01 (carbon sources) and PM03 (nitrogen sources) plates were employed in this study to characterize the phenotypes of separated functional n-alkane degraders and identify key nitrogen sources that might encourage n-alkane biodegradation performance.

MFCs from MNPN and MNPP treatments showed different phenotypic patterns for carbon or nitrogen metabolism (Figure 6.5).



187



L-Fucose D-Glucuronic acid D-Gluconic acid DL-a-Glycerol Phosphate D-Glucose-6-Phosphate D-Galactonic acid-g-Lactone DL-Malic acid a-Methyl-D-Galactoside a-D-Lactose D-Giucose-1-Phosphate D-Fructose-6-Phosphate Tween 80 a-Hydroxyglutaric acid-g-Lactone Acetoacetic acid N-Acetyl-D-Mannosamine Mono-Methylsuccinate Methylpyruvate D-Malic acid p-Hydroxyphenyl Acetic acid m-Hydroxyphenyl Acetic acid





Figure 6. 5 Phenotypic microarray profiling of magnetic free cells (MFCs). Respiration level of the PM01 (carbon sources) plates for MFCs in MNPN (A) and MNPP (B) treatments. espiration level and n-alkane degradation rate of the PM03 (nitrogen sources) plates for MFCs in MNPN (C) and MNPP (D) treatments with n-alkane mixtures as the sole carbon source.

Here, the y-axis represents the 95 carbon or nitrogen sources and the x-axis represents the cultivation time (hours). Shading colour changes from light dark to purple, responsive to the respiration level from 0.0 to 3.5 (PM01 plate) and 0.0 to 1.5 (PM03 plate).

The results of carbon metabolism provided evidence that microbes separated via the MMI technique from MNPN and MNPP treatments were not identical, and this was explained by the addition of n-alkane in MNPP treatments and the enrichment of n-alkane degraders in the MFC fraction. The MFCs from MNPN treatments could effectively utilize 32 carbon sources (Figure 6.5A), 21 of which were able to be utilized by MFCs from MNPP treatment as well (Figure 6.5B). In addition to fumaric acid and mucic acid, MFCs from MNPP treatment gave a stronger metabolism performance on Tween 20, Tween 40 and Tween 80. The three carbon sources have a similar structure of polyoxyethylene sorbitan, but consist of different hydrophobes of laurate (Tween 20), palmitate (Tween 40) and oleate (Tween 80). It was therefore stronly hypothetical that the separated functional n-alkane degraders could possess active lipases and their activities will be further investigated in our future work.

To examine the effects of various nitrogen sources on the n-alkane degradation rate, the sterile soil extraction solution with 500 mg/L n-alkane was used in the PM03 plate for the MFCs from MNPN and MNPP treatments. Figure 6.5C and 6.5D illustrated their different microbial respiration profiles. It was evident that only three nitrogen sources could promote microbial respiration in MFCN, i.e. b-phenylethylamine, tyramine and n-acetyl-D-glucosamine, whereas their n-alkane degradation rate was less than 5%. Without n-alkane addition, the separated MFCN had minimal bacterial cell numbers from qPCR results, and they were not responsible for n-alkane degradation. Microbial respiration might result from the metabolism of residual soil carbon sources or cell debris, instead of utilizing n-alkanes. For the MFCP, the seven nitrogen sources improved respiration levels included L-

phenylalanine, D-serine, b-phenylethylamine, tyramine, glucuronamide, DL-lactamide and n-acetyl-D-glucosamine. With these nitrogen sources, the n-alkane degradation rates were all above 10%. Accordingly, there were ten nitrogen sources that promoting n-alkane degradation with the degradation rate over 20% within 48 h, including L-glutamine, L-histidine, L-phenylalanine, L-proline, D-aspartic acid, tyramine, glucuronamide, n-Acetyl-D-glucosamine, thymine and xanthine. In particularly, the highest n-alkane degradation rate was achieved with the addition of tyramine (43.6%), L-glutamine (42.2%) and D-aspartic acid (38.2%). Based on increasing microbial respiration and the n-alkane degradation rate, tyramine was suggested to be the best promoting nitrogen source to encourage *in situ* n-alkane biodegradation.

Further correlation analysis between microbial respiration and the n-alkane degradation rate helped further our understanding of the roles of nitrogen sources in the n-alkane metabolism of functional alkane degraders. The Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.781 (*p*-value<0.001) between microbial respiration and n-alkane degradation rates in MFCs from MNPP treatment (red circle in Figure 6.6).



· MFCs in MNPP treatment · MFCs in MNPN treatment

Figure 6. 6 Correlation analysis of microbial respiration level and n-alkane degradation rate in phenotypic microarray. Red and white circles represent the data of MFCs in MNPP and MNPN treatment respectively.

Results showed that separated living microorganisms in MFCs after n-alkane addition were indeed functional n-alkane degraders in situ. There was only weak relationship (Pearson correlation coefficient = 0.335, *p*-value<0.001) between the n-alkane degradation rate and the microbial respiration level in MFCs from MNPN treatment (white circle in Figure 6.6) indicating that they were not predominantly alkane degraders.

Numerous previous researches has attempted to improve alkane biodegradation by adding exogenous degrading strains, and some of them have achieved good alkane degradation performances in liquid culture (Byers, 2002) and in situ. However, additive exogenous strains might compete with indigenous microbes or be affected by soil properties, resulting in the fact that the performance of bioaugumentation or biostimulation is not always satisfied in the complex soil matrix. The risk of species invasion also requires attention due to micohabitat alterations in the soil environment. Meanwhile, the amendment of growthpromoting substrates for stimulating indigenous alkane degraders mainly addresses simple inorganic/organic nitrogen sources, such as NH₄NO₃, NaNO₃, (NH₄)₂SO4, Urea (Chaineau et al., 2005) yeast extract (Saina et al., 2015) and lipophilic fertilizers. In the present study, it was interesting to note that these commonly used nitrogen sources, like nitrate (A4) and Urea (A5) in the PM03 plate could encourage microbial respiration or the n-alkane degradation rate, indicating that traditional nutrient additives in bioremediation process cannot effectively accelerate n-alkane degradation. A high-throughput nutrient screening method is therefore recommended for improving bioremediation performance at alkane and crude -oil- contaminated sites, relying on the effective separation of functional n-alkane degraders and phenotypic characterization.

In conclusion, we developed a modified magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) method in this study. For the first time, this work successfully revealed both genetic information and phonotypic behavior of functional n-alkane degraders in soil microcosms. The consistency of phylotypes and n-alkane monooxygenase genes proved that the separated *Oxalobacteraceae* and *Moraxellaceae* were the true functional n-alkane degraders in situ at different metabolism steps. From the physiological study of the functional n-alkane degraders via BIOLOG PM plate, we suggest tyramine as being the

promoting nitrogen source to stimulate indigenous n-alkane degraders and accelerate the bioremediation process. This novel technique opens a new pathway to characterizing the mechanisms of n-alkane attenuation and influencing factors in the biodegradation process, with great potential in crude oil bioremediation enhancement and organic contaminated site management.

Conflict of interest

The authors have declared no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgment

The authors are grateful for financial support from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (41301331), the Department of Petroleum Resources (DPR, Nigeria), the Petroleum Technology Development Fund (PTDF, Nigeria) and a Lancaster University FST research grant. Annoroad Gene Technology Co. Ltd (Beijing, China) helped in 16S rRNA sequence and data analysis.

Reference

- AISLABIE, J. M., BALKS, M. R., FOGHT, J. M. & WATERHOUSE, E. J. 2004. Hydrocarbon spills on Antarctic soils: Effects and management. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 38, 1265-1274.
- AL-SALEH, E. & AKBAR, A. 2015. Occurrence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in Kuwait soil. *Chemosphere*, 120, 100-107.
- ALONSO-GUTIERREZ, J., FIGUERAS, A., ALBAIGES, J., JIMENEZ, N., VINAS, M., SOLANAS, A. M. & NOVOA, B. 2009. Bacterial Communities from Shoreline Environments (Costa da Morte, Northwestern Spain) Affected by the Prestige Oil Spill. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 75, 3407-3418.
- AMOURIC, A., QUEMENEUR, M., GROSSI, V., LIEBGOTT, P. P., AURIA, R. & CASALOT, L. 2010. Identification of different alkane hydroxylase systems in Rhodococcus ruber strain SP2B, an hexane-degrading actinomycete. *Journal of applied microbiology*, 108, 1903-1916.
- ANDREONI, V., BERNASCONI, S., COLOMBO, M., VAN BEILEN, J. B. & CAVALCA, L. 2000. Detection of genes for alkane and naphthalene catabolism in *Rhodococcus sp* strain 1BN. *Environmental Microbiology*, 2, 572-577.
- BAJPAI, U., KUHAD, R. C. & KHANNA, S. 1998. Mineralization of (14)C octadecane by *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* S19. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 44, 681-686.
- BECKER, P. M. & DOTT, W. 1995. Functional-analysis of communities of aerobic heterotrophic bacteria from hydrocarbon-contaminated sites. *Microbial Ecology*, 30, 285-296.
- BENCE, A. E., KVENVOLDEN, K. A. & KENNICUTT, M. C. 1996. Organic geochemistry applied to environmental assessments of Prince William Sound, Alaska, after the Exxon Valdez oil spill - A review. Organic Geochemistry, 24, 7-42.
- BERTHE-CORTI, L. & FETZNER, S. 2002. Bacterial metabolism of n-alkanes and ammonia under oxic, suboxic and anoxic conditions. *Acta Biotechnologica*, 22, 299-336.

- BONIN, P., CRAVO-LAUREAU, C., MICHOTEY, V. & HIRSCHLER-REA, A. 2004. The anaerobic hydrocarbon biodegrading bacteria: An overview. *Ophelia*, 58, 243-254.
- BRAGG, J. R., PRINCE, R. C., HARNER, E. J. & ATLAS, R. M. 1994. Effectiveness of bioremediation fro the Exxon-Valdez oil-spill. *Nature*, 368, 413-418.
- BYERS, J. E. 2002. Impact of non-indigenous species on natives enhanced by anthropogenic alteration of selection regimes. *Oikos*, 97, 449-458.
- CALDWELL, M. E., GARRETT, R. M., PRINCE, R. C. & SUFLITA, J. M. 1998. Anaerobic biodegradation of long-chain n-alkanes under sulfate-reducing conditions. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 32, 2191-2195.
- CAMILLI, R., REDDY, C. M., YOERGER, D. R., VAN MOOY, B. A. S., JAKUBA, M. V., KINSEY, J. C., MCINTYRE, C. P., SYLVA, S. P. & MALONEY, J. V. 2010. Tracking Hydrocarbon Plume Transport and Biodegradation at Deepwater Horizon. *Science*, 330, 201-204.
- CHAERUN, S. K., TAZAKI, K., ASADA, R. & KOGURE, K. 2004. Bioremediation of coastal areas 5 years after the Nakhodka oil spill in the Sea of Japan: isolation and characterization of hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria. *Environment International*, 30, 911-922.
- CHAINEAU, C. H., ROUGEUX, G., YEPREMIAN, C. & OUDOT, J. 2005. Effects of nutrient concentration on the biodegradation of crude oil and associated microbial populations in the soil. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 37, 1490-1497.
- CHEN, Y. & MURRELL, J. C. 2010. When metagenomics meets stable-isotope probing: progress and perspectives. *Trends in Microbiology*, 18, 157-163.
- CHEUNG, P. Y. & KINKLE, B. K. 2001. Mycobacterium diversity and pyrene mineralization in petroleum-contaminated soils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67, 2222-2229.
- CHURCHILL, S. A., HARPER, J. P. & CHURCHILL, P. F. 1999. Isolation and characterization of a *Mycobacterium* species capable of degrading three- and four-ring aromatic and aliphatic hydrocarbons. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65, 549-552.

- CRAVO-LAUREAU, C., GROSSI, V., RAPHEL, D., MATHERON, R. & HIRSCHLER-REA, A. 2005. Anaerobic n-alkane metabolism by a sulfate-reducing bacterium, *Desulfatibacillum aliphaticivorans* strain CV2803. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71, 3458-3467.
- CRAVO-LAUREAU, C., MATHERON, R., CAYOL, J. L., JOULIAN, C. & HIRSCHLER-REA, A. 2004. Desulfatibacillum aliphaticivorans gen. nov., sp nov., an n-alkane- and n-alkene-degrading, sulfate-reducing bacterium. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 54, 77-83.
- DICELLO, F., PEPI, M., BALDI, F. & FANI, R. 1997. Molecular characterization of an nalkane-degrading bacterial community and identification of a new species, *Acinetobacter venetianus. Research in Microbiology*, 148, 237-249.
- DOUMENQ, P., ARIES, E., ASIA, L., ACQUAVIVA, M., ARTAUD, J., GILEWICZ, M., MILLE, G. & BERTRAND, J. C. 2001. Influence of n-alkanes and petroleum on fatty acid composition of a hydrocarbonoclastic bacterium: *Marinobacter hydrocarbonoclasticus* strain 617. *Chemosphere*, 44, 519-528.
- ENGELHARDT, M. A., DALY, K., SWANNELL, R. P. J. & HEAD, I. M. 2001. Isolation and characterization of a novel hydrocarbon-degrading, Gram-positive bacterium, isolated from intertidal beach sediment, and description of *Planococcus alkanoclasticus sp* nov. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 90, 237-247.
- FENG, L., WANG, W., CHENG, J., REN, Y., ZHAO, G., GAO, C., TANG, Y., LIU, X., HAN, W., PENG, X., LIU, R. & WANG, L. 2007. Genome and proteome of longchain alkane degrading *Geobacillus thermodenitrificans* NG80-2 isolated from a deep-subsurface oil reservoir. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104, 5602-5607.
- FONDI, M., RIZZI, E., EMILIANI, G., ORLANDINI, V., BERNA, L., PAPLEO, M. C., PERRIN, E., MAIDA, I., CORTI, G., DE BELLIS, G., BALDI, F., DIJKSHOORN, L., VANEECHOUTTE, M. & FANI, R. 2013. The genome sequence of the hydrocarbon-degrading *Acinetobacter venetianus* VE-C3. *Research in Microbiology*, 164, 439-449.

- FRYIRS, K. A., HAFSTEINSDÓTTIR, E. G., STARK, S. C. & GORE, D. B. 2014. Metal and petroleum hydrocarbon contamination at Wilkes Station, East Antarctica. *Antarctic Science*, 27, 118-133.
- GIEBLER, J., WICK, L. Y., CHATZINOTAS, A. & HARMS, H. 2013. Alkane-degrading bacteria at the soil-litter interface: comparing isolates with T-RFLP-based community profiles. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 86, 45-58.
- HAMAMURA, N., FUKUI, M., WARD, D. M. & INSKEEP, W. P. 2008. Assessing Soil Microbial Populations Responding to Crude-Oil Amendment at Different Temperatures Using Phylogenetic, Functional Gene (alkB) and Physiological Analyses. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42, 7580-7586.
- HARA, A., SYUTSUBO, K. & HARAYAMA, S. 2003. Alcanivorax which prevails in oilcontaminated seawater exhibits broad substrate specificity for alkane degradation. *Environmental Microbiology*, 5, 746-753.
- HASINGER, M., SCHERR, K. E., LUNDAA, T., BRAEUER, L., ZACH, C. & LOIBNER,
 A. P. 2012. Changes in iso- and n-alkane distribution during biodegradation of crude oil under nitrate and sulphate reducing conditions. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 157, 490-498.
- HEISS-BLANQUET, S., BENOIT, Y., MARECHAUX, C. & MONOT, F. 2005. Assessing the role of alkane hydroxylase genotypes in environmental samples by competitive PCR. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 99, 1392-1403.
- HERLEMANN, D. P. R., LABRENZ, M., JUERGENS, K., BERTILSSON, S., WANIEK, J. J. & ANDERSSON, A. F. 2011. Transitions in bacterial communities along the 2000 km salinity gradient of the Baltic Sea. *ISME Journal*, 5, 1571-1579.
- HUESO, S., GARCÍA, C. & HERNÁNDEZ, T. 2012. Severe drought conditions modify the microbial community structure, size and activity in amended and unamended soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 50, 167-173.
- JACKSON, W. A. & PARDUE, J. H. 1999. Potential for enhancement of biodegradation of crude oil in Louisiana salt marshes using nutrient amendments. *Water Air and Soil Pollution*, 109, 343-355.
- JOBSON, A., WESTLAKE, D. W. & COOK, F. D. 1972. Microbial utilization of crude-oil. *Applied Microbiology*, 23, 1082-&.
- JUCK, D., CHARLES, T., WHYTE, L. G. & GREER, C. W. 2000. Polyphasic microbial community analysis of petroleum hydrocarbon-contaminated soils from two northern Canadian communities. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 33, 241-249.
- JURELEVICIUS, D., ALVAREZ, V. M., PEIXOTO, R., ROSADO, A. S. & SELDIN, L. 2013. The use of a combination of *alkB* primers to better characterize the distribution of alkane-degrading bacteria. *PloS one*, 8.
- KAEBERLEIN, T., LEWIS, K. & EPSTEIN, S. S. 2002. Isolating "uncultivable" microorganisms in pure culture in a simulated natural environment. *Science*, 296, 1127-1129.
- KASAI, Y., KISHIRA, H., SASAKI, T., SYUTSUBO, K., WATANABE, K. & HARAYAMA, S. 2002. Predominant growth of *Alcanivorax* strains in oilcontaminated and nutrient-supplemented sea water. *Environmental Microbiology*, 4, 141-147.
- KATO, T., HARUKI, M., IMANAKA, T., MORIKAWA, M. & KANAYA, S. 2001. Isolation and characterization of long-chain-alkane degrading Bacillus thermoleovorans from deep subterranean petroleum reservoirs. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 91, 64-70.
- KENNEDY, R. S., FINNERTY, W. R., SUDARSANAN, K. & YOUNG, R. A. 1975. Microbial assimilation of hydrocarbons. 1. Fine-structure of a hydrocarbon oxidizing Acinetobacet sp. Archives of Microbiology, 102, 75-83.
- KOCH, A. K., KAPPELI, O., FIECHTER, A. & REISER, J. 1991. Hydrocarbon assimilatin and biofurfactant production in *Psuedomonas-Aeruginosa* mutants. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 173, 4212-4219.
- KOTANI, T., YAMAMOTO, T., YURIMOTO, H., SAKAI, Y. & KATO, N. 2003. Propane monooxygenase and NAD(+)-dependent secondary alcohol dehydrogenase in propane metabolism by *Gordonia sp* strain TY-5. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 185, 7120-7128.

- KUHN, E., BELLICANTA, G. S. & PELLIZARI, V. H. 2009. New alk genes detected in Antarctic marine sediments. *Environmental Microbiology*, 11, 669-673.
- KUNIHIRO, N., HARUKI, M., TAKANO, K., MORIKAWA, M. & KANAYA, S. 2005. Isolation and characterization of *Rhodococcus sp* strains TNP2 and T12 that degrade 2,6,10,14-tetramethylpentadecane (pristane) at moderately low temperatures. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 115, 129-136.
- LAL, B. & KHANNA, S. 1996. Degradation of crude oil by *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* and *Alcaligenes odorans*. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*, 81, 355-362.
- LIANG, Y. T., VAN NOSTRAND, J. D., DENG, Y., HE, Z. L., WU, L. Y., ZHANG, X., LI, G. H. & ZHOU, J. Z. 2011. Functional gene diversity of soil microbial communities from five oil-contaminated fields in China. *Isme Journal*, 5, 403-413.
- LIANG, Y. T., ZHANG, X., ZHOU, J. Z. & LI, G. H. 2015. Long-term oil contamination increases deterministic assembly processes in soil microbes. *Ecological Applications*, 25, 1235-1243.
- LIN, Z., XU, Y., ZHEN, Z., FU, Y., LIU, Y., LI, W., LUO, C., DING, A. & ZHANG, D. 2015. Application and reactivation of magnetic nanoparticles in *Microcystis aeruginosa* harvesting. *Bioresource Technology*, 190, 82-88.
- LIN, Z., ZHEN, Z., WU, Z., YANG, J., ZHONG, L., HU, H., LUO, C., BAI, J., LI, Y. & ZHANG, D. 2016. The impact on the soil microbial community and enzyme activity of two earthworm species during the bioremediation of pentachlorophenolcontaminated soils. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 301, 35-45.
- LINDSTROM, J. E., BARRY, R. P. & BRADDOCK, J. F. 1999. Long-term effects on microbial communities after a subarctic oil spill. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 31, 1677-1689.
- MAILA, M. P., RANDIMA, P., DRONEN, K. & CLOETE, T. E. 2006. Soil microbial communities: Influence of geographic location and hydrocarbon pollutants. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 38, 303-310.
- MARCHANT, R., SHARKEY, F. H., BANAT, I. M., RAHMAN, T. J. & PERFUMO, A. 2006. The degradation of n-hexadecane in soil by thermophilic geobacilli. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 56, 44-54.

- MATTES, T. E., ALEXANDER, A. K., RICHARDSON, P. M., MUNK, A. C., HAN, C. S., STOTHARD, P. & COLEMAN, N. V. 2008. The genome of Polaromonas sp strain JS666: Insights into the evolution of a hydrocarbon- and xenobiotic-degrading bacterium, and features of relevance to biotechnology. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74, 6405-6416.
- MUYZER, G., DEWAAL, E. C. & UITTERLINDEN, A. G. 1993. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59, 695-700.
- NAIK, P. R. & SAKTHIVEL, N. 2006. Functional characterization of a novel hydrocarbonoclastic *Pseudomonas sp* strain PUP6 with plant-growth-prornoting traits and antifungal potential. *Research in Microbiology*, 157, 538-546.
- PARRISH, Z. D., BANKS, M. K. & SCHWAB, A. P. 2005. Effect of root death and decay on dissipation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the rhizosphere of yellow sweet clover and tall fescue. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34, 207-216.
- PETERSON, C. H., RICE, S. D., SHORT, J. W., ESLER, D., BODKIN, J. L., BALLACHEY, B. E. & IRONS, D. B. 2003. Long-term ecosystem response to the Exxon Valdez oil spill. *Science*, 302, 2082-2086.
- PIATT, J. F., LENSINK, C. J., BUTLER, W., KENDZIOREK, M. & NYSEWANDER, D. R. 1990. Immediate impact of the Exxon Valdez oil-spill on marine birds. *Auk*, 107, 387-397.
- PLESHAKOVA, E. V., MURATOVA, A. Y. & TURKOVSKAYA, O. V. 2001. Degradation of mineral oil with a strain of *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus*. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology*, 37, 342-347.
- POWELL, S. M., BOWMAN, J. P., SNAPE, I. & STARK, J. S. 2003. Microbial community variation in pristine and polluted nearshore Antarctic sediments. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 45, 135-145.
- RADAJEWSKI, S., INESON, P., PAREKH, N. R. & MURRELL, J. C. 2000. Stableisotope probing as a tool in microbial ecology. *Nature*, 403, 646-649.

- RADWAN, S. S., SORKHOH, N. A., FELZMANN, H. & ELDESOUKY, A. F. 1996. Uptake and utilization of n-octacosane and n-nonacosane by Arthrobacter nicotianae KCC B35. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*, 80, 370-374.
- RAZAK, C. N. A., WANG, W. F., RAHMAN, S., BASRI, M. & SALLEH, A. B. 1999. Isolation of the crude oil degrading marine *Acinetobacter sp* E11. *Acta Biotechnologica*, 19, 213-223.
- SABIROVA, J. S., FERRER, M., REGENHARDT, D., TIMMIS, K. N. & GOLYSHIN, P. N. 2006. Proteomic insights into metabolic adaptations in Alcanivorax borkumensis induced by alkane utilization. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188, 3763-3773.
- SAJNA, K. V., SUKUMARAN, R. K., GOTTUMUKKALA, L. D. & PANDEY, A. 2015. Crude oil biodegradation aided by biosurfactants from Pseudozyma sp NII 08165 or its culture broth. *Bioresource Technology*, 191, 133-139.
- SCHNEIKER, S., DOS SANTOS, V. A. P. M., BARTELS, D., BEKEL, T., BRECHT, M., BUHRMESTER, J., CHERNIKOVA, T. N., DENARO, R., FERRER, M., GERTLER, C., GOESMANN, A., GOLYSHINA, O. V., KAMINSKI, F., KHACHANE, A. N., LANG, S., LINKE, B., MCHARDY, A. C., MEYER, F., NECHITAYLO, T., PUEHLER, A., REGENHARDT, D., RUPP, O., SABIROVA, J. S., SELBITSCHKA, W., YAKIMOV, M. M., TIMMIS, K. N., VORHOELTER, F.-J., WEIDNER, S., KAISER, O. & GOLYSHIN, P. N. 2006. Genome sequence of the ubiquitous hydrocarbon-degrading marine bacterium Alcanivorax borkumensis. *Nature Biotechnology*, 24, 997-1004.
- SMITH, C. B., TOLAR, B. B., HOLLIBAUGH, J. T. & KING, G. M. 2013. Alkane hydroxylase gene (alkB) phylotype composition and diversity in northern Gulf of Mexico bacterioplankton. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 4.
- SMITS, T. H. M., BALADA, S. B., WITHOLT, B. & VAN BEILEN, J. B. 2002. Functional analysis of alkane hydroxylases from gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 184, 1733-1742.
- SMITS, T. H. M., ROTHLISBERGER, M., WITHOLT, B. & VAN BEILEN, J. B. 1999. Molecular screening for alkane hydroxylase genes in Gram-negative and Grampositive strains. *Environmental Microbiology*, 1, 307-317.

- SONG, M., LUO, C., JIANG, L., ZHANG, D., WANG, Y. & ZHANG, G. 2015. Identification of Benzo a pyrene-Metabolizing Bacteria in Forest Soils by Using DNA-Based Stable-Isotope Probing. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 81, 7368-7376.
- SORKHOH, N. A., GHANNOUM, M. A., IBRAHIM, A. S., STRETTON, R. J. & RADWAN, S. S. 1990. Crude oil and hydrocarbon-degrading strains of *Rhodococcus rhodochrous* isolated from soil and marine environments in Kuwait. *Environmental Pollution*, 65, 1-17.
- TANAKA, D., TAKASHIMA, M., MIZUTA, A., TANAKA, S., SAKATOKU, A., NISHIKAWA, A., OSAWA, T., NOGUCHI, M., AIZAWA, S. I. & NAKAMURA, S. 2010. *Acinetobacter sp* Ud-4 Efficiently Degrades Both Edible and Mineral Oils: Isolation and Characterization. *Current Microbiology*, 60, 203-209.
- TANG, J., WANG, R., NIU, X. & ZHOU, Q. 2010. Enhancement of soil petroleum remediation by using a combination of ryegrass (Lolium perenne) and different microorganisms. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 110, 87-93.
- TRINGE, S. G., VON MERING, C., KOBAYASHI, A., SALAMOV, A. A., CHEN, K., CHANG, H. W., PODAR, M., SHORT, J. M., MATHUR, E. J., DETTER, J. C., BORK, P., HUGENHOLTZ, P. & RUBIN, E. M. 2005. Comparative metagenomics of microbial communities. *Science*, 308, 554-557.
- UHLIK, O., WALD, J., STREJCEK, M., MUSILOVA, L., RIDL, J., HROUDOVA, M., VLCEK, C., CARDENAS, E., MACKOVA, M. & MACEK, T. 2012. Identification of Bacteria Utilizing Biphenyl, Benzoate, and Naphthalene in Long-Term Contaminated Soil. *PLoS ONE*, 7.
- VAN BEILEN, J. B., PANKE, S., LUCCHINI, S., FRANCHINI, A. G., ROTHLISBERGER, M. & WITHOLT, B. 2001. Analysis of Pseudomonas putida alkane-degradation gene clusters and flanking insertion sequences: evolution and regulation of the alk genes. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 147, 1621-1630.
- VAN BEILEN, J. B., SMITS, T. H. M., WHYTE, L. G., SCHORCHT, S., ROTHLISBERGER, M., PLAGGEMEIER, T., ENGESSER, K. H. & WITHOLT,

B. 2002. Alkane hydroxylase homologues in Gram-positive strains. *Environmental Microbiology*, 4, 676-682.

- VAN BEILEN, J. B., WUBBOLTS, M. G. & WITHOLT, B. 1994. Genetics of alkane oxidation by *Pseudomonas oleovorans*. *Biodegradation*, 5, 161-174.
- VON DER WEID, I., MARQUES, J. M., CUNHA, C. D., LIPPI, R. K., DOS SANTOS, S. C. C., ROSADO, A. S., LINS, U. & SELDIN, L. 2007. Identification and biodegradation potential of a novel strain of *Dietzia cinnamea* isolated from a petroleum-contaminated tropical soil. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 30, 331-339.
- WANG, L., TANG, Y., WANG, S., LIU, R.-L., LIU, M.-Z., ZHANG, Y., LIANG, F.-L. & FENG, L. 2006. Isolation and characterization of a novel thermophilic *Bacillus* strain degrading long-chain n-alkanes. *Extremophiles*, 10, 347-356.
- XU, Y., LI, C., ZHU, X., HUANG, W. E. & ZHANG, D. 2014. Application of magnetic nanoparticles in drinking water purification. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 13, 2023-2029.
- YAKIMOV, M. M., DENARO, R., GENOVESE, M., CAPPELLO, S., D'AURIA, G., CHERNIKOVA, T. N., TIMMIS, K. N., GOLYSHIN, P. N. & GILULIANO, L.
 2005. Natural microbial diversity in superficial sediments of Milazzo Harbor (Sicily) and community successions during microcosm enrichment with various hydrocarbons. *Environmental Microbiology*, 7, 1426-1441.
- YAN, P. 2006. Alkane-degrading functional bacteria, its cultivation method and application. CN1789408, 2006–06–21, CN20041081505 20041217, CHENGDU BIOLOGY RES INST OF TH (CN).
- YANG, S., WEN, X., ZHAO, L., SHI, Y. & JIN, H. 2014. Crude Oil Treatment Leads to Shift of Bacterial Communities in Soils from the Deep Active Layer and Upper Permafrost along the China-Russia Crude Oil Pipeline Route. *PloS one*, 9.
- YUMOTO, I., NAKAMURA, A., IWATA, H., KOJIMA, K., KUSUMOTO, K., NODASAKA, Y. & MATSUYAMA, H. 2002. *Dietzia psychralcaliphila* sp nov., a novel, facultatively psychrophilic alkaliphile that grows on hydrocarbons. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 52, 85-90.

- YUSTE, L., CORBELLA, M. E., TURIEGANO, M. J., KARLSON, U., PUYET, A. & ROJO, F. 2000. Characterization of bacterial strains able to grow on high molecular mass residues from crude oil processing. *Fems Microbiology Ecology*, 32, 69-75.
- ZARILLA, K. A. & PERRY, J. J. 1984. *Thermoleophilum album* gen. nov. and sp. nov., a bacterium obligate for thermophily and normal-alkane substrates. *Archives of Microbiology*, 137, 286-290.
- ZHANG, D., BERRY, J. P., ZHU, D., WANG, Y., CHEN, Y., JIANG, B., HUANG, S., LANGFORD, H., LI, G., DAVISON, P. A., XU, J., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2015. Magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation of functional bacteria in a complex microbial community. *The ISME Journal*, 9, 603-614.
- ZHANG, D., DING, A., CUI, S., HU, C., THORNTON, S. F., DOU, J., SUN, Y. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter application for rapid detection and evaluation of crude oil spill in seawater caused by Dalian oil tank explosion. *Water Research*, 47, 1191-1200.
- ZHANG, D., FAKHRULLIN, R. F., ÖZMEN, M., WANG, H., WANG, J., PAUNOV, V. N., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2011. Functionalization of whole-cell bacterial reporters with magnetic nanoparticles. *Microbial biotechnology*, 4, 89-97.
- ZHANG, D., HE, Y., WANG, Y., WANG, H., WU, L., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2012a. Whole-cell bacterial bioreporter for actively searching and sensing of alkanes and oil spills. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 5, 87-97.
- ZHANG, D., ZHAO, Y., HE, Y., WANG, Y., ZHAO, Y., ZHENG, Y., WEI, X., ZHANG,
 L., LI, Y., JIN, T., WU, L., WANG, H., DAVISON, P. A., XU, J. & HUANG, W.
 E. 2012d. Characterization and modeling of transcriptional cross-regulation in Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1. Acs Synthetic Biology, 1, 274-283.
- ZHANG, H. M., KALLIMANIS, A., KOUKKOU, A. I. & DRAINAS, C. 2004. Isolation and characterization of novel bacteria degrading polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from polluted Greek soils. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 65, 124-131.
- ZHANG, J., KOBERT, K., FLOURI, T. & STAMATAKIS, A. 2014. PEAR: a fast and accurate Illumina Paired-End reAd mergeR. *Bioinformatics*, 30, 614-620.

7 Suggestions and recommendations on crude oil spill and management in Niger Delta

The chapter 7 aims to highlight technical and social suggestions and recommendations for crude oil spill monitoring and management in the Niger Delta.

The specific objectives are:

- To provide to the Nigerian government recommendations on how to improve oil contamination management using advanced techniques and implementation regimes.
- Explore opportunities and collaboration with the Nigerian government to scale-up the outcome of this study for large scale crude contamination monitoring and effective management using bioreporter devices developed and applied in this study for real time and in situ measurement.
- Similarly, the bioremediation of crude oil contaminated sites needs practical engineering work, which should be carried out on the field.

Considering the crucial importance of managing and cleaning waters and soils contaminated by crude oil in the Niger Delta, Nigerian government needs to improve the scheme of policies and regulations and achieve the goals of national sustainable development. The Nigerian petroleum industrial regulations and policies should also institute proper integration of social development strategies to ensure the protection of the social and human rights of inhabitants, or the Niger Delta might remain in a calamitous position. From the findings and discussions in this research, some recommendations are suggested with specific focus on the social, political and technical improvement regarding crude oil spill and contaminated sites.

7.1Social Development Challenges and Improvement Options for the Niger Delta

Threats on human health is becoming more aggravated in the Niger Delta owing to the industrial development, particularly the oil industry. The organic pollutants released into the environment arise mainly from the industrial activities (Mozaffarian and Rimm, 2006). Causing many social development challenges in the Niger Delta and restricting the space for sustainable growth or future development (Chukwuemeka and Aghara, 2010), there is an urgent need for rehabilitation for the complex interlinkages between environmental pollution and social development which will bring about transparency and accountability in Nigerian government agencies responsible to the local communities (Idemudia, 2012). Since Nigerian petroleum industry, which is operational in the Niger Delta with vast network of petroleum resource development paraphernalia, have severely impacted the region and the local economy, the colossal level of oil contamination in the Niger Delta has significantly negative impacts and resulted in an unrelenting increase in poverty levels, deteriorating health, vice and violence in the region. Poverty incidence for example jumped from 13.3 % to 58.2% between 1980 to 1997 (Adeyemo, 2008). Thus, governmental regulations and policies require amendments to accommodate efforts for the increasing public sensitization and awareness regarding the urgent necessity of monitoring and remediating oil contaminated soils and water. The regulatory framework should be efficient, effective, clearly separated roles of government agencies, purpose driven,

transparent, accountable in administration, conducive for business environment and ensure best national and international standards.

7.2 Technical improvement

7.2.1 Crude oil contamination monitoring

Both chemical and biological approaches can be used for monitoring crude oil spill and evaluating its environmental impacts. In the Niger Delta, it is questionable which approach is more suitable, considering lack of stable power supply and operational cost. Meanwhile, crude oil monitoring is also required for the fast decision making to save cost for the operators in drilling activities, which entail an average cost of about \$520,000/day in 2015 for a deep-water well. Such situations ultimately create room for the low-cost, robust and fast monitoring methods, such as whole-cell bioreporter, to be applied as a cost-effective and operational tool for detecting oil spill on site and mitigating cost during industrial and further clean-up activities. Whole-cell bioreporter takes only 4 hours for the quantification of crude oil in environmental samples, and such advantage makes it feasible to be recommended by DPR in monitoring wells and pipeline leaching, for appropriate decision making within several hours without suspending the industrial activities for days to avoid triggering additional costs for the operators (Middleditch, 1984).

Environmental risk management of crude oil spill also involves information on toxicity level, which is directly linked to risks and hazards posed to human health (Farré and Barceló, 2003). Such ecological impacts can be also evaluated by whole-cell bioreporters, which help in decision making for accident rapid response in terms of technical support for policies and regulations. Some genotoxicity bioreporters responds to the environmental toxins through detecting SOS response. By linking contamination to ecological and health impacts, the results of whole-cell bioreporter can influence governmental action for sound legal actions in monitoring, assessment and clean-up of oil spillage, further benefiting the strategies of low-cost bioremediation (Ejenavi et al., 2016).

The importance of policies and governance on crude oil spill monitoring needs to be emphasized by Nigerian government. Besides the advantages mentioned above, favor of the whole-cell bioreporter is also anchored owing to other shining sights as cost-effectiveness, portability, specificity and reproducibility (Ron, 2007). However, compared to chemical analysis, the whole-cell bioreporter is not of the same accuracy (Li et al., 2013), and needs further development to shorten its distance between applications in the laboratory and field. It can serve as a quick supplementary solution to conventional chemical methods for crude oil contamination and ecological assessment in Nigeria. It actually has great potential for development and can be further modified for purposes of encouraging technical support and expediting regulation and policy measures in the Niger Delta.

7.2.2 In situ remediating crude oil contamination

The Nigerian government needs to protect the environment from crude oil spill for benefiting both the present and succeeding generations as a matter of urgency. The report of the World Commission for Environment and Development by the United Nations requires enforcement and implementation measures (Brundtland et al., 1987), the mandate and provision of which will improve crude oil remediation *in situ* and will overcome the current challenges for effective oil field remediation. Only in this way, the debilitating effect on the people in the Niger Delta and the crushing effect on the economy and livelihoods (ranging from basic farming, fishing and hunting) on the oil producing communities which need immediate attention will be ultimately resolved.

The environmental sustainability programme should be a collaborative effort of all the government, public and private stakeholders to prevent further deterioration of the ecosystem. The case study of cleaning-up Ogoni-land, which has been contaminated by crude oil for 30 years (UNEP, 2011), is a good example. Ogoniland inhabitants from at least 10 communities are drinking water from wells contaminated with benzene, a known carcinogen from oil spill, at a level over 900 times above World Health Organization (WHO), as the site is close to the Nigerian national petroleum pipeline (Bassey, 2012, Lindén and Pålsson, 2013). It is estimated the clean-up in Ogoniland will require an investment of over \$ 1 billion (Sam et al., 2016). From several comprehensive reviews on various approaches of bioremediation for cleaning-up crude oil contaminated (Bhatnagar and Kumari, 2013), a sustainable method need to be safe, clean, applicable, cost-effective and environmentally-friendly, as well as with high public acceptance (Amadi and Bari,

1992, Song et al., 1990). Some conventional or chemical methods already applied in the Niger Delta have relatively high cost and potentially negative effects on the environment (JC and Mbogu, 2013, Gerard, 2012, Zamani et al., 2014), and they might even need further remediation process in the enriched crude oil extracts during the evaporation and elution treatment (Nkeng et al., 2012). Our work thus raises an alternative way of enhancing in situ soil bioremediation by encouraging indigenous uncultivated-oil-degraders at crude oil contamination sites via magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation (MMI) method (Wang et al., 2016c). Targeting the uncultivated petroleum hydrocarbon degraders, which hide within the over 99% of unknown microorganisms in the natural environment (Whitman et al., 1998), the results successfully revealed both genetic information and phonotypic behaviour of these key players who have an important role in hydrocarbon degradation in the natural ecosystems habitats. Since species invasion should not be introduced into the Nigeria soils, the new technology will be a great potential in enhancing crude oil bioremediation with ingenious bacteria and the influencing factors during biodegradation process can be uncovered to further improve the degradation performance (Zhang et al., 2011a, Zhang et al., 2015a, Wang et al., 2016c). Our results suggest the feasibility of applying MMI on crude oil contaminated soils and wetlands in the Niger Delta, and recommend a pilot project study for further practical field work to validate the standard strategic operation, which removes the risk of species invasion and minimizes operation cost in comparison with the conventional chemical method for ecological restoration and the management of crude oil contaminated sites.

7.3 Regime Implementation and Solutions to Social Concerns

7.3.1 New PIB framework for effective management

Effective environmental management approaches have become illusory in Nigeria (Ogri, 2001) and need improvement in regime framework (Ingelson and Nwapi, 2014). The Petroleum Industry Bill 2015 (PIB 2015) has strengthened petroleum laws and regulations from its inception since 1956-2006 (Frynas, 2000) and resolved some issues of multiple agencies with duplicated functions in the oil and gas industry (Elenwo and Akankali, 2014). It would also eliminate challenges caused by non-experts lacking in technical know-how administering policies and management regimes in the Nigerian oil industry (Sam et al.,

2016). This will eventually reduce the problems of oil spills management because multiple functions and duplication of functions by the agencies/bodies working against purpose of goals would be eliminated (Ambituuni et al., 2014). The Nigeria Petroleum Regulatory Commission shall subsume all functions of the existing upstream and downstream sectors to maintain the sole roles as the regulatory entity like other oil producing states in the world.

A new PIB is suggested for the regulatory authorities to maximize their functional capacity without duplication in the control and enforcement of environmental regulations on petroleum industry governance and institutional framework (PIB, 2015). First of all, the new PIB needs to organize efficient and effective government institutions with clear and separated roles for the petroleum industry. As mentioned in previous discussions, one of the hiccups of crude oil contamination management is lack of clear-cuts functions and roles of the government institutions which PIB seeks to address. Secondly, the new PIB needs to establish a framework for creating commercially-oriented and profit-driven petroleum entities that ensure value addition and internationalization of the petroleum industry. The framework will be enshrined in the policy of crude oil contamination monitoring. Additionally, the new PIB will also promote transparency and accountability in the administration of petroleum resources in Nigeria. The hallmark of global practices in the petroleum industry is transparency and accountability and the Nigeria industry must not be seen to be different. Finally, a conducive business environment for petroleum industry operations needs to be created by the new PIB, which further seeks to have ONE regulatory Commission called Nigeria Petroleum Regulatory Commission as contained in Part 3,4 (1-5) with various functions of 5(a-k), and 6[1(a-k)] and with a strong emphasis on the adherence to environmental standards which is to ensure adherence to applicable national and international environment and other technical standards by all persons involved in petroleum operations; and also to establish, monitor, regulate and enforce health and safety measures relating to all aspects of petroleum operations with strong penalties for offences committed by the IOCs.

The proposed strategies are multi-participatory to ensure that the governments that superintend the regulatory bodies ensure compliance with regulatory obligations, meet stakeholder expectations and maintain effective cost controls. It must comply with global practices and ensure compliance to HSSE standards, which can been achieved through HSSE management training ((Ming, 2010). The training will help poor environment planning and lack of commitment to existing environmental policies which will embrace a policy framework. Although, many challenges are associated with contaminated site management and water management. The policy framework is therefore necessary for contaminated site management. This entails a policy drive for cleaning the contaminated environment especially in situations where the contaminated environment is classified as either slightly or seriously contaminated (Swartjes et al., 2012).

7.3.2 Investment in Efficient Technological Innovation and Social Concern

A primary recommendation for the improvement of the Nigerian oil industry relates to governmental regulatory and financial investment in efficient and innovative technologies (Grant, 2013) and knowledge acquired to protect the environment and people of the oil producing region. This is a crucial means of achieving a green petroleum industry as more efficient means of oil exploitation with minimal impact or adverse ecological footprint are thus employed. Knowledge exchange mechanisms between the academics and the industries are thus possible and opportunities for technological advancements are made available (Eren et al., 2013). Government's policy when driven by academics or researchers has shown a strong collaboration for effective system performance in area of collaborative research to be funded by both government parties and IOCs, as research expertise helps to assist the industry with essential innovation in the area of environmental protection which at the same time accommodate people oriented approaches. This will eventually result in strategic advantages for the people and overall company (Tahmooresnejad et al., 2011). Knowledge-based mechanisms will increase the technical ability of industry staff (Kim, 1980) and furthermore reduce the recurring problem areas which aggravate spills such as: accidental discharges due to operational errors, dumping, oil theft, transportation of products mode, sabotage by communities claiming for compensation, aging and corrosion of pipelines can be minimized by such collaboration. This will help developing countries like Nigeria to overcome the use of obsolete equipment that is internationally non-standard (Kadafa, 2012b). Poor equipment handling could also be traceable to lack of technical skills, minimal innovation and dearth of modern trends in the Nigerian petroleum industry. Environmental experts should be consulted for training and innovative approaches to environmental protection as the central driver of long-term growth is traceable to technology and innovation to imbibe the EU2020 innovation policy known as "Smart Growth" (Borowik, 2014).

Nigerian petroleum regulations are not quite specific about technological innovations; as a result, the policy implementation of international standards regarding environmental toxicity levels are therefore absent and unenforceable. This impacts negatively on the people and environment. Implicitly the regulators rely on the multinational companies for virtually all forms of technical assistance, and such reliance is indefensible for sustainable development as it promotes undue dependence on external forces for efficient petroleum resource exploitation. This also creates a major monitoring and enforcement challenge as the government officials like the earlier cited NOSDRA lack the technical capacity to quickly detect and respond to spills in accordance with their regulatory mandates and at the same time ensure that multinationals do not operate short of international guidelines and standards. A good approach to environmental toxicity testing is based on the combination or integration of chemical analysis with toxicity bioassay and biosensor (Farré and Barceló, 2003) as in the case of Europe (DIRECTIVE, 2003). Also, the use of microorganism as Pseudomonas cell multiplication inhibition test based on growth inhibition (ISO, 1995., ISO, 1999) which is built on easy manipulation and high level of reproducibility. Another example for water quality is based on algae (Selenistrum capricornutum, Denaliella tertiolacta are indicator species (ISO, 1995., Miller and Greene, 1978) in the US and most commonly toxicity test is based on inhibition of bioluminescence of luminescent bacteria Visbrio fischeri or photobacterium phosphoreum. These problems relating to quick and easy detection of contaminants in land and aquatic spaces can be easily resolved by regulatory and policy adjustments (NOSDRA, 2014). This is because the whole-cell bioreporter is undoubtedly one of the simplest and cost effective technological innovations that would remedy this situation among other techniques. Thus, for an instrument of rapid accident response, the biosensor tools can be used to empower organisations and governments to take prompt action to protect the environment. Social development objectives like poverty eradication, health, human development, respect for and enforcement of human rights, sustainable agriculture, access to potable water and sanitation, shelter, decent jobs, public participation, access to justice, to mention a few, form the crux of the sustainable development debate relating to the Niger-delta, as it serves to eliminate human rights challenges.

7.3.3 Provision of Quality Education, Health Care and Public Awareness

Another paramount recommendation to achieve social development and progress in the Niger-delta as it relates to government is the need to encourage education, health care and public awareness which can be achieved through collaboration of institutions with relevant technologies and novelty. This awareness can reduce crude oil contamination in the Niger Delta regions. A serious awareness campaign can also help to stop the continued rise of oil pipelines vandalization, oil theft and sabotage of the oil facilities which have been evident in recent times. This also includes illegal bunkering activities in the region (Okolo and Etekpe, 2010).

Raising public awareness involves creating a specific messaging campaign about a particular issue, in the case of crude oil contamination prevention and reduction. Awareness can be important part of developing community support for changes in raising social development. It has been shown to change knowledge and attitudes of the implication of oil contamination. Campaign should be focused on tangible issues that are relevant to the lines of community members to understand the adverse impact of crude oil contamination vis-à-vis recuperating the ecosystem.

Message should be clear and simple and awareness campaigns may include events, poster campaigns, websites, documentaries, newspapers articles, radio and television adverts on crude oil contamination. The real solution for solving oil contamination challenges is for government to accelerate the pace of development, that is, an economy with relevant social, economic and physical infrastructure for curtailment of oil contamination areas for business operations industrial growth. Also, innovative and environmental friendly remediation strategies should be adopted or carried out on contaminated soils that have been polluted. Therefore, further strategies medium that can be used to improve crude oil contamination

clean-up includes educational development, prevention and respond based on science and technologies, environmental legislation on prevention and response, stakeholders engagement committee and host community and operators interface on the day to day exploration and production monitoring as it relates to crude oil contamination of the environment. The current technologies that should be used in monitoring crude oil spillages in the Niger Delta should be a tested technologies used elsewhere in the world are the prevention based on safety culture and the best response based on science and engineering which includes the synthetic aperture radar (SAR), Artificial neural networks (ANNs), Visible satellite sensors of improved SAR. These are called Windows-of-opportunity technology which is oil spill response management system and bioremediation technologies which has become an accepted approach to remediating the contaminated sites (Ivshina et al., 2015).

Statistics from NNPC from 2003-2012 shows increase in the number of vandalization against equipment failures and rupture. This therefore called for serious enlightenment or awareness programmes in the Niger Delta communities as a medium or campaign to stop the activities of the vandals or sabotage of the pipelines and also issued warnings regarding the health hazards posed and livelihoods compromised (Subi and Amodu, 2014). The government should organize institutional conferences both local and international using educational and cultural media to salvage the situation. Furthermore, the World Bank 1995 report identified the region to have as its main occupation fishing and farming, with the population depending on the immediate ecosystem for their survival. The Niger Delta States which comprises of Abia, Akwa Ibom, Bayelsa, Cross Rivers, Delta, Edo, Imo, Ondo and Rivers does not have access to health care and social services. The strong neglect of the regions in the area of socio-developmental structures has heightened civil unrests in the region. Nigeria was ranked as 158th out of 177 nations on Human Development Index with over 3.5 million living with HIV and average life expectancy of 45 years. The work or report also placed Nigerian health care as under-resourced with the Niger Delta emerging as the worst hit as most of the ill-health is caused by crude oil contamination and pollution (Anger, 2010). Since the Niger Delta is a malaria endemic region, standard health care facilities could be built by the Nigerian government and multinationals to mitigate the health and environmental hazards. This can boost trust to the communities where the crude oil exploration and production are carried out and undoubtedly, trust must therefore be restored through several means of education, culture-based approaches and corporate social responsibility (CSR).

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) should be encouraged in the Niger Delta by the oil companies for technical development, tackling the challenges of the crude oil contamination monitoring and remediation to secure the ecosystem and sustainable development. CSR is a business model adopted by some oil multinationals with the aim of earning community trust, relationship, stakeholders trust and at the same time to increase long term profits (Ajayi, 2016). It has been used as an initiative by some major oil companies to access the people and the environment in communities of the rich oil region and also to make the companies take effective responsibilities of the environmental and social wellbeing of the local communities. Examples of CSR of oil spill management used by Royal Dutch Shell in the Niger Delta, American and Latin America etc thus reviewed or highlights the importance of risk reduction if the OICs want to do business in a more sustainable and socially accountable way (Spence, 2011). Basically CSR is primarily to focus on the corporate responsibility of the environment which is being viewed as a sociocultural framework, and is defined or referred to as the patterns of human activity which comprise codes of manners, dress, language, religion, rituals and norms of behavior such as law and mortality and systems of beliefs (Helg, 2007). Nevertheless, CSR is a relatively new concept in Nigeria in comparison to the developed countries with CSR foundations as far back as in the 1950s. Therefore, CSR can be used to address the menace following oil activities through education and public awareness which can be built into the overall objectives of the operating companies with the company business strategies, objectives and its social responsibilities (Rwabizambuga, 2008). In Nigeria, the drivers of CSR have been the multinational companies operating in the country with international non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and its practices can also be used to address the environmental and social issues or both. The dimensions of CSR which include: Social, Environment, and Economic aims can be used as linkages to revive the Niger Delta being a diverse ethniccultural region needs this methodological approach. However, since in Nigeria CSR practice is still an ad hoc initiative with developmental links to cultural roots management, new management tactics should be developed to spread it to a large framework either by better communication which may be formal or informal to be able to solve the myriad problems plaguing the environment and its ecosystem. Different bodies and IOCs have implemented CSR to help local communities in the past and it can further be used to improve and help to solve the social challenges in the region by way of interrelationship between the local communities and the oil exploration operated companies. Thus, CSR targets can be channeled into adopting code of conduct policy and strategies that will stop the continuing rise of oil spills via sabotage or other factors of oil accidents and this can be achieved majorly by technical development that should be geared towards research and development funding by the multinationals. These strategies should have a vision for sustainability of the environment and can thus be institutionalized.

Reference

- ADEYEMO, A. M. 2008. Environmental policy failure in Nigeria and the tragedy of underdevelopment of Niger Delta region. *University of Port Harcourt Inaugural Lecture Series*, 37-98.
- AJAYI, S. D. 2016. The Effect of Corporate Social Responsibility on the Performance and Growth of the Oil & Gas Industry in Nigeria a Case Study of Nigeria Lng Limited, Bonny Industrial Complex Bonny Island, Rivers State, Nigeria. by Samuel O. Ajayi & Ovharhe Uduesiri Loveth. *Ajayi & Ovharhe Uduesiri Loveth (March 9, 2016)*.
- AMADI, A. & BARI, Y. U. 1992. Use of poultry manure for amendment of oil-polluted soils in relation to growth of maize (Zea mays L.). *Environment international*, 18, 521-527.
- AMBITUUNI, A., AMEZAGA, J. & EMESEH, E. 2014. Analysis of safety and environmental regulations for downstream petroleum industry operations in Nigeria: Problems and prospects. *Environmental Development*, 9, 43-60.
- ANGER, B. 2010. Poverty eradication, Millennium development goals and sustainable development in Nigeria. *Journal of sustainable development*, 3, 138.
- BASSEY, N. 2012. Leaving the Oil in the Soil: Communities Connecting to Resist Oil Extraction and Climate Change. *Development Dialogue*, 61, 332-339.
- BHATNAGAR, S. & KUMARI, R. 2013. Bioremediation: A Sustainable Tool for Environmental Management-A Review.
- BOROWIK, I. M. 2014. Knowledge Exchange Mechanisms and Innovation Policy in Post-Industrial Regions: Approaches of the Basque Country and the West Midlands. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 5, 37-69.
- BRUNDTLAND, G., KHALID, M., AGNELLI, S., AL-ATHEL, S., CHIDZERO, B., FADIKA, L., HAUFF, V., LANG, I., SHIJUN, M. & DE BOTERO, M. M. 1987. Our common future (\'brundtland report\').
- CHUKWUEMEKA, E. E. & AGHARA, V. 2010. Niger Delta youth restiveness and socioeconomic development of Nigeria. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 5, 400.
- DIRECTIVE, H. A. T. 2003. COUNCIL DIRECTIVE of 21 May 1991 concerning urban waste water treatment. *Regulation (EC)*, 50, 1.

- ELENWO, E. I. & AKANKALI, J. A. 2014. Environmental policies and strategies in Nigeria oil and gas industry: gains, challenges and prospects. *Natural Resources*, 5, 884.
- EREN, E., ASGHARI, M. & RAKHSHANIKIA, M. A. 2013. The Second International Conference on Leadership, Technology and Innovation Management (2012)Technology Transfer in Oil Industry, Significance and Challenges. *Procedia* - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 75, 264-271.
- FARR , M. & BARCEL , D. 2003. Toxicity testing of wastewater and sewage sludge by biosensors, bioassays and chemical analysis. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 22, 299-310.
- FRYNAS, J. G. 2000. *Oil in Nigeria: Conflict and litigation between oil companies and village communities*, LIT Verlag Münster.
- GERARD, N. A. O. 2012. Bioremediation of Petroleum Refinery Oily Sludge in Topical Soil. *Open Acess Scientific Reports*, 1, 1-4.
- GRANT, R. M. 2013. The Development of Knowledge Management in the Oil and Gas Industry/El desarrollo de la Dirección del Conocimiento en la industria del petroleo y gas. Universia Business Review, 92.
- HELG, Å. 2007. Corporate social responsibility from a Nigerian perspective. rapport nr. Organisation.
- IDEMUDIA, U. 2012. The resource curse and the decentralization of oil revenue: the case of Nigeria. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 35, 183-193.
- INGELSON, A. & NWAPI, C. 2014. Environmental impact assessment process for Oil, gas and mining projects in Nigeria: A critical analysis. *Gas and Mining Projects in Nigeria: A Critical Analysis*, 10.
- ISO 1995. Water Quality: Pseudomonas putida growth inhibition test (Pseodomonas cell multiplication inhibition test), ISO 10712, International Standardization Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, .
- ISO 1999. Water Quality :Determination on the inhibitory effect of the water constituents on the growth of activated sludge micro-organism, ISO 15522, International Standardization Organization, Geneva, Switzerland,.

- IVSHINA, I. B., KUYUKINA, M. S., KRIVORUCHKO, A. V., ELKIN, A. A., MAKAROV, S. O., CUNNINGHAM, C. J., PESHKUR, T. A., ATLAS, R. M. & PHILP, J. C. 2015. Oil spill problems and sustainable response strategies through new technologies. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 17, 1201-1219.
- JC, A. & MBOGU, E. 2013. Cost comparison of different methods of bioremediation.
- KADAFA, A. A. 2012. Environmental impacts of oil exploration and exploitation in the Niger Delta of Nigeria. Global Journal of Science Frontier Research Environment & Earth Sciences, 12.
- KIM, L. 1980. Stages of development of industrial technology in a developing country: A model. *Research Policy*, 9, 254-277.
- LI, C., ZHANG, D., SONG, Y., JIANG, B., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter for the estimation of oil contamination. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 12, 1353-1358.
- LIND N, O. & P LSSON, J. 2013. Oil contamination in ogoniland, Niger Delta. *Ambio*, 42, 685-701.
- MIDDLEDITCH, B. S. 1984. Ecological effects of produced water effluents from offshore oil and gas production platforms. *Ocean Management*, 9, 191-316.
- MILLER, W. E. & GREENE, J. C. 1978. *The Selenastrum capricornutum Printz algal assay bottle test: Experimental design, application, and data interpretation protocol*, Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, Corvallis Environmental Research Laboratory.
- MING, L. Year. Study on HSE Management of Our Construction Enterprise. *In:* Advanced Materials Research, 2010. Trans Tech Publ, 733-738.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D. & RIMM, E. B. 2006. Fish intake, contaminants, and human health: evaluating the risks and the benefits. *Jama*, 296, 1885-1899.
- NKENG, G. E., NKWELANG, G., MATHEW, O. & SENWO, Z. W. 2012. Bioremediation of petroleum refinery oily sludge in topical soil. Open Access Scientific Reports, 1, 1-4.
- NOSDRA 2014. The National Oil Spill Detection and Response Agency. https: www.nosdra.gov.ng/. [Accessed 15 May, 2014].

- OGRI, O. R. 2001. A review of the Nigerian petroleum industry and the associated environmental problems. *Environmentalist*, 21, 11-21.
- OKOLO, P. O. & ETEKPE, A. 2010. Oil Pipeline Vandalization and the Socio-Economic Effects in Nigeria's Niger Delta Region. *Available at SSRN 1723169*.
- PIB 2015. Petroleum Industry Governance & Institutional Framework Bill 2015.
- RON, E. Z. 2007. Biosensing environmental pollution. *Current opinion in biotechnology*, 18, 252-256.
- RWABIZAMBUGA, A. 2008. Corporate social responsibility practices in the Nigerian oil sector: the case of Royal Dutch Shell.
- SAM, K., COULON, F. & PRPICH, G. 2016. Working towards an integrated land contamination management framework for Nigeria. *Science of the Total Environment*, 571, 916-925.
- SONG, H.-G., WANG, X. & BARTHA, R. 1990. Bioremediation potential of terrestrial fuel spills. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56, 652-656.
- SPENCE, D. B. 2011. Corporate social responsibility in the oil and gas industry: The importance of reputational risk. *Chi.-Kent L. Rev.*, 86, 59.
- SUBI, J. C. & AMODU, L. O. 2014. Oil Spillage and Environmental Preservation: An Evaluation of SPDC's Community Relations Activities in Ogoni, Nigeria. *Covenant Journal of Communication*, 2.
- SWARTJES, F. A., RUTGERS, M., LIJZEN, J. P. A., JANSSEN, P. J. C. M., OTTE, P. F., WINTERSEN, A., BRAND, E. & POSTHUMA, L. 2012. State of the art of contaminated site management in The Netherlands: Policy framework and risk assessment tools. *Science of The Total Environment*, 427–428, 1-10.
- TAHMOORESNEJAD, L., SALAMI, R. & SHAFIA, M. Year. Selecting the appropriate technology transfer method to reach the technology localization. *In:* Proceedings of the World Congress on Engineering, 2011.
- UNEP 2011. Environmental Assessment of Ogoniland. UNEP Nairobi.
- WANG, X., ZHAO, X., LI, H., JIA, J., LIU, Y., EJENAVI, O., DING, A., SUN, Y. & ZHANG, D. 2016. Separating and characterizing functional alkane degraders from crude-oil-contaminated sites via magnetic nanoparticle-mediated isolation. *Research in Microbiology*.

- WHITMAN, W. B., COLEMAN, D. C. & WIEBE, W. J. 1998. Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95, 6578-6583.
- ZAMANI, M. M., FALLAHPOUR, M., HARVANI, G. Y., AGHMIUNI, S. K., ZAMANI, M., TEHRANI, D. M. & FIRROZABADI, G. S. 2014. Recent Proportionate Treatment Methods for Crude Oil Contamination Evaluation of the Tehran Refinery Site Soil. *Thrita*, 3.
- ZHANG, D., BERRY, J. P., ZHU, D., WANG, Y., CHEN, Y., JIANG, B., HUANG, S., LANGFORD, H., LI, G. & DAVISON, P. A. 2015. Magnetic nanoparticlemediated isolation of functional bacteria in a complex microbial community. *The ISME journal*, 9, 603-614.
- ZHANG, D., FAKHRULLIN, R. F., ÖZMEN, M., WANG, H., WANG, J., PAUNOV, V. N., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2011. Functionalization of whole-cell bacterial reporters with magnetic nanoparticles. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 4, 89-97.

8 Conclusion

This chapter concludes on the finding of the thesis, and addresses the policy implication of the research for improved crude oil contamination management in Nigeria.

The severity of crude oil contamination as a result of oil and gas exploratory activity in the Niger-delta has been the cause for major concern to the inhabitants of the region (Ohimain, 2003). The catastrophic level of oil pollution in the Niger-delta region has also been accountable for the global and local outcry for immediate restorative or rehabilitative measures in favour of the dilapidated Niger-delta environment (Akhakpe, 2012). The scope of oil pollution invariably intersects all areas of the environmental media relating to the: atmosphere, land, water and biodiversity, with accompanying damaging ecological and health impacts on the inhabitants (Romanelli et al., 2015). Thus to achieve the millennium development goals in the area of poverty eradication, food security, stable or sustainable livelihoods, health and the relevant yardsticks for environmental protection and social development in the Niger-delta; immediate policy, regulatory and administrative reforms are required to halt the looming crises in the region (Sachs and McArthur, 2005). Consequently, to prevent all forms of carcinogenic or other cumulative effects from hydrocarbon compounds such as Poly aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) which are major contaminants from oil spills affecting land, aquatic areas, wetlands, fresh water sources as well as biodiversity, terrestrial and aquatic ecosystem pollution, this research proposes the bioremediation approach as an effective means of oil pollution control and rehabilitation in the Niger-delta (Zhang et al., 2015a), (Zhang et al., 2011b).

However such a remarkable and innovative approach to prevent oil pollution damage and to promote ecosystem recovery, environmental protection and green economic growth in Nigeria cannot be possible without proactive government approaches in the area of technological innovations and enforcement of international best standards in the oil industry (Okafor, 2011). There is also a crucial need for regulatory improvements and policy adjustments to ensure precautionary measures for curbing oil pollution and safety measures for preventing the spread of oil spills (Iyalomhc, 1998). This can mostly be achieved via efficient spills detection and emergency response procedures which are possible through the Bioremediation techniques proposed by this research. Unfortunately, the lack of political support and sufficiently protective environmental and legislative safeguards restrict enforcement actions in crude oil monitoring to achieve environmental protection and social development imperatives. The political or governmental input is essential and requires commitment to the improvement of environmentally protective and social development regulations in the Nigerian oil and gas laws. Without these regulatory and legislative reforms there cannot be efficient control or elimination of the factors accountable for these oil spills (Adelana et al., 2011a). These factors as identified in this thesis include oil thefts, accidents, worn or ageing oil industry infrastructure, pipelines rupture, criminal bunkering activities or pipelines vandalism including negligence. Moreover, political, regulatory and legislative measures to ensure the incorporation of technological innovations for optimizing international best practices and standards in the oil industry are also essential precautionary strategies for pollution control in the Niger-delta. This also positively impacts on monitoring, site assessment, prevention and clean-up of oil spills, both in the upstream and crucial downstream areas. Basically, such adoption of biological approaches as identified in this thesis relating to Bioremediation and typified by the bio-sensor and acinetobacter methods expedite the aims of emergency response to spills detection and control to preempt oil pollution damage (Zhang et al., 2013). It also provides realistic data for quality decision making on environmental policies affecting oil contamination or spills reporting as the combination of nanoparticles and bio-reporter considerably improve accuracy and sensitivity for enhanced spills detection (Zhang et al., 2012c). Furthermore, bioremediation identifies the immediate and protracted oil spill impacts as well as the extent of remediation required, which can also be scaled to manageable or optimal levels. It is also recommended as a highly sustainable approach for the monitoring, assessment and remediation of crude oil contaminated areas because it is affordable with very low-cost implications in comparison to the highly damaging potential of hydrocarbon spills on the environment and surrounding populations (Zhang et al., 2015a).

Moreover, the Biological method is preferred to physical and chemical methods to clean up the Niger Delta. It is however submitted that pollution prevention which operates as precautionary actions in favour of environmental protection is better at minimizing or avoiding pollutants creation and wastes. This expedites holistic or beneficial measures in favor of the environment as opposed to post pollution restoration efforts or treatments and clean-ups. Its benefits include:

1. Reduced or pollutants elimination

- 2. Health risks minimization
- 3. Technological Innovation and development has been promoted
- 4. The efficient use of energy, material and resources
- 5. Enforcement costs are reduced and /or minimized
- 6. Limitation of future liability with greater certainty and
- 7. Costly clean up in the future will be avoided

This is the approach that involves governments, communities, stakeholders and industries alike. Similarly, amendments of environmental regulations need to be made by the National Assembly incorporating contributions from environmental experts, Niger Delta Development Commission (NDCC), NOSDRA, and other stakeholders. A critical look at the EU environmental policies that lasted over 30 years with or without prejudice to EGASPIN (Hey, 2005). Environmental policy integration and sustainable development should therefore become key elements for influencing the desired changes in the Niger-delta and optimize a green petroleum industry. Nevertheless, the possibilities or plethora of opportunities afforded by the bio-remediation approach adopted by this research is a step in the right direction for the Niger-delta. The other equally important governmental input in terms of policy and regulations to trigger and promptly implement the aims of environmental protection via biological rehabilitative methods is what is required to maintain a peaceful, socially developed and economically viable Niger-delta.

Reference

- ADELANA, S., ADEOSUN, T., ADESINA, A. & OJUROYE, M. 2011. Environmental pollution and remediation: challenges and management of oil Spillage in the Nigerian coastal areas. *American Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research*, 2, 834-845.
- AKHAKPE, I. 2012. Oil-environmental degradation and human security in the Niger-Delta region of Nigeria: Challenges and possibilities. *European Scientific Journal*, 8.
- HEY, C. 2005. EU Environmental Policies: A short history of the policy strategies. *Chapter*, 3, 18-30.
- IMPERATIVES, S. Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future.
- IYALOMHC, D. O. 1998. Environmental Regulation of the Oil and. University of Alberta.
- OHIMAIN, E. I. Environmental impacts of oil mining activities in the Niger Delta Mangrove Ecosystem. Proceedings of the 8th International Mine Water Association (IMWA) Conference, International Mine Water Association (IMWA), Sandton, 2003. 503-517.
- OKAFOR, O. 2011. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS AND FACTORS AFFECTING THEM IN NIGERIA: CASE STUDY OF GAS FLARING LAWS IN NIGER DELTA.
- ROMANELLI, C., COOPER, D., CAMPBELL-LENDRUM, D., MAIERO, M., KARESH,W., HUNTER, D. & GOLDEN, C. Connecting global priorities: biodiversity andhuman health: a state of knowledge review. 2015. World HealthOrganistion/Secretariat of the UN Convention on Biological Diversity.
- SACHS, J. D. & MCARTHUR, J. W. 2005. The millennium project: a plan for meeting the millennium development goals. *The Lancet*, 365, 347-353.
- ZHANG, D., BERRY, J. P., ZHU, D., WANG, Y., CHEN, Y., JIANG, B., HUANG, S., LANGFORD, H., LI, G. & DAVISON, P. A. 2015. Magnetic nanoparticlemediated isolation of functional bacteria in a complex microbial community. *The ISME journal*, 9, 603-614.
- ZHANG, D., DING, A., CUI, S., HU, C., THORNTON, S. F., DOU, J., SUN, Y. & HUANG, W. E. 2013. Whole cell bioreporter application for rapid detection and

evaluation of crude oil spill in seawater caused by Dalian oil tank explosion. *Water research*, 47, 1191-1200.

- ZHANG, D., FAKHRULLIN, R. F., ÖZMEN, M., WANG, H., WANG, J., PAUNOV, V. N., LI, G. & HUANG, W. E. 2011. Functionalization of whole-cell bacterial reporters with magnetic nanoparticles. *Microbial biotechnology*, 4, 89-97.
- ZHANG, D., HE, Y., WANG, Y., WANG, H., WU, L., ARIES, E. & HUANG, W. E. 2012. Whole-cell bacterial bioreporter for actively searching and sensing of alkanes and oil spills. *Microbial biotechnology*, 5, 87-97.